Council
Tuesday, 22nd February 2022, 6.30 pm
Council Chamber, Town Hall, Chorley and YouTube
Agenda
Apologies
1

Declarations of Any Interests
Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any pecuniary interest
in respect of matters contained in this agenda.
If you have a pecuniary interest you must withdraw from the meeting. Normally
you should leave the room before the business starts to be discussed. You do,
however, have the same right to speak as a member of the public and may
remain in the room to enable you to exercise that right and then leave
immediately. In either case you must not seek to improperly influence a
decision on the matter.

2

Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 25 January 2022 of Council

3

Mayoral Announcements

4

Public Questions

(Pages 5 - 10)

(Pages 11 - 12)

Members of the public who have requested the opportunity to ask question(s)
on any item(s) on the agenda will have three minutes to put their question(s) to
the relevant Councillor. Members of the public will be allowed to ask one short
supplementary question.
To view the procedure for public questions/ speaking click here and scroll to
page 119
5

Re-opening of Astley Hall

(Pages 13 - 20)

To receive and consider the report of the Deputy Chief Executive.
6

Fair Collection Charter

(Pages 21 - 32)

To receive and consider the report of the Director of Customer and Digital.
7

Future development of shared services
To receive and consider the report of the Deputy Chief Executive.

Meeting contact Ruth Rimmington on 01257 515118 or email ruth.rimmington@chorley.gov.uk

(Pages 33 - 60)

8

Recruitment of Chief Executive

(Pages 61 - 64)

To receive and consider the report of the Chief Executive.
9

Revenue Budget 2022/23, Medium Term Financial Strategy and Capital
Programme 2022-2025

(Pages 65 - 84)

To seek approval to recommendations from the Executive contained in the
attached report of the Chief Finance Officer (Introduced by the Executive
Member for Resources) and within the appendices listed below.
Appendix A: Formal Council Tax Resolution including Special
Expenses & Parish Precepts 2022/23

(To Follow)

Appendix B1: Report of the Chief Finance Officer – robustness of the
2022/23 budget and the adequacy of financial reserves Appendix B2:
Risks to the Medium Term Financial Strategy Appendix B3: Financial
Reserves

(Pages 85 102)

Appendix C: Delivering our priorities – Medium Term Financial Strategy
2022/23 to 2024/25

(Pages 103 120)

Appendix D: Cumulative Budget Deficit & Budget Strategy 2021/22 to
2024/25

(Pages 121 122)

Appendix E: Analysis of movement in the 2022/23 Budget from the
position approved by Council in February 2021

(Pages 123 124)

Appendix F1 to F3: Capital Programme 2021/22 to 2024/25, Capital
Financing, Developer Contributions

(Pages 125 132)

Appendix G: Capital Strategy

(Pages 133 148)
(To Follow)

Appendix H: Treasury Strategy 2022/23 To 2024/25
Appendix I: Pay Policy 2022/23
Appendix J: Budget Consultation 2022/23
Appendix K: Assessing the Impact of 2022/23 Budget Proposals

(Pages 149 164)
(Pages 165 172)
(Pages 173 186)

10

Exclusion of the Public and Press
To consider the exclusion of the press and public for the following items of
business on the ground that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt
information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local
Government Act.
By Virtue of Paragraph 3: Information relating to the financial or business
affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information)
Condition:
Information is not exempt if it is required to be registered underThe Companies Act 1985
The Friendly Societies Act 1974
The Friendly Societies Act 1992
The Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978
The Building Societies Act 1986 (recorded in the public file of any building
society, within the meaning of the Act)
The Charities Act 1993
Information is exempt to the extent that, in all the circumstances of the case,
the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information.
Information is not exempt if it relates to proposed development for which the
local planning authority may grant itself planning permission pursuant to
Regulation 3 of the Town & Country Planning General Regulations 1992(a).

11

Bengal Street Project Update - Capital Budget
To receive and consider the report of the Director of Commercial.

12

Any urgent business previously agreed with the Mayor

Gary Hall
Chief Executive
Electronic agendas sent to Members of the Council.

If you need this information in a different format, such as larger print or
translation, please get in touch on 515151 or chorley.gov.uk

(Pages 187 190)

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Page 5

Minutes of

Council

Meeting date

Tuesday, 25 January 2022

Agenda Item 2

Committee
Members present:

Councillor Steve Holgate (Mayor), Councillor Julia Berry
(Deputy
Mayor)
and
Councillors
Steve Holgate,
Julia Berry,
Sarah Ainsworth,
Aaron Beaver,
Martin Boardman,
Alistair Bradley,
Sam Chapman,
Mark Clifford, Alan Cullens, Magda Cullens, John Dalton,
Karen Derbyshire,
Gordon France,
Margaret France,
Peter Gabbott, Danny Gee, Tom Gray, Terry Howarth,
Hasina Khan, Samir Khan, Zara Khan, Adrian Lowe,
Matthew Lynch,
June Molyneaux,
Alistair Morwood,
Beverley Murray, James Nevett, Alan Platt, Debra Platt,
Aidy Riggott,
Jean Sherwood,
Kim Snape,
William Simmance,
Christine Turner,
John Walker,
Jenny Whiffen, Alan Whittaker and Peter Wilson

Committee
Members present
virtually
(non-voting):

Councillor Keith Iddon and Roy Lees

Officers:

Chris Sinnott (Deputy Chief Executive), Asim Khan
(Director of Customer and Digital), Louise Mattinson
(Director of Finance), Chris Moister (Director of
Governance) and Ruth Rimmington (Democratic Services
Team Leader)

Apologies:

Councillor Harold Heaton and Alex Hilton

22.C.1 Minute's silence

The Mayor invited Members to observe a minute’s silence in memory of Terry Brown,
former councillor and Mayor of Chorley in 2008 to 2009 who sadly passed away on 13
January.
22.C.2 Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 16 November 2021 of Council

Decision (unanimous) that the minutes of the Council meeting held on 16
November 2021 be approved as a correct record for signature by the Mayor.
22.C.3 Declarations of Any Interests

There were no declarations of interests received.

Council Tuesday, 25 January 2022

Agenda Page 6

Agenda Item 2

22.C.4 Mayoral Announcements

The Mayor advised that the 007 Casino Royale Charity Ball will be held on 26 March.
There will also be a Chorley In Bloom Gardening Event on 19 March.
The Mayor also congratulated Dave Ryding on winning Great Britain's first Alpine
skiing World Cup by taking first place in the Kitzbuhel Slalom.
22.C.5 Public Questions

There were no public questions for consideration.
22.C.6 Executive Cabinet

Members considered a general report of the meetings of Executive Cabinet held on 11
November and 9 December.
The Leader of the Opposition, Councillor Martin Boardman, queried the deadline for
the submission of the next round of Neighbourhood Area projects and was advised
that the projects need to be selected at each of the forthcoming meetings.
The Executive Leader, Councillor Alistair Bradley proposed and the Deputy Leader,
Councillor Peter Wilson seconded the (unanimous) Decision that the report be
noted.
22.C.7 Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Task and Finish Groups

Members considered a general report of the meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee meeting held on 30 September, the Overview and Scrutiny Performance
Panel meetings held on 28 October and 16 December and 13 January and Task
Group update.
The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Councillor John Walker proposed
and the Councillor Hasina Khan seconded the (unanimous) Decision that the report
be noted.
22.C.8 Governance Committee

Members considered a general report of the meetings of the Governance Committee
held on 24 November and 19 January.
The Chair of the Governance Committee, Councillor Debra Platt proposed and the
Vice-Chair, Councillor Hasina Khan seconded the (unanimous) Decision that the
report be noted.
22.C.9 Committee appointments

The Executive Leader, Councillor Alistair Bradley proposed and the Deputy Leader,
Councillor Peter Wilson seconded the (unanimous) Decision to approve the
following changes to committees and outside bodies:

Council Tuesday, 25 January 2022

Agenda Page 7

Agenda Item 2

Committee appointments

Councillor Mark Clifford to the Governance Committee in place of
Councillor Sarah Ainsworth

Councillor James Nevett as reserve on the Governance Committee in place
of Councillor Mark Clifford

Councillors Sarah Ainsworth and Magda Cullens as second reserve on the
Governance Committee
Outside Body appointment
Councillor Karen Derbyshire as a Help the Homeless trustee.
22.C.10

Land Purchase to extend Yarrow Valley Country Park

The Deputy Leader, Councillor Peter Wilson, presented the report of the Director of
Planning and Development which sought approval to purchase land off Burgh Lane
adjacent to Yarrow Valley Country Park for the purposes of biodiversity net gain and to
increase the land mass of the Country Park.
No additional investment is needed to alter the land at present as it already functions
as part of the Country Park. The existing ranger team and volunteers will continue to
incorporate the land into the maintenance plans for the park. The land includes
ancient woodland designated as Biological Heritage Site, steep valleys, rolling
grassland, pond and a pasture field. It is a mature landscape presenting a mixed
mosaic of habitats that are all advised to be protected.
The Leader of the Opposition, Councillor Martin Boardman, noted his support for the
project but expressed concern that borrowing was proposed to fund it as other options
to achieve carbon neutrality were available. Councillor Wilson noted the Council has a
Climate Change strategy which sets out the actions proposed in this area.
The Deputy Leader of the Opposition, Councillor Debra Platt, queried if an adjoining
parcel of land might be included within the project in the future. It was noted that this
would be considered as an option moving forwards.
The Deputy Leader, Councillor Peter Wilson proposed and the Executive Leader,
Councillor Alistair Bradley seconded the (unanimous) Decision
To establish a budget and to purchase the land off Burgh Lane to encompass it
into Yarrow Valley Country Park for the purpose of tree planting and habitat
protection at a cost of £250,000 funded through borrowing.
22.C.11

Appointment of External Auditor

The Chair of the Governance Committee, Councillor Debra Platt presented the report
of the Director of Governance which set out the options available to the Council for the
appointment of an external auditor for the period 2023/24 to 2027/28. The report had
previously been considered by the Governance Committee.
The Council must appoint an external auditor to audit its accounts and make a
decision whether to opt into the national arrangement for the procurement of external
audit or procure external audit for itself.

Council Tuesday, 25 January 2022

Agenda Page 8

Agenda Item 2

The Chair of the Governance Committee, Councillor Debra Platt proposed and the
Vice-Chair, Councillor Hasina Khan seconded the (unanimous) Decision
1.
To note the recommendation of the Governance Committee.
2.
To approve that Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited be
recommissioned to act as the appointing person for the appointment of an
external auditor for Chorley Council for the five financial years
commencing 1 April 2023.
22.C.12

Greater Lancashire Deal

The Executive Leader, Councillor Alistair Bradley, presented the report of the Chief
Executive which updated Members on work undertaken towards development of
strengthened joint working, a long term strategic plan and a County Deal for the
Lancashire area and seek agreement to progress this work.
The report would be considered by the Full Council of each of the fifteen local
authorities in Lancashire, the county council, two unitary authorities and each of the 12
district councils.
The report set out the general principles and high level priorities of a long term
strategic plan and County Deal. As progress is made, more details about specific
asks would be developed, and there would be opportunities for all of the partner
authorities to contribute to and influence that, including identifying specific schemes
and activities.
Councillor Aidy Riggott noted the significant contribution made by Councillor Bradley
and Gary Hall in getting to this point.
The Executive Leader, Councillor Alistair Bradley proposed and the Deputy Leader,
Councillor Peter Wilson seconded the (unanimous) Decision to
1.
Support the outline "Our New Deal for a Greater Lancashire" at Appendix 1
as the initial draft basis for further discussion and development of a
possible County Deal for the Lancashire area;
2.
Agree the principles of governance as set out in Appendix 2 for any future
deal; an
3.
Agree that the Leader of the Council continues to work with Lancashire
Leaders in line with the principles agreed in recommendations 1 and 2
above, and note that any formal proposals will require approval by Full
Council at the appropriate time.
22.C.13

Questions Asked under Council Procedure Rule 8

No questions were asked under Council Procedure Rule 8.
To consider the Notices of Motion given in accordance with Council
Procedure Rule 10

22.C.14

Councillor Alan Cullens presented a Motion submitted in accordance with Procedure
Rule 10. This was seconded by Councillor Aidy Riggott.
An amendment was proposed by the Deputy Leader, Councillor Peter Wilson, this was
seconded by Councillor Mark Clifford.
Council Tuesday, 25 January 2022

Agenda Page 9

Agenda Item 2

Following debate it was proposed to defer consideration of this item until the next
meeting by the Leader of the Opposition, Councillor Martin Boardman, which was
seconded by the Deputy Leader of the Opposition, Councillor Debra Platt.
Decision (unanimous) To defer consideration of this item until the next meeting.
22.C.15

Exclusion of the Public and Press

The Executive Leader, Councillor Alistair Bradley proposed and the Deputy Leader,
Councillor Peter Wilson seconded the (unanimous) Decision that the press and
public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the
grounds that it involves the disclosure of exempt information as defined by
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of schedule 12A to the Local Government Act.
22.C.16

Wigan Lane Playing Pitch Facility Budget Approval

The Executive Leader, Councillor Alistair Bradley, presented the confidential report of
the Director of Planning and Development.
The purpose of the report was to obtain Member approval of the budget to deliver a
new archery facility and associated infrastructure at Wigan Lane Playing Field in
Chorley.
The Executive Leader, Councillor Alistair Bradley proposed and the Executive Member
for Planning and Development, Councillor Alistair Morwood seconded the (unanimous)
Decision
1.
To approve the outline budget to deliver the project.
2.
To note the management and lease arrangement of the building and land.
22.C.17

Allocation of budget for ICT hardware and software

The Deputy Leader, Councillor Peter Wilson, presented the confidential report of the
Director of Customer and Digital.
The purpose of the report was to seek approval to allocate the necessary capital
funding for the procurement of ICT hardware, software, and professional services.
Members noted that detail of the procurement will be considered by the Executive
Cabinet. The schemes would be added to the capital programme and monitored
through the usual budget monitoring processes.
The Deputy Leader, Councillor Peter Wilson proposed, the Executive Member
(Customer and Streetscene Services), Councillor Adrian Lowe seconded, the
(unanimous) Decision
1.
To establish a capital budget of £1.120million, in respect of the councils
share of ICT spend in a joint procurement between Chorley Council and
South Ribble Council.
2.
To fund capital expenditure through the repurposing of existing budget
and reserves, but to note that further work will be undertaken over the
coming weeks, as we approach the end of the financial year, to consider if
there are any advantages to funding some of the costs of the proposal
through borrowing; if borrowing is deemed to be preferable, then approval
Council Tuesday, 25 January 2022

Agenda Page 10

3.

Agenda Item 2

for a change in the proposed funding mechanism will be presented to
Council.
Agreement in principle to repurpose existing infrastructure and formulae to
distribute cost between the respective councils. This be determined later
under delegated powers by the Executive Member (Resources) at Chorley
Council and Cabinet Member (Finance, Property and Assets) at South
Ribble Council.

Chair

Council Tuesday, 25 January 2022

Date

Agenda Page 11

Agenda Item 4

Public question
1.
I am disappointed to read that “The proposed Cycling Task Group stalled due
to lack of response from Members”. According to ONS data for 2019-20 about 14%
of adults in Chorley cycle at least once per week, with many more cycling less
frequently. I would hope that even if members are not cyclists themselves they would
be keen to represent the interests of this significant portion of Chorley residents.
Given the positive impact on our health, our environment, and on reducing traffic;
and given that Active Travel England will soon be grading authorities on their
performance on active travel, will the Council commit to attempting again to start a
Cycling Task Group.

2.
After the closure of the bingo hall in Chorley Town Centre, I was disappointed
that the Council could see nothing better to do with the site than yet another car
park. Simultaneously, we are losing significant areas of green space across the
borough to new build homes, often in places that are far from amenities and poorly
served by public transport. This strategy of homes that are distant and town centres
full of car parks creates car dependency and induces traffic. Many forward-thinking
towns and cities around the world are moving away from this model of “zoning” and
towards models of 15-minute neighbourhoods, where housing is built within a short
walk or cycle from key amenities like shops, schools, health services and railway
stations, reducing dependence on cars. This brings benefits to health, air quality and
reduces our environmental impact, as well as creating strong neighbourhoods. Will
the Council consider whether town centre sites such as the former bingo hall could
be used for housing, revitalising our town centre and saving our green spaces at the
same time?
Andy Hunter-Rossall

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Page 13

Agenda Item 5

Report of

Meeting

Date

Deputy Chief Executive
(Introduced by Executive
Member for Resources)

Council

Tuesday, 22 February
2022

Re-opening of Astley Hall
Is this report confidential?

No

Is this decision key?

Not applicable

Purpose of the Report
1.

To agree the proposals for re-opening Astley Hall following the extensive renovations.
This includes introducing an admission fee to support the long-term sustainability of
one of our most historic and landmark attractions in the borough.

Recommendations to Council
2.

To introduce an admission fee for entry into Astley Hall as set out in this report.

3.

To agree a concessionary rate for residents.

4.

To note the increased opening hours of the Hall to provide more opportunities for
people to visit.

5.

To approve the other related fees and charges, including weddings, as set out in
Appendix A.

Reasons for recommendations
6.

The introduction of an admission fee is a change to the fees and charges so the
decision is necessary to allow implementation.

Other options considered and rejected
7.

We have considered both not introducing an admission fee and various options for
how we charge residents of the borough.

8.

The option of not introducing an admission fee has been rejected because the
significant investment made in the Hall means this is an opportunity to look at how we
can secure the longer term sustainability of the building, which is one of the council’s
most important assets.

Agenda Page 14

Agenda Item 5

9.

The income generated from the admission fees will offset some of the costs of
operating the Hall, which will include further maintenance work that will be required in
the future.

10.

We are conscious that the Hall was gifted to the people of Chorley so we have looked
at various options for what we would charge residents. The proposal within this paper
is to charge a reduced rate (compared to what non-residents would pay) that would
give residents access for a full year.

11.

We feel that it is important that if we do introduce an admission fee it is payable by all
visitors to ensure consistency in valuing the attraction. It will also reduce some of the
anti social behaviour issues we have experienced in recent times with young people
causing a nuisance in the Hall as they have been able to gain access free of charge.

12.

We will look to add further value for residents by introducing offers throughout the year
and an incentive to visit the museum shop, which opened in December 2020.

Executive summary
13.

Astley Hall has undergone significant renovation works during the pandemic including
the creation of a new museum shop, a transformation to the front of the building with
new windows and removal of the render that exposed the historic brick frontage. There
is also work being done to improve the visitor experience and route within the Hall to
provide an improved visitor experience.

14.

Given the substantial work totalling £1.1 million it is proposed that the Hall reopens to
the public at the end of April with the introduction of an admission fee that helps the
attraction to become more sustainable. The proposals also look to provide more
access to the Hall with longer opening hours.

15.

The proposed admission price is included in the paper with a one-off visitor fee, annual
passes and a reduced rate for residents.

16.

If approved the changes would be implemented with immediate effect enabling staff to
make final preparations ahead of re-opening.

17.

The changes will also result in an enhanced offer for weddings and other bookings
giving us scope to increase the fees for such events too.

Corporate priorities
18.

The report relates to the following corporate priorities:

Involving residents in improving their
local area and equality of access for all

A strong local economy

Clean, safe and healthy communities

An ambitious council that does more to
meet the needs of residents and the local
area

Agenda Page 15

Agenda Item 5

Background to the report
19.

Charging admission fees in museums has changed back and forth over the years in
line with the level and availability of Arts Council and local government grants. In the
current climate many local museums charge an entrance fee while national museums
tend to be free due to subsidy. They rely on funding applications, shop, café and
temporary exhibition fees.

20.

It is proposed that Astley Hall starts to charge admission fees for two major reasons:



To become a more commercial and therefore sustainable asset for Chorley
Council
To better manage the impact of heavy footfall on the property to ensure it
remains a sustainable asset into the future

Other properties in the area and their charges
21.

We have undertaken four local comparisons to highlight the differences in prices at
three historical houses that attract a similar footfall.
Hoghton Tower (Trust)

Adults £9; Children under 16 £6; Children under 5 Free – options given for
additional donations/gift aid.
Rufford Old Hall (National Trust)

Adults £5; Child £2.50; Family £7.50 (one adult and three children). Gift aid
option available
Towneley Hall (Local Government)

Adults £5.50 for an annual pass; Children and students free. Additional car park
charges for all visitors - approximately £5 all day.
Lancaster Castle (Royal Estate)

Adults £8, concessions (over 65s, disabilities, carers and students) £6.50,
Children (under 5s free) £6.50, families (up to four people) £20. School group
tour £4 per head. Daytime group tours £6.50 per head. Adult evening tours £8
per head.

Astley Hall proposal
Local residents
22. The fee would be £5 for an annual pass for adults, £2.50 for children and £15 for a
family (two adults and up to three children). A one-off visit charge would be £2.50 per
adult and £1.50 per child. Under 5s would be free as well as people with disabilities
and carers.

Agenda Page 16

Agenda Item 5

Visitors
23. Adults £5; Concessions £3.75; 6-16 £3; Under 5s Free; Family Day Pass (x2 Adults
and up to 3 children) £10; Adult yearly pass £15; Family yearly pass £25; Coach
Parties 1 free per every ten. People with disabilities and carers are free of charge.
24.

Entry via the use of time credits would be available for both residents and visitors.

25.

A series of incentives and discounts will be worked up as part of the marketing plan to
include participation in national events such as Heritage Open Days which offer free
admission to all.

Projections of admission fees and shop profit
26.

Although Astley receives approximately 60,000 visitors, many are to the other
buildings including the Coach House and Farmhouse. Footfall through the Hall is
probably nearer 40,000 but will reduce with the introduction of fees. If we received
15,000 paying visitors to the Hall per year and based it on a mix of adults and children
we would receive approximately £52,000.

27.

This projection is based on 15,000 visitors and assuming half will be tourists and half
will be residents. A further assumption would be the ratio of adults and children is also
split roughly 50/50.

Ticket type

Cost

Number sold

Income

Resident
(annual)
Adult (visitor)
Concession
(visitor)
Child (visitor)

£5

7,500

£37,500

Total (after
VAT)
£31,250

£5
£3.75

2,000
2,000

£10,000
£7,500

£8,333
£6,250

£3

3,500

£10,500
Total

£8,750
£54,583

28.

Opening hours for the Hall would also be extended to include some weekdays too.
Prior to the pandemic the Hall was only open at weekends (12noon-4pm) with extra
days during the summer holidays. Suggested opening times would be:







29.

Hall closed January and February for essential maintenance, conservation of
artefacts etc. (the Hall is ordinarily closed for these two months)
Opens March to December – Mondays and Tuesdays closed; Wednesdays to
Thursdays 11am until 4pm; Fridays and Saturdays open 1pm to 5pm (to
accommodate morning weddings) Sundays 11am until 4pm.
Based on this scenario, the Hall is open 5 days per week all season, not just in
the holidays, and still accommodates weddings on Fridays and Saturdays but the
casual staffing costs will rise the more hours we are open.
The Hall will have to close during set up for Chorley Flower Show and we need
to consider how we charge visitors during the event.

The shop opened in December 2020 and has been affected by Covid restrictions so
we have no current trend to use to project forward. Going forward, taking into account
stock replenishment, VAT etc. we anticipate a surplus of £10,000 per year.

Agenda Page 17

Agenda Item 5

Impact on Friends of Astley Hall donations
30.

There would be a considerable impact on the Friends donations which go towards the
up keep of the house. However, there is opportunity to refocus and engender
proactivity amongst the Friends towards volunteering and fundraising. And we could
introduce a ‘gift’ option on the admission fees as a donation towards the Friends.

Impact on weddings
31.

With the redecoration and wider improvements to the Hall this gives us an opportunity
to revisit the wedding offering and potential for more income. However, it will need to
be balanced with the opening hours of the Hall as weddings often fall in line with
popular visitor times.

32.

Market research suggests we should increase the fees charged for weddings to
between £2,500-£3,000. Current charges range from £690 - £1,050 inclusive of VAT.
We are proposing to increase these to £1,795 - £2,495. (full detail to follow in
Appendix A).

Educational visits
33. We don’t propose to make any changes to the cost of educational visits. This would
remain at £3-4 per head and be community rather than profit driven.
Projected income for 2022/23
34.

Based on the above, the proposal is that we set a target of £35,000 for income/profit in
year one. This would consist of:

£54,500 in admission fees

£10,000 surplus from the shop

£5,000 from weddings, educational visits and other chargeable events
Total income - £69,500
We anticipate that staffing costs (staff to enable the Hall to be open more days) would
increase by circa £32,000.
Total income after additional staffing costs - £37,500.

Proposals for re-opening the Hall
35.

The re-opening of Astley Hall will coincide with the 100-year anniversary since the Hall
was handed over to the council to look after it for the people of Chorley. Subject to the
remaining refurbishment works going to plan we propose to reopen Astley Hall to
visitors in April or May with the four-day opening celebration that weekend. It will also
see the launch of our renovation exhibition in the Coach House Gallery.

36.

It should be noted that the art gallery in Astley Hall will remain closed when the Hall
reopens as this is currently storing items of our collection, which are displaced while
the cottage roof repairs are undertaken at the rear of the Hall.

Climate change and air quality
37.

The work noted in this report does not impact the climate change and sustainability
targets of the Councils Green Agenda and all environmental considerations are in place.

Agenda Page 18

Agenda Item 5

Equality and diversity
38.

A detailed consultation was undertaken prior to the works to understand what visitors
wanted from the Hall.

39.

A number of improvements are being made to the visitor route that will improve
accessibility in the rooms and a marketing campaign will be undertaken to gain visitors
from more diverse communities.

40.

The admission fees will include concessions and not apply to people with disabilities or
carers allowing free access throughout the year.

Risk
41.

The key risk in this proposal is failing to attract sufficient visitors given the introduction
of an admission fee.

42.

Feedback in the consultation taken prior to the works suggested that visitors would
expect to pay a fee to visit this type of attraction and this is backed up by anecdotal
evidence from visitors to the Hall.

43.

A marketing campaign will be undertaken to ensure sufficient publicity to inform people
of the changes and the changes will be reviewed over the course of the first year.

Comments of the Statutory Finance Officer
44.

The 22/23 budget currently does not reflect the net income from these proposed
charges. Should they be approved the relevant budgets would be amended in the
22/23 financial year.

Comments of the Monitoring Officer
45.

Astley Hall and associated buildings and the Park itself is held by the Council for the
benefit of the residents of the brother pursuant to a bequest. This does not in itself
prevent the proposed charging for access, Members should consider whether the
proposed charges are reasonable and or necessary as set out in the body of the
report.

Appendices
Appendix A – fees and charges for Astley Hall and Coach House activities
Report Author:

Email:

Telephone:

Andrew Daniels (Shared
Service Lead –
Communications and Visitor
Economy)

andrew.daniels@chorley.gov.uk 01257
515265

Date:
19
January
2022

Agenda Page 19

Agenda Item 5

Appendix A - Fees and charges for Astley Hall and Coach House activities
Wedding
The Great
Ceremony Charges Hall
(proposed)
Monday - Friday
(Low Season)
Monday – Friday
(High Season)
Weekend (Low
Season)
Weekend (High
Season)

The Great
Hall (current)

The Glass
House
(proposed)

The Glass
House
(current)

£1795

£875

£800

New charge

£1995

£1050

£1000

New charge

£2295

£895

£1300

New charge

£2495

£1050

£1500

New charge

Prices include exclusive use of orchard garden and some interiors for photographs; use of
kitchen for arrival drinks and canapès and entrance through park for bride. Excludes VAT.
The activity space is no longer available for booking as it is now the shop so these charges
are not needed anymore.
The conference room is not available for hire at the moment as the space is needed for staff
accommodation while roof repairs are undertaken. There are no proposed changes to these
charges until that work is complete and while we review the use of the conference room as a
bookable space.
Guided Tours:
The proposed charge is £10 per head (inclusive of VAT) or £300 minimum up to a max of 40
people. Previous charge was £4 per head or £80 minimum.
Education
Education session per pupil £3-£4 (exempt from VAT) per pupil depending upon topic – no
change same as previous charge.
Minimum session charge - £80

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Page 21

Agenda Item 6

Report of

Meeting

Date

Director (Customer and
Digital)
(Introduced by Executive
Member (Customer and
Streetscene Services))

Council

Tuesday, 22 February
2022

Fair Collection Charter
Is this report confidential?

No

Is this decision key?

Not applicable

Purpose of the Report
1.

To propose that a Fair Collection Charter is adopted.

2.

To highlight the measures already adopted to help financially vulnerable customers.

Recommendations to Council
3.

The council adopts the new Fair Collection Charter.

4.

Delegate authority to the Executive Member (Customer and Streetscene Services) to
approve cost-neutral changes to the policy.

Reasons for recommendations
5.

Adopting the measures outlined in the report will achieve the council’s objective of
taking a more ethical approach to collection including a more supportive recovery
process and best practice affordability and means testing.

6.

They will also lead to improved working relationships with debt advice partners and
increased referral and intervention.

7.

Debt can be a determinant of wider issues and adoption of these measures will help to
ensure a joined-up approach to managing residents and local businesses experiencing
issues.

8.

Where residents have no means to pay there is no benefit in pursuing enforcement
action, incurring additional costs and increasing their vulnerability impacting upon
mental health, well-being and self-confidence. This also places additional demand on
public services.

Agenda Page 22

Agenda Item 6

Other options considered and rejected
9.

Not to adopt the measures proposed in the report would mean failing to provide
support to financially vulnerable residents and local businesses in financial difficulty.

Executive summary
10.

The Fair Collection Charter incorporates the measures which the council will take to
work with and support residents and local businesses in financial hardship.

11.

The charter includes the adoption of the Shared Financial Statement and making a
public commitment to reducing or ceasing entirely the use of enforcement agents

Corporate priorities
12.

The report relates to the following corporate priorities:

Involving residents in improving their local
area and equality of access for all

A strong local economy

Clean, safe and healthy communities

An ambitious council that does more to
meet the needs of residents and the
local area

Background
13.

Local authorities are under significant financial pressure. The council has a duty to
collect what it is owed to fund vital local services.

14.

The council also recognises that some residents and local businesses find themselves
in financial hardship and we will do all we can to work with them and support them in
making payment.

15.

The current debt management policies have been in place since 2015 at Chorley and
2018 at South Ribble.

16.

Both councils have more recently adopted some measures and forged partnerships
with other organisations in line with best practice recovery.

17.

There is currently a move towards more ethical debt recovery and an increased
emphasis on fairness in government debt management.

18.

As part of a wholesale review of policies as part of the Shared Services Review, a
shared collection and recovery policy is needed.

Fair Collection Charter
19.

This charter is the council’s statement on how it will work with residents, local
businesses and partners to fulfil its responsibilities and to support residents and local
businesses. It includes actions residents and businesses can take to help the council
to help them.

Agenda Page 23

Agenda Item 6

20.

The charter will be supported by guidance for staff in the practical application of it.

21.

A copy of the draft charter is attached at Appendix 1.

Money Advice Trust
22.

The Money Advice Trust (MAT) is a national charity which helps residents and
businesses with debt and managing money by offering free, independent advice. As
part of the Trust’s Stop The Knock campaign, the Trust recommends six steps for
improving local government debt collection practices. A number of councils have
adopted some or all of these initiatives.
i.

Signpost residents to free debt advice including regular reviews of signposting
and referral processes for all debt types and all access channels.

ii.

Put in place a formal vulnerability policy either as a specific policy or as part
of a wider policy.

iii.

Adopt the Standard Financial Statement (SFS) to objectively assess
affordability.
The SFS is a tool run by the government-backed Money and Pensions Service
and is intended to provide a consistent and fair method of working out affordable
repayments for residents in financial difficulty. The statement makes generous
allowances for outgoings including food and a savings element.
Should this be adopted for revenues purposes it would be consistent to also
adopt it for the means testing for Discretionary Housing Payments. However, this
would have an impact on the spend of the cash-limited DHP budget.

iv.

Sign the Council Tax Protocol and review practices against the Supportive
Council Tax Recovery Toolkit. MAT recommend that councils consider signing
up to the Council Tax Protocol, produced by Citizens Advice and the Local
Government Association, which aims to support councils in helping residents to
avoid arrears in the first place. The protocol is available here. Citizens Advice
Council Tax Protocol 2017.pdf
Many of the principles in the Protocol can be adopted by reviewing current
practices against the Money and Pensions Service's Supportive Council Tax
Recovery Toolkit. supportive-council-tax-recovery-for-local-authorities-utilities.pdf
(moneyandpensionsservice.org.uk).

v.

Exempt Council Tax Support recipients from enforcement agent action
Where a council is no longer providing 100% Council Tax Support, MAT
recommend that a policy is introduced of refraining from using bailiffs in the case
of CTS recipients, who the council has already identified as requiring additional
support and instead, use other targeted approaches with this group.
Both councils have amended their Council Tax Support Schemes so that more
claimants receive 100% support. This means there are fewer claimants with
council tax to pay. Also, in practice, a case for a CTS claimant would not be
referred to an enforcement agent under normal circumstances.

vi.

Make a clear public commitment to reduce the use of bailiffs in the form of a
decision, motion of Full Council or public statement to make every possible effort
to reduce the use of bailiffs over time.

Agenda Item 6

Agenda Page 24

Refernet
23.

South Ribble Borough Council and Chorley Council are both partners with Refernet.

24.

Refernet is an online referral system used by Citizens Advice, local councils, charities,
money advice services and other similar organisations. It provides secure
communication between partners, offering organisations a way of referring their
customers for help.

25.

It provides a means to make appropriate referrals across organisations and supports
residents by early intervention and prevention. Pathways to different advice services
are not always clear to those in need and Referent provides a solution to this.

Breathing Space Initiative
26.

In May 2021 local authorities were required to implement the government’s Breathing
Space initiative. These regulations will allow someone in problem debt the right to legal
protection from their creditors for a period of 60 days, providing the debtor engages in
professional debt advice. In practice this means that the creditor will agree not to
contact the person for a limited period to allow them to receive advice and work out a
plan for dealing with their debt.

27.

These new regulations will potentially cause further delays in recovering outstanding
debts, which are currently on hold due to the coronavirus pandemic.

28.

An Executive Member Decision (Resources) is awaited to incorporate the Breathing
Space regulations into Chorley Council’s Debt Management Policy.

Measures
29.

The table below indicates which of the above measures each Council has already
adopted and will adopt should the charter be approved:
Chorley

South Ribble

Existing

Proposed

Existing

Proposed

Signpost residents to free debt advice

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Formal vulnerability policy

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Standard financial statement

No

Yes

No

Yes

Council Tax protocol

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Agenda Item 6

Agenda Page 25

CTS policy
amended to
increase the
number of
residents who
are eligible to
receive 100%
support

CTS policy
amended to
increase the
number of
residents
who are
eligible to
receive
100%
support

CTS policy
amended to
increase the
number of
residents who
are eligible to
receive 100%
support

Public commitment to reduce the use of
bailiffs

No

Yes

No

Yes

Refernet

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Breathing Space

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Exempt CTS recipients from EA action

Under
Review

Consultation
30.

Citizens Advice have been informally consulted on the policy and have welcomed the
changes as being much, much better for people in poverty.

31.

Money Advice Trust have also been informally consulted and their comments are still
awaited.

Financial implications
32.

The fair collection policy focusses on a more proactive approach than the previous
debt management policies, providing help to residents and local businesses in
managing their finances.

33.

It also emphasises actively reducing outstanding debt by encouraging residents and
local businesses to apply for all available help such as discounts and exemptions,
discretionary housing payments and council tax support.

34.

Enforcement agent fees are paid by the debtor and so there would be no cost to the
council in this respect.

35.

It is difficult to predict the impact on the councils’ collection rates as there are a
number of other factors at play not least the Covid pandemic. The impact of the
adoption of the charter will be reviewed in eighteen months’ time. Any potential
reduction in collection would fall across the preceptors.

Climate change and air quality
36.

The work noted in this report does not impact the climate change and sustainability
targets of the Councils Green Agenda and all environmental considerations are in place.

Equality and diversity
37.

The charter would have a positive impact on promoting a positive social environment
for Chorley residents. It will also contribute to the delivery of the Corporate and
Sustainable Community Strategies.

Agenda Page 26

Agenda Item 6

Risk
38.

The biggest risk is that a change in the approach to collection may impact upon
collection rates of council tax and business rates as well as other revenue streams.
However, collections rates could fall because residents and businesses do not have
the money. The help available in the policy could alleviate the risk of this.

39.

Adopting the Standard Financial Statement and applying this consistently to include
the means testing for Discretionary Housing payments would impact upon the awards
under this fixed DHP budget. Potentially fewer residents would be able to receive
assistance or the councils would need to fund awards once the Government
allocations were spent.

40.

Ceasing enforcement action altogether will leave the councils with no recovery options
for wilful non-payers that do not require upfront costs for the council, e.g. bankruptcy or
a charging order.

Comments of the Statutory Finance Officer
41.

As noted at 4. the changes to the policy are expected to be cost-neutral to the council.
The policy is designed to provide a more supportive recovery process, adopts best
practice in this area and considers affordability in the repayment plans of debts owed
to the council for our financially vulnerable residents and local businesses in financial
difficulties.

42.

The policy focusses on a more proactive approach in providing help to residents and
local businesses in managing their finances than previous debt management policies;
by working in this way it is hoped to secure an improvement in engagement and
increased levels of debt recovery over the longer term.

43.

The impact on collection rates for Business Rates and Council Tax, as well as the
demand for Discretionary Housing Payments against the fixed DHP funding provided
by central government, will be monitored.

Comments of the Monitoring Officer
44.

The proposal provides support to those suffering from financial hardship and can be
seen to directly contribute to the council priority of an ambitious council that does more
to meet the needs of residents and the local area.

45.

Members when considering the reasonableness of the proposal to meet that priority
are entitled to consider not just the financial implications for the council which are
detailed in the report but the wider financial and social benefits for residents when
considering if this proposal represents value for money. The council have full
discretion when assessing the terms of the policy and so the integration of the Fair
Collection Charter principles and aims are reasonable.

There are no background papers to this report
Appendices
Appendix A: Fair Collection Charter

Agenda Page 27

Agenda Item 6

Report Author:

Email:

Telephone:

Helen Sutton (Customer
Services Manager Direct
Services)

helen.sutton@chorley.gov.uk 01257
515151

Date:
19
January
2022

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Page 29

Agenda Item 6

FAIR COLLECTION CHARTER
1. We want to do everything we can to support our residents and businesses in paying
their bills.
2. We understand that sometimes people find themselves in financial hardship or
vulnerable and will need support and advice. We are here to help and will always
work to support them.
3. Where people have no means to pay there is no benefit in pursuing enforcement
action, incurring additional costs and increasing their vulnerability especially if this
could impact upon mental health, well-being, and self-confidence. Doing so also
places additional demand on public services.
4. This charter seeks to support local residents and small and micro businesses, with
fewer than 250 employees or sole traders, registered and trading in the borough.
5. This charter will enable us to take a fair and sensitive approach whilst also ensuring
that we meet our responsibilities to collect money due to help us to pay for the
services we deliver.
This charter:
6. Sets out how we will identify the support and help you may need.
7. Explains what you can do to help us to support you.
8. Provides information about the support and help available.
9. The charter will apply to the collection of money such as:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.

Council Tax
Business Rates
Housing Benefit overpayments
Miscellaneous invoices such as rents and fines
Fixed penalty notices for parking and environmental crime

10. From time-to-time we will review this charter and update it if the law changes or for
guidance.
What we will do:
11. We will help you in the following ways:
Early intervention
i. We will try to identify as early as possible where people may be financially
vulnerable and will do what we can to help.
ii. We will offer help and support if you let us know you are having difficulty paying.
iii. We will let you know as soon as possible when payments are overdue to avoid
further action.
Advice and education
i. You can request advice and information to help you to manage your finances with
confidence.

Agenda Page 30

Agenda Item 6

ii. We will promote business rate and council tax reliefs and reductions to
increase take-up and help you apply for these.
iii. We will signpost you to help with budgeting advice.
iv. Where you may feel there is a genuine dispute, we will work with you to resolve
this as soon as possible.
Clear and timely communication
i. We will contact you as soon as possible and will include clear information about
what a payment is for, when and how to pay.
ii. Wherever possible we will make direct contact with you.
iii. We will make sure you know how to contact us if you are struggling to make
payment.
iv. We will tell you of the amounts due and dates for payments. We will also let you
know what may happen next if you don’t pay.
Easy and flexible payment
i. We will offer a range of ways and times to pay and promote these.
ii. We will help you by offering alternative payment dates wherever possible
Collection and recovery
i. We collect some types of money by sending letters at certain times because we
must do this by law. Please ask for more information.
ii. We will only take legal action where this is necessary, but we will consider your
circumstances wherever possible.
What we ask you to do:
12. So that we can better help you:
i. Be honest about your circumstances and in dealings with us.
ii. Respond quickly if we contact you.
iii. Contact us quickly if your payment is going to be late or you are struggling to pay.
You can contact us online, by email or by telephone.
iv. Tell us as soon as possible when your contact details or bill details change.
v. Let us know as soon as possible if your circumstances change.
vi. Make payments on time or make your best, affordable payment offer.
vii. Use the different options available to you to make sure payment is made on time
and contact us quickly if you need more time.
viii. Actively engage with the help and support offered.
HELP AND SUPPORT
13. We understand that sometimes people are unable to pay. For example, this may be
because of a sudden change in financial circumstances, those already on low
incomes facing an unexpected situation or where someone’s mental health problems
affect their ability to manage their finances.
14. Where you can show that you are in financial difficulty, we will make sure you are
referred to advice services to get the help you need.
15. We will consider individual circumstances on a case by case basis and we do our
best to reduce any hardship or distress.

Agenda Page 31

Agenda Item 6

16. We will help you to take ownership of your finances and make the most of the
support provided to keep to any agreement made.
17. If you are vulnerable, we will look at what we can do differently to help. Where
someone is vulnerable, they may still need to pay if the law says so. However, we will
provide additional support and try to reduce any distress.
18. What we do will depend on the type of debt. We may:
i. Allow you longer to pay
ii. Agree to a temporary, lower payment arrangement
iii. Provide help to claim discounts and benefits
iv. Refer you to independent advice and guidance
v. Temporarily stop enforcement action
vi. Review your eligibility for benefits
vii. Refer you to alternative welfare support
viii. Ensure that we have up to date information

19. We will make sure that any action taken is proportionate and fair to all our residents
and businesses.
SUPPORT FOR RESIDENTS AND BUSINESSES WITH PROBLEM DEBT
20. We will fairly assess the resident’s or business’s ability to pay and where they are
struggling, work with them to help them find a solution.
21. As well as advice or guidance we will support residents and businesses by working
with other agencies to agree repayments that are affordable.
Breathing Space
22. We have signed up to the Breathing Space initiative. This allows someone with
problem debt the right to legal protection from their creditors for a period of up to 60
days provided that they engage in professional debt advice within this time. The
agencies mentioned at the end of this charter can help further.
Council Tax Protocol
23. We have adopted the Council Tax Arrears Good Practice Protocol in partnership with
Citizens Advice and the Local Government Association. This ensures better
partnership working between the council and other enforcement and advice agencies
to make sure money is collected in a fair way and help is available for vulnerable
people.
Standard Financial Statement
24. We have adopted the Standard Financial Statement (SFS) as recommended by the
Money Advice Trust. We will use this to work out affordable payments for people who
are in financial difficulty.
Exceptional Hardship Discretion
25. We have the discretion to reduce the amount of council tax payable on a case by
case basis where people can show evidence of exceptional hardship. Please ask for
more information.

Agenda Page 32

Agenda Item 6

Covid-19 Hardship Fund 2021-2022
26. As part of the response to the Covid-19 pandemic, there is also additional funding
available for 2021-2022 to support financially vulnerable households. Please ask for
more information.
Council Tax Support Scheme
27. Council tax support can help towards the cost of council tax where residents are on a
low income or receiving some other benefits. More information and an online form
are available on our website.
Other initiatives
28. From time to time there may be other initiatives ongoing which may make additional
kinds of help or funding available. We work closely with our partners and can refer
residents to other community organisations and charities for help.
Enforcement action
29. We will only use enforcement agents where other action has been unsuccessful.
Where a resident receives council tax support we will take a different approach. We
have made a clear, public commitment to reduce the enforcement action we take.
FREE INDEPENDENT HELP FOR RESIDENTS AND BUSINESSES
30. For free debt and money advice contact:
a. Citizens Advice Lancashire
Chorley office

South Ribble office

35-39 Market Street
Chorley
Lancashire
PR7 2SW

Civic Centre
West Paddock
Leyland
PR25 1DH

Telephone: 0344 245 1294
Website: www.citizensadvicelancashirewest.org.uk
b. StepChange
Telephone: 0800 138 1111
Website: www.stepchange.org/contact-us.aspx
c. National Debt Line
Telephone: 0808 808 4000
Website: www.nationaldebtline.org/
d. Business Debt Line
Telephone: 0800 197 6026
Website: www.businessdebtline.org/

Agenda Page 33

Agenda Item 7

Report of

Meeting

Date

Chief Executive
(Introduced by Executive
Leader)

Council

Tuesday, 22 February
2022

Future development of shared services
Is this report confidential?

No

Is this decision key?

Not applicable

Purpose of the Report
1.

To set out the options and proposals for the future development of the councils’ shared
services relationship. These proposals were endorsed by a majority of the shared
services joints committee at an informal meeting on 10 February.

Recommendations to Council
2. That the principles for the shared services relationship with South Ribble Borough
Council set out at paragraph 23 should be approved.
3. That the approach to the future development of shared services set out at paragraph 24
be approved.
4. To approve the creation of a Strategic Lead (Future Investments) as a shared post.
5. To approve the creation of a Director of Change and Delivery as a shared post.
6. To approve for consultation the creation of a permanent shared arrangement for
development projects, with authority delegated to the Leader to approve the final
arrangements.
7.

To approve for consultation the creation of a shared pest control service, with authority
delegated to the Leader to approve the final arrangements.

8.

To adjust the membership of the Shared Services Joint Appointments Panel to include
one additional Cabinet Member from each council, in recognition of the central role that
shared services now plays in the appointment of Chief Officers..

Reasons for recommendations
9.

The recommendations will ensure that the councils have a clear vision for the next
steps in the development of their shared services relationship. The additional capacity
will ensure that the councils are able to deliver key priorities and services.

Agenda Page 34

Agenda Item 7

Agenda Page 35

Agenda Item 7

Other options considered and rejected
10.

The broad options that could have been taken are set out and considered within the
report.

Executive summary
11.

In September 2019, Chorley Council and South Ribble Borough Council agreed to
significantly expand their shared services relationship. This report sets out the broad
options for the future development of that relationship and proposes that work should
be undertaken to review management capacity for the two councils, as well as defining
a targeted phase three. In addition, the report proposes the creation of additional
senior capacity to support the councils in delivering their priorities and the creation of
shared resources for development projects and pest control.

Corporate priorities
12.

The report relates to the following corporate priorities: (please bold all those
applicable):

Involving residents in improving their local
area and equality of access for all

A strong local economy

Clean, safe and healthy communities

An ambitious council that does more to
meet the needs of residents and the local
area

Background to the report
13. In line with agreements made by the two partners, the scope of the shared services
arrangement between Chorley Councils and South Ribble has increased considerably in
the last two years. From the longstanding shared financial and assurances services,
shared services now includes:
 Since April 2020: Governance, Transformation and Partnerships and
Communications and Visitor Economy
 Since January 2021: shared Chief Executive and Directors
 Currently being implemented: ICT and Customer Services
14. Alongside the sharing of staff and services, the councils have adopted shared terms and
conditions and a shared HR policy framework for staff within shared services.
15. This current level of sharing represents 47% of the workforce for the two councils.
2019 proposals
16. The proposals agreed by both councils in September 2019 set out a series of principles
to guide the expansion of shared services:
 Both councils are committed to continuing to represent the needs, priorities and
ambitions of their local residents and communities.
 Both councils will set individual priorities and set their own budgets.
 The councils are sharing services to reduce costs and to become more sustainable
and resilient.

Agenda Page 36










Agenda Item 7

The programme for shared services will be developed and prioritised on the basis of
likely return in terms of savings, but also on a basis of the needs of the councils.
The shared services will build on the existing shared service governance
arrangements, building on what works and improving where lessons have been
learnt.
Full shared services shall mean developing a single delivery model for service
delivery except where this does not meet the needs of each sovereign council. The
model for delivering services shall continue to represent the needs, priorities and
ambitions of their local residents and communities.
The management structures will reflect a full shared service model to enable the
delivery and development of shared services.
Shared services will be developed and implemented on a phased basis. The next
phase, phase 1, shall include as a minimum HR, Legal and Democratic Services. It is
likely that Communications, Policy and Transformation services shall also be
included in phase 1.
Shared services shall be created and then transformed into a standard service
delivered to both councils.

17. That report also set out an intention for further phases, with the view being that phase
two of the expansion would include, as a minimum, ICT and Customer Services.
18. Following the reviews undertaken in customer services and ICT, the Shared Services
Joint Committee considered the potential options for the future development of the
shared services relationship. This report sets out:





the broad benefits and issues in the shared services relationship;
the options for the future development of shared services and the conclusion of
the shared services joint committee;
proposals for the future development of shared services; and,
proposals for developing additional capacity in key priority areas.

Benefits and issues of shared services
19. The February meeting of the shared services joint committee considered the most recent
performance monitoring report. That report is attached as Appendix A, providing an
overview of the performance of the existing shared service arrangements.
20. In addition to the performance report set out at Appendix A, the Shared Services Joint
Committee considered the broad benefits and issues with the shared services
relationship. These are set out in the table below.
Benefits
 Over £1.3m of savings across the two
councils secured from shared services
 Ability to share resources quickly
between the councils to support
business continuity - for example,
around HGV drivers
 Developing support between the
councils on areas of technical expertise
- for example air quality advice.

Issues
 Perception of a Chorley takeover in
some parts of South Ribble Borough
Council
 Less availability of key officers for
Member contact
 Perception of an adverse impact on
service delivery at Chorley
 Concerns over the capacity of staff in
key teams and roles
 Concerns over the speed of change and
the impact this has on staff morale.

Agenda Page 37

Agenda Item 7

Options for the future development of shared services

Detail

21. Set out in the table below are the options for the next steps in shared services. Also
included are the broad advantages and disadvantages to each approach.

Stop sharing
services

+

Detail

-

Pause further
expansion

+

Identify
future phases
of shared
services

Detail

-

+

Withdraw the councils either in part or whole from the shared services
arrangement. This could lead to the councils providing services
entirely separately, or one council providing some services to the
other through an SLA rather than a shared model.
This option remains an option to either council if it feels that shared
services is no longer appropriate to its needs in a way that cannot be
remedied.
Undertaking any withdrawal in a planned manner would be more likely
to maintain positive relationships between the partners.
This would be relatively complex to achieve and would cause
disruption to staff and potentially service delivery. It is likely that one or
both councils would incur some significant costs in created separated
services or posts.
Either before or after the implementation of shared customer services,
the councils could decide to not progress any further expansion of
sharing for a period of time.
This is an option that has been previously raised by some members of
the joint committee.
The advantage of this is that it would allow the councils to adjust to the
new shared arrangements without further change. It would provide an
opportunity to monitor the ongoing performance of the shared
services.
However, there would still be a need for change within the
organisations (for example, in services where there are issues with
capacity or changing demand).
A pause may also lead to perceptions of greater uncertainty around
the future relationship between the two councils.
Set out a vision for future shared services and the approach to a
further phase. There are a number of approaches that could be taken:
 Continue with a similar approach to phases one and two –
identify a directorate or service to become shared through a
review
 Focus on areas where one or both councils lack capacity or
resilience in services
This would continue to build the relationships between the councils,
providing the potential for additional savings and resilience. It also
provides a strong signal of the continued commitment of the two
councils to shared services.
Taking a more focused approach would also provide an opportunity to

Agenda Page 38

Agenda Item 7

limit the scope and potential impact of change.
May create continued uncertainty and a feeling of never-ending
change within the organisations.

Review and
strengthen
existing
management
arrangements

Detail

-

+

Be
opportunistic

A review could be undertaken examine any issues that currently exist
in the management structure and options for any changes. This review
could be undertaken with or without expanding shared services.
Provides an opportunity to strengthen the capacity within the
management team and ensure that it fit for purpose with the current
and any other planned shared services.
May cause disruption in the management and leadership of the
organisations. Changing management structure without the services
below may continue existing issues around capacity.

Detail

-

If the next phases seek to shared full directorates, it will demand
effective leadership from senior management. If a more focussed
approach is taken, the levels of savings that can be expected will be
lower.
The shared senior management team of Chief Executive and
Directors has been in place since January. The tiers below (of Service
Leads and Assistant Directors) is a mix of shared and non-shared
roles. The Chief Executive is currently on a fixed-term contract until
December 2022.

Expand shared services as opportunities present themselves with
vacant posts, additional work or other pressures.

+

Expansion of shared services continues but without the anxiety that
can be caused by service reviews. Less likely to lead to compulsory
redundancies.

-

Doesn’t provide for a planned approach and will be piecemeal. May
lead to delays and temporary gaps in services as shared
arrangements are put in place. Waiting for people to leave or ask for
ERVS may mean that the change in services does not lead to the right
people being in place.

Proposals for the future of shared services
22. This section sets out proposals for the future development of shared services.
Refreshed principles guiding shared services
23. It is an appropriate time to review and refresh the principles that the two councils agreed
in 2019 to guide the development of shared services. The proposed refreshed principles
are set out below. They aim to provide continuity with the existing principles, while also
recognising the changing context that the two councils work in.




Both councils are committed to continuing to represent the needs, priorities and
ambitions of their local residents and communities.
Both councils remain sovereign, with separate Leader and other decision-making.
Shared services is not a pathway to merging the councils.
Both councils will set individual priorities and set their own budgets.

Agenda Page 39








Agenda Item 7

The councils are sharing services to reduce costs and to become more
sustainable and resilient.
Full shared services shall mean developing a single delivery model for service
delivery except where this does not meet the needs of each sovereign council.
The model for delivering services shall continue to represent the needs, priorities
and ambitions of their local residents and communities.
The management structures will reflect a full shared service model to enable the
delivery and development of shared services.
The councils maintain responsibility for managing their own performance. The
shared services joint committee is responsible for ensuring that shared services
function effectively in meeting those expectations.
The councils remain committed to shared services, with the next phase prioritised
on the basis of supporting greater resilience in service delivery.

Proposals for future development
24. Following consideration of the available options, the shared services joint committee
propose that the councils should pursue two workstreams to further develop shared
services:
a. Undertake a review of management capacity across the two councils. The
councils already share their Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive and
Directors. These arrangements have been in place for just over 12 months. The
tier below directors is mixed, with shared and non-shared posts. In addition, the
level of the posts is also mixed, with Service Leads/Assistant Directors, service
managers and team leaders.
There is a potential risk that this mixed approach could lead to challenges in
ensuring consistent standards across services, and inconsistent capacity across
the councils.
The proposed approach to a review of management capacity is:
 An initial stage will be undertaken separately to assess the current
management capacity available to the councils, the strengths, gaps and
issues. This will potentially include individual feedback sessions for
managers, analysis of service performance, staff satisfaction results and time
recording exercises.
 Analysis of potential functions where sharing may be beneficial
 Development of proposals for cohesive management structures for the
councils, which may be shared or non-shared
The output of this review will be a report that will be presented to the shared
services joint committee before being considered by the relevant council
committee.
b. Develop proposals for a further phase of shared services. This would be
based on being on a smaller scale that phases one and two. Rather than
identifying a full directorate to form the next phase for shared services, it is
proposed that the next phase focuses on specific posts or functions where there
is an identified need for change.
The approach that will be taken is:
 Work will be undertaken for each council separately to identify the functions
or posts where sharing may be beneficial. This may be because of; a lack of

Agenda Page 40



Agenda Item 7

capacity; existing temporary arrangements; new priorities; the potential for
savings or improved staff recruitment and retention.
Analysis to highlight areas of common need, or where sharing will support
one council to deliver a function while maintaining or improving the
performance for the other.

The output of the review will be proposals for a roadmap for future development
of shared services, which will be presented to the shared services joint committee
for consideration before being considered at relevant individual council meetings.

Proposals for developing additional capacity in key priorities
25. The section above sets out proposals to review current challenges and plan for future
development of shared services. There are, however, challenges being faced by the
councils that need to be addressed in advance of those reviews being completed. Set
out below are proposals for additional capacity in key areas.
Future investment and development
26. Both councils continue to be ambitious in seeking to improve their boroughs and the
services to residents. Both councils have the potential for significant developments
taking place in the coming years that need to be carefully managed to ensure risks are
mitigated and the potential benefits realised. This includes:
 The South Ribble Cuerden site linked to the City Deal
 The large-scale application anticipated for South Ribble at the Cuerdale site
 A need to identify future development sites within Chorley, including sites that are
within and outside the council’s ownership.
27. Existing teams, particularly in Planning and Development and Commercial Services will
have important roles to play in these pieces of work, but the potential scale and impact of
these developments mean that it is important that the councils have additional capacity
to manage the work. This will ensure that the councils are well-positioned to ensure that
they deliver benefits to the boroughs.
28. In addition, the recently published Levelling Up White Paper also indicates the UK
Shared Prosperity Fund will be devolved to local leaders, with most of the fund devolved
to and invested by district councils. This means that the councils will need to prepare to
make the most of opportunities to attract funding and schemes to their boroughs.
29. It is proposed to create a senior post that will manage the development of future
opportunities on behalf of the councils. The post will be responsible for:
 Managing the non-local planning authority relationships and representing the
councils with partners and other stakeholders
 Identifying and evaluating potential land development opportunities for the
councils
 Leading site assembly work and negotiations on behalf of the councils
 Overseeing work to promote potential sites to developers, including any
necessary masterplanning.
30. The post will be the Strategic Lead for Future Investments. It will report directly to the
Chief Executive. As a senior post, it will be paid at a spot salary of £75,000. It will be a
shared post, with the costs split 50:50 between the councils.

Agenda Page 41

Agenda Item 7

31. If approved, in line with the councils’ relevant policies, the post will be advertised initially
internally. The recruitment process will be overseen by the shared services appointment
panel.
Organisational change and development
32. Both organisations have gone through significant change in the last two years. The
expansion of shared services has been a key catalyst, but change has also come
through the pandemic, new uses for technology and new organisational priorities.
33. The councils continue to perform highly, demonstrated through the delivery of Corporate
Strategies. There are, however, challenges that have been highlighted in recent
discussions at the shared services joint committee. This includes, for example, staff
satisfaction in some areas, recruitment and retention of staff, capacity of key officers to
manage organisational change.
34. The scale of change faced by the organisations will continue to be extremely high in the
coming years. This change is not solely related to shared services (although that work
will be continue and develop), and includes, for example:
 Implementing the Workplace Strategy, adapting to new technology and new
ways of working that have been accelerated through the pandemic
 Developing and implementing a new People Strategy, to ensure that staff are
supported and the councils are able to respond to a changed job market with
increased competition and ability to work remotely
 Updating and implementing new technology
 Continuing to meet financial challenges and respond to external changes
 Responding to the changing landscape externally in respect of the levelling
up white paper and significant changes in Health
 Supporting the development of new models of service delivery, including the
leisure companies and residential accommodation.
35. A key challenge in having a shared senior management team is the capacity of directors
to manage this demanding agenda while also leading and managing change and
delivering services. Additional capacity is needed to better support organisational change
and support the effective working of the senior management team.
36. It is proposed to create a senior post to increase capacity and improve the management
of change across the councils. The post would have responsibility for:
 Be a member of the senior management team, supporting the Leaders and
Cabinets in developing and delivering agree priorities.
 Leading the implementation of the shared services development plans
 Leading the development and implementation of Organisational Development
and People Strategies for the councils
 Development and oversight of the councils’ transformation programmes and
key change projects
 Project lead for the development of the economic development strategies
 Development of shared services phase three
 Senior lead for corporate strategy, budget investment and key priority delivery
programmes
 Senior lead for Public Service Reform and partnerships

Agenda Page 42

Agenda Item 7

37. The new post will be Director of Change and Delivery. It will report to the Deputy Chief
Executive and the salary will be in line with the existing shared directors, starting at
£75,000. The cost of the post will be shared 50:50 between the council.
38. If approved, in line with the councils’ relevant policies, the post will be advertised initially
internally. The recruitment process will be overseen by the shared services appointment
panel.
Capital developments
39. The councils have extensive and ambitious capital developments underway and
planned. There are already some temporary sharing arrangements in place, with South
Ribble Borough Council making use of internal capacity from Chorley by paying a day
rate.
40. Examples of the projects are:
Chorley
 Whittle GP Surgery
 Tatton development
 Strawberry Meadows
 Bengal Street site development

South Ribble
 Town Deal
 Worden Hall
 Extra Care Facility
 McKenzie Arms development

41. These arrangements have worked effectively, but there is an opportunity to formalise
them. It is proposed that the temporary arrangements should be made permanent. This
would encompass:
 Shared Service Lead (Development)
 Development Manager x 2
 External client-side project management
 External specialist support (for example QS)
42. The external resources are associated with individual projects and are budgeted for in
those projects.
43. The internal staffing costs will be split on a 50:50 basis. While there are existing
postholders working across the two councils through the temporary arrangements, the
permanent arrangements will be implemented in line with the councils’ Change Policy.
This will include consultation with effected staff. Once the consultation is completed, the
proposals will be presented for approval via the relevant Executive Member.
Pest Control
44. Shared Services Joint Committee have endorsed a proposal to share the councils’ pest
control service. Chorley Council is currently making use of an external contract to deliver
its pest control service, and there is an opportunity to improve the service available to
Chorley while also building resilience for both councils by sharing.
45.

The full proposal is included as Appendix B.

Climate change and air quality
46.

The work noted in this report does not impact the climate change and sustainability
targets of the Council’s Green Agenda and all environmental considerations are in place.

Agenda Page 43

Agenda Item 7

Equality and diversity
47.

The proposals within this report do not have a direct impact on equality considerations.

Risk
48.

Risk management is regularly reported to the shared services joint committee, with the
latest assessment being included in the monitoring report at Appendix A.

Comments of the Statutory Finance Officer
49.

The staffing savings achieved through shared services to date are set out at Appendix
A. The proposals in this report will likely lead to a smaller and more targeted future
phase of shared services, which is likely to reduce the potential scale of further
savings. This will be considered in the scoping work for the next stage, as well as in
the budget setting process for both councils.

50.

The costs and funding for the specific proposals above, including on-costs for
Employers National Insurance and Pension costs) are as follows;

POST

CBC

SRBC

TOTAL

Director of Change
and Delivery

48,000

48,000

96,000

Funding
The costs can be met within the 22/23 budget following receipt of the Final Local Govt
Financial Settlement on 7th February, which provided an increase in funding compared to
Provisional Settlement announced back in December 2021.
Strategic Lead
48,000
48,000
96,000
(Future Investments)
Funding
 At CBC - the additional costs would be covered by the revenue budget savings
generated through the capitalisation of costs of the Development Projects Team costs as
noted below.
 At SRBC - the costs can be met within the 22/23 budget following the increase in funding
in the Final Settlement referred to above.
Shared Development
Projects Team
re: capitalisation of
team costs

(87,750)

-

(87,750)

re: impact of shared
services revenue
(43,750)
43,750
costs
Funding – It is assumed that moving forward, 50% of the costs of the Shared Development
Projects Team will be capitalised and charged against the specific capital schemes that the

Agenda Page 44

Agenda Item 7

individual members of the team work on.
At CBC, the costs of the team are full charged to revenue and so this would lead to a saving
in the existing revenue budget of £87,750.
The remaining 50% of costs are assumed to be Revenue costs and would be split 50:50
between the 2 councils.
At SRBC - the costs can be met within the 22/23 budget following the increase in funding in
the Final Settlement referred to above.
Shared pest control
service

32,700

(2,800)

29,900

Funding
At CBC the costs can be met within the 22/23 budget following the increase in funding in the
Final Settlement referred to above.
There is a slight saving in the existing budget at SRBC.

Comments of the Monitoring Officer
51.

There are no concerns to raise from a Monitoring Officer perspective. The proposals
detail how the roles will contribute to how the Councils will deliver best value by
prioritising capacity in the highlighted areas and how these roles will contribute to the
Councils’ outcomes. If any changes to working arrangements and structures are
ultimately pursued then the councils will have regard to the relevant provisions of the
Change policies and all relevant HR policies.

There are no background papers to this report

Appendices
Appendix A: February monitoring report
Appendix B: Shared pest control.

Report Author:

Email:

Telephone:

Date:

Gary Hall

gary.hall@chorley.gov.uk

11/02/22

Chris Sinnott

chris.sinnott@chorley.gov.uk

01257
515104

Agenda Item 7

Agenda Page 45

Appendix A

Shared Services Monitoring Report- February 2022
Savings and budgets
1. The following table shows the cost savings that have been made through reduced
staffing budgets including shared posts and the shared services reviews. Staffing
savings have been made by realigning resources to meet service priorities, capacity
and demand.

(Savings)/Additional
Cost (000's)
CBC

SRBC

Total

Original shared services
(306)

(306)

(611)

(57)

(252)

(309)

8

(8)

-

(91)

7

(85)

(31)

57

26

(6)

36

30

(177)

(160)

(337)

(58)

(76)

(134)

(90)

(53)

(143)

(48)

(33)

(81)

(17)

(17)

(34)

Phase 2

(214)

(179)

(392)

Total Savings

(696)

(644)

(1,340)

Recurring savings delivered through shared
financial and assurance services
Initial Phase – Senior Roles
Communications and Visitor Economy
Transformation and Partnerships
Governance
Grades and Travel
Phase 1 - Total
Chief Executive
Director Posts
ICT Review - Phase one and Two
Corporate Support

2. The phase 1 savings relate to the initial senior roles including the Shared Deputy
Chief Executive and Shared Service Leads, alongside the service reviews for
Governance, Transformation and Partnerships, and Communications and Visitor
Economy. Some further staffing savings are expected to be achieved for these
services through delivery of the service development plans to achieve a single
operating model.
3. Staffing costs have increased in some areas to allow for additional capacity, ensuring
resilience and a sustainable model for the services. There has also been the

Agenda Item 7

Agenda Page 46

opportunity to increase the services provided across the councils, such as enabling
services to be delivered in house or expanding the functions that are offered in areas
such as events and museums, tourism and culture.
4. In phase 2 of shared services, the Chief Executive and shared Director posts have
been developed at a saving to both councils. Both phases of the ICT review
(management and rest of service) have also generated savings across the councils.
The total savings will increase once the Customer Services and Revenues & Benefits
review is implemented in March.
5. As other work is undertaken, such as joint procurement and shared systems, savings
to non-staffing cash budgets have been achieved. Work will be carried out in the
coming months to quantify and record these savings through shared services and will
be included in reporting to the Committee.
Budgeted
charges
across Councils 21/22
Host
Council

Split Basis
CBC/SRBC

Audit
Governance
Corporate Admin Team
Democratic

SRBC
SRBC
SRBC
SRBC

173,572
122,779
105,452
221,101

173,572
122,779
105,452
221,101

347,144
245,558
210,904
442,202

Mayoral Services

SRBC

34,751

65,734

100,485

Chorley Civic Services

SRBC

160,171

0

160,171

Legal

SRBC

188,652

214,975

403,627

Procurement
Town Hall and Bengal
Street
Union Street
Lancastrian
Communications
Events
Astley
Shared Chief Executive,
Deputy Chief Executive
and Directors
Finance

SRBC

50/50
50/50
50/50
50/50
50/50 (exc 1
post 100%
SRBC)
100/0
50/50 (exc 1
post 100%
SRBC)
50/50

69,111

69,111

138,222

SRBC

100/0

47,568

0

47,568

SRBC
SRBC
SRBC
SRBC
SRBC

100/0
100/0
50/50
60/40
100/0

42,914
54,721
163,921
85,176
218,210

0
0
163,921
54,214

42,914
54,721
327,842
139,390
218,210

CBC/SRBC

50/50

354,270

354,270

708,540

CBC

50/50
50/50 (exc 3
posts 100%
CBC)
50/50

620,900

620,900

1,241,800

380,720

261,100

641,820

152,410

152,410

304,820

432,194

498,834

931,028

3,628,593

3,078,373

6,706,966

Budget Area

Transformation and
partnerships

CBC

Human Resources

CBC

ICT (full year equivalent
budgets)

CBC/SRBC

50/50 except
for Infrastucture
Team 40/60

CBC

SRBC

Total

Agenda Page 47

Agenda Item 7

6. The above table demonstrates the costing split for shared services across Chorley
and South Ribble Councils, with most areas split 50:50 to reflect that staff within the
service provide an equal service across both organisations. Where there is an
identified need for one council but not the other, the split in costs can vary for
example a charge of 60:40 for Events to reflect the demand of the events programme
to be delivered at each council. Some areas are charged 100% to Chorley whilst
being hosted at South Ribble in order to ensure a balanced number of employees at
each council.
Staff Satisfaction
7. Staff satisfaction within shared services has been measured for the second time
following the satisfaction survey that was conducted in June 2021. The survey asks
staff about understanding of shared services and their role, as well as providing the
opportunity for written feedback around what has worked well in shared services and
where staff could benefit from further support.
8. Below shows a comparison of the responses between the two surveys:

Understanding how service contributes
to delivering priorities of both councils
Understanding team’s role in shared
services
Having the skills/training needed for role
Overall, satisfied in job

June 2021

Nov 2021

88%

91%

84%

91%

94.6%
75%

96.4%
78.5%

9. Results showed an improvement in employees’ understanding of their role and wider
service, with 91% of staff agreeing that they understand the role of their team in
shared services and how their service contributes to the priorities of both councils.
These show improvements from the previous survey and indicate that the work to
embed shared services over the last 6 months has helped to solidify understanding
among Shared Services Staff. Areas where staff feel that they do not have a full
understanding, include in services that are not fully shared or in newly shared teams.
10. Most staff feel that they have the skills and knowledge needed for their role, with
96.4% either agreeing or strongly agreeing with the statement. This is another
improvement from the previous survey and reflects the continued identification of any
training needs
through shared services development discussions.
11. Overall, the survey demonstrates high levels of satisfaction across shared services
and some of the positive feedback around the experience of working in shared
services includes:
 Opportunities to share expertise and best practice to maintain our continual
desire for improvement.
 Shared resources allowing for improved efficiency and satisfaction.
 More opportunity for staff development through challenge, variety, new skills and
personal development.

Agenda Page 48



Agenda Item 7

Wider variety of projects and tasks allowing for a more varied workday.

12. Only four respondents indicated being less than satisfied with their jobs, which
generally relates to individuals in teams that have recently integrated into shared
services or teams that are not fully shared.
13. Some of the key areas for further development are as follows:






Staff remain enthusiastic to meet their Shared Services colleagues as they have
returned to the office. Events are being scheduled to provide staff with an
opportunity to meet colleagues across Shared Services and help build a shared
work culture across the two councils.
Integrating newly established shared services teams, such as: Events, Museums,
Tourism and Culture, and Health and Safety. Service leads and managers will
continue to support staff in furthering the integration of teams. This will include
ICT and Customer Services once the restructures have been implemented.
Continuing to support staff across shared services through development reviews,
networking opportunities, and Directorate manager meetings to identify and
address any issues raised.

Service Level Performance
14. Each service has identified several service development objectives to set out the
transformation and development of the shared services to a single operating model.
There are currently 8 service development objectives for the Phase 1 services with 4
being complete and 4 still ongoing.
15. Some of the work that has been completed includes:





Developing a shared performance management system to ensure consistent
reporting of data and performance, a more user-friendly system, and reduced
data entry time.
The implementation of the shared Events team and Museums, Tourism and
Culture service.
A review of the shared Audit and Risk team to ensure that resource and
capacity are aligned to the priorities of the service and delivering efficiencies
for transactional work.

16. Development objectives that are ongoing but scheduled to be completed over the
next year are as follows:
 Delivering a shared HR operating model including HR system. This will
support increased self-service and access to information for managers
whilst enabling HR to focus capacity on case management, workforce
planning and providing an advisory function.
 Undertake a review of internal communications and digital channels to
ensure that we are using best practice and adapting to the changing use
of social media.
 Review Legal services to develop a single operating model for the
service.

Agenda Page 49

Agenda Item 7

17. Benefits are also tracked for each service in relation to savings, service development,
resilience and capacity, and staff development. Some of the key benefits for each
service that have been delivered since the last review are highlighted below.
Transformation and Partnerships








A shared performance management system to ensure a more user-friendly
experience and reduced data entry time for staff. The in-house system replaces
the InPhase system at South Ribble which at a nil cost compared to £40,000 for
InPhase.
Shared policies and strategies to share expertise and best practice across the
councils including:
a) Organisational Development strategies
b) Transformation Strategies
c) Key Partnerships and Contracts Framework
d) HR Policy framework
The shared strategic partnership aims to utilise shared resource and governance
to enable partners to work more closely together. The partnership was agreed in
September this year, and has already offered opportunities to align capacity and
engagement from shared partners such as through the Shared Economic Summit
Two graduate development roles have been recruited to, creating career
opportunities for local people and developing succession planning.

Communications and Visitor Economy










Increased capacity for Events from 3 members of staff at Chorley to 5 across the
two organisations. Dedicated resource at South Ribble will help to deliver an
enhanced events programme and will release capacity across other areas of the
organisation.
Succession planning for apprentice roles has allowed a postholder to take up a
permanent position in the team from September 2021, supporting the retention of
talented staff at the councils.
An events intern position has been developed to provide experience to local
people whilst bringing in new talent and up to date knowledge of recent
developments in the sector.
Reduction in Astley Hall staffing budget c. £9,000 through sharing of team
members. The total number of FTE in the team across the councils as increased
from 7.2 FTE to 11.4 creating a flexible resource for both Chorley and South
Ribble.
Improved museum, culture and tourism offer at South Ribble with the capacity to
develop a conservation plan for South Ribble Museum, a tourism strategy, and a
plan for operation of the Worden Hall site.

Governance



Reduction in corporate support staffing resource delivering savings of £17k per
council.
The reduction in resource has been enabled by streamlining the corporate
support team and looking to create a consistent approach across the councils.
The review has still delivered resilience and flexibility to meet demand through a
shared team of 8.57 FTE.

Agenda Page 50




Agenda Item 7

Increased capacity for Health and Safety from 1 officer role at each council to 3
shared posts (team leader, officer, and trainee.)
The trainee role provides an opportunity for current employees or local residents
looking for a career in health and safety and the new structure provides clear
succession planning and progression opportunities for key roles.

Risk Register


The following risk register provides a summary of the key risks for shared
services, in addition to the actions and controls that are in place to mitigate the
potential impact on the councils.



Since the last report in June 2021, additional actions have been identified to
support staff uncertainty and wellbeing, including more opportunities for staff to
meet face-to-face following the easing of Covid-19 restrictions and amendments
to the Shared Change Policy to ensure a clear and consistent process is followed
during restructure processes.



4 risks are identified as medium-risk in relation to impact and likelihood, and 2
risks are identified as low-risk. Many of the risks are mitigated by the
governance arrangements for shared services including the shared services
agreement.



All risks will continue to be monitored as part of the shared services project and
corporate risk registers, and any changes in risk will be captured through
reporting to Shared Services Joint Committee.

Risk No.
(Rnn)
R1

Description
Organisational disruption
and impact on
performance and service
delivery

Controls in Place

Impact

Likelihood

Performance
management mechanisms have
been strengthened to ensure close
corporate oversight throughout
any shared services changes.

3

3

Matrix
Score
9

Actions Planned

Action Owner

A delivery programme will
be developed with clear
timescales and
milestones, supported by
the transformation team
to minimise impact
across the councils

Transformation

R2

Staff will be fully engaged and
consulted throughout the changes,
both informally and formally in line
with the refreshed Change Policy.

3

3

9

Lessons learned have
been incorporated into
the shared Change Policy
to ensure that managers
follow consistent
restructure processes
with realistic timescales.

In progressto be agreed
following
consultation
in Jan 22.

Project Team/
HR & OD

Ongoing

Agenda Item 7

Staff uncertainty and
impact on workforce
wellbeing

Additional capacity has
been proposed for the
Customer Services and
Revenues & Benefits
Review to minimise the
risk of service disruption
during the transformation
to a single operating
model.
Specific training and
support plans will be put
in place for all staff as
well as leadership
support for senior
management.

In progressto be agreed
Feb 22

Agenda Page 51

A reviewed monitoring
approach for Shared
Services has been
proposed to SSJC to
allow for more frequent
reporting as we move into
implementing Phase 2
services.

Target
Action Date
Completed

Additional learning and
development support is
available for teams where
there has been a large
impact from change.

Wider strategic changes to
local government
structures

Both organisations are fully
engaged and working proactively
to understand the implications of
local government reorganisation.
Shared services helps to
strengthen the strategic position of
both councils and the ability to
influence and shape change
through greater scale.

3

2

6

R4

Change in political control
leading to a lack of cross
party support

Arrangements specified in the
shared services agreement
including an extended agreement
and exit arrangements.

3

2

6

Agenda Item 7

R3

Agenda Page 52

Events are being planned
to encourage more faceto-face interaction and
communication between
shared services
colleagues and staff from
across both
organisations. This will
help to develop a shared
culture with a strong
focus on wellbeing and
support.

R5

Loss of sovereignty

Both councils retain political
independence and decision
making. Robust governance and
clear protocols within the shared
services agreement ensure that
both councils maintain individual
sovereignty.

3

1

3

R6

Different levels of future
budgets for shared
services across both
councils

Shared Services provides
opportunities for continued savings
for both councils.

3

1

3

Agenda Page 53

The shared services agreement
recognises committed budgets for
each council.

Agenda Item 7

Agenda Page 54

Agenda Item 7

Shared Services- Best Practice

1. One of the benefits of shared services that has been identified as a main objective of the
programme is the opportunity for the sharing of skills, expertise, experience, and best
practice between the councils.
2. The shared services reviews have provided the opportunity to review the systems and
processes in place across both Chorley and South Ribble, with the aim of developing a
workable single operating model for the services in line with examples of best practice
from each council, alongside other public and private sector organisations. For example,
to ensure that new shared systems support the modernisation of services across the
councils, the shared ICT review has included principles for ensuring that decisions on
system procurement are based on objective measures such as meeting key
specifications, userability, and overall contract costs. Similarly, new shared HR policies
have been developed with consideration for current industry best practice, with the
improved policies offering more robust, user-friendly and future-proof policies and
processes across both councils.

3.

Some further examples of best practice that has been shared between the councils is
outlined below:
South Ribble – Chorley


Performance and Project Leads Network: The network brings together colleagues
who are involved in delivering key/ corporate projects and those who have
responsibility for collecting and authorising indicators and performance. It provides an
opportunity for training and sharing of best practice in these areas, with each session
focusing on a specific topic, and also provides an opportunity to discuss how the
management of performance and projects could be improved. The sessions are key
to improving engagement with the shared project management methodologies and
performance management framework in place across the councils.



HR Policies: Shared services has provided an opportunity to review the HR policies
across Chorley and South Ribble and develop new shared policies which reflect best
practice across the organisations and the wider sector. One example of this is the
proposed Improving Attendance Policy which is most similar to the current South
Ribble policy and ensures a flexible approach that is supportive of staff. The policy
focuses on managers identifying and acting on areas of concern and, if approved, will
replace the previous approach at Chorley which has focused on trigger or action
points.



Systems: Several business systems that have previously been used at South Ribble
have been procured for use in the shared teams due to their efficiencies or ability to
offer a more complete solution to meet key specifications. One example of this is the
use of the HFX system which will provide functionality for both door access and time
management, which are currently managed by two separate solutions at Chorley.

Agenda Page 55

Agenda Item 7

Similarly, Citizenspace is now used for surveys and consultation in place of
SurveyMonkey as it offers a more comprehensive functionality.


Legal specialisms: The review of legal services has provided an opportunity to
review the resource and capacity within the team and how this is focused to meet key
priorities and objectives. Shared services has enabled the restructure of the service
to consider specialised roles for the legal team, something that was previously in
place at South Ribble. The service is split into separate teams which will provide a
lead for key aspects of the service’s work, enabling staff to be more focused in their
specialist areas, develop and maintain expertise, and better manage capacity for key
pieces of work.



Customer services- specialised teams: The review of the shared Customer
Services and Revenue & Benefits service has introduced a service model and
structure based around specialist teams for Customer Services, Revenues, and
Benefits functions. This approach is similar to the structure currently in place at South
Ribble, with the review focused on enabling customers to have direct access to a
specialist in the area related to their enquiry, by creating teams of specialists for the
functions with the largest volumes of customer contact. Another benefit of this
approach is that it allows staff to practice and maintain specialist skills whilst
developing routes of progression for staff as they gain more specialised and technical
knowledge.



Green agenda: The expertise and experience at South Ribble in relation to Climate
Change and the Green Agenda, alongside the similarities between the boroughs,
have been utilised at Chorley to help develop a programme of work to address
climate change and other environmental issues. Whilst Chorley have also introduced
their own projects in relation to the needs of the borough and the priorities of the
administration, the Council has also drawn upon best practice from South Ribble
such as the Tree Planting/ Giveaway programme.

Chorley- South Ribble


Governance: Some of the existing policies and frameworks from Chorley have been
reviewed and refreshed to meet the needs of South Ribble in relation to the Annual
Governance Statement Action Plan. This has included areas such as an
Organisational Development Strategy to support increased structure and resource for
OD programmes including employee engagement and learning and development.
Other examples included a reviewed performance management approach and Key
Contracts and Partnerships framework. This has helped to ensure that robust
governance systems are in place to ensure that the council is transparent and
accountable as an organisation.



Service Leads: The shared services reviews have established a Service Lead
management level to provide strategic oversight of priorities, additional management
capacity and resource for senior leadership. This has ensured that there is the right
level of management resource in place in the shared services at South Ribble,
enabling the efficiencies that have been created through the Shared Director posts.

Agenda Page 56

Agenda Item 7



Systems: Some of the in-house systems at Chorley have been adapted for use at
South Ribble in order to deliver cost or productivity efficiencies, for example the
performance management system and performance review process. Chorley has
also carried out a large programme of ICT work over the last few years to ensure
automation and best use of systems in order to make the most out of new
technology. Where it has been reviewed to meet user specifications and deliver cost
effectiveness, joint procurement has been carried out to deliver increased automation
at South Ribble.



Events, graphic design and museums: Shared services has introduced dedicated
teams for events, graphic design, and museums, tourism and culture to South Ribble,
allowing for the sharing of expertise and specialist knowledge in relation to these
areas. This approach has provided additional capacity for service delivery and helped
to ensure a consistent approach to branding.



OD Programme: An OD strategy and programme has been introduced at South
Ribble based on best practice applied in Chorley for a number of years. Tried and
tested initiatives have been shared with teams at South Ribble and adapted to
ensure local identity, as well as developing new schemes. Examples include an
employee engagement forum, Staff Listening Days, enhanced performance review
process and e-learning hub. Benefits include the implementation of more regular ‘job
and development discussions’ to ensure that staff regularly have the opportunity to
discuss personal progress with their manager. The online learning hub has enabled
key training and development materials to be available and easily accessible to all
staff in an interactive and engaging format, particularly during the restrictions of the
pandemic.



Transformation: Chorley have used a Transformation Strategy for several years to
set out how the council will achieve financial sustainability and support changes to
the way that people work including in relation to service delivery or customer needs.
The introduction of a similar strategy at South Ribble ensures that there is a clear
and measurable approach to transformation at the council.

Agenda Page 57

Agenda Item 7

Appendix B

Pest Control Shared Service Delivery

Purpose of the Report
1.

To set out proposals for a shared pest control service.

Background to the report
2.

The Pest Control Service in Chorley was highlighted as requiring a review prior to the
pandemic as it was recognised the service could be improved. Chorley offered limited
services in addition to the free rodent domestic service and had very few commercial
contract agreements. The service was delivered externally by a single pest control
technician therefore response times could be up to seven days and this posed a risk to
business continuity.

3.

In March 2020 the contractor delivering the pest control service at Chorley Council
was no longer in a position to deliver this service. Therefore, a temporary short-term
external service has remained in place during the pandemic. It has remained in place
longer than originally anticipated; however, this has now allowed an accurate annual
cost comparison in relation to an internal service.

Proposed staffing structure
4.

Based on the service delivery requirements the below staffing structure and costings
would be required to create a shared service.

5.

The capacity already in place at South Ribble (which consists of two Pest Control
Officers, managed by a Senior Environmental Health Manager) would be changed and
expanded to include:




6.

Management – (15%) Senior EHO and (5%) Service Manager
1 Pest Control Officer
3 Pest Control Technicians

The posts would be employed on the shared terms and conditions and the
employment of existing staff would continue with their existing employer.
Shared Management – existing posts to be
recharged for the time they spend managing the
service
1 FTE Pest Control Officer Grade 6
3 FTE Pest Control Technicians – Grade 5

£11,540
£36,379
£99,781

Total

£147,700

Agenda Page 58

Agenda Item 7

Plan for implementation

7.

As set out above, Chorley Council currently has in place temporary arrangements for
the delivery of its pest control service. The service is being undertaken by a third-party
operator. While the service is sufficient, the costs mean that a full procurement
exercise will need to be undertaken if the contract is extended further. It is for this
reason that these proposals are being presented to the Shared Services Joint
Committee separate to the more comprehensive consideration of the future
development of shared services.

8.

If the proposals to create a shared service are endorsed and approved, the capacity of
the service will be expanded alongside the wider changes needed for the
implementation of a shared service. These are set out in the table below.

Barrier

Short Term Solution

Staffing: there is currently a
vacancy within the existing team at
South Ribble

Recruitment 1x Pest
Control Technician is
currently advertised

ICT – As two separate services,
there are different ICT systems in
place to manage service requests
and appointments

All pest control officers will
be trained on the current
operations at each
authority and continue to
use these until required
developments and
improvements can be
implemented

Vehicles –2 additional vehicles
required, in addition to the existing
two at SRBC. A review and
procurement exercise of vehicle
usage at Chorley has just recently
been undertaken –there is an
anticipated wait of up to six months
for the vehicles if hire agreements
are agreed.

Temporary hire of 2x
Vans, until procured lease
vehicles can be provided

Long Term
Requirement
If the service delivery
proposal is agreed – a
further 2x Pest Control
Technicians will be
recruited
A joint ICT and Pest
Control project is
agreed to implement
an improved or new
shared common
working mobile
platform that is
compatible with both
CBC and SRBC back
office functions
Agree 2x additional
vans to be leased by
CBC on behalf of the
shared service or;
Purchase of two new
electric vans at an
approximate cost of
£54,000

Agenda Item 7

Agenda Page 59

New Shared Service Costings
9.

The below tables break down the anticipated overall shared service costings and
comparison to the current allocated budgets:

New Shared Service Costs:
Costs
Staffing 50/50
Equipment and supplies 50/50

Combined

SRBC

CBC

£147,700

£73,850

£73,850

£12,000

£6,000

£6,000

New Vans CBC (lease payments)

£7,000

Vans Operational Cost

£5,000

£2,500

£2,500

Total costs before income

£171,700

£82,350

£89,350

Forecast Income

-£66,000

-£46,000

-£20,000

After Income

£105,700

£36,350

£69,350

£68,368

£33,368

£35,000

£7,429

£5,770

£1,659

£29,903
£2,750 – van fitting
out and temporary
van rental if
required.

-£2,788

£32,691

Current budget – Pest Control
Current Budget – Management Costs
Change in Budget requirement
One off costs

£7,000

10.

The new service shared service would make a small saving of £2.8k for South Ribble
on existing service cost and an increase of £32.7k for Chorley. This increase for
Chorley should be considered against a £70k overspend in 21/22 following the existing
contractor no longer being available.

11.

Costs of management time are from existing budgeted employees. There is an
increase of cost to Chorley due to an element of South Ribble staff time being
charged.

12.

South Ribble has historically generated more income than Chorley in relation to pest
control. The new structure assumed a continuation of existing income levels at South
Ribble and an increase in income of £10k at Chorley bringing the budget to £20k.

13.

There is slight budget difference in regard to transport costs as South Ribble own their
vehicles and Chorley will look to lease theirs going forward.

14.

The costs are shown currently as a 50/50 split, the number of domestic treatments is
comparable across each borough. There is a larger income budget at SRBC due to
established commercial contracts, although there is a lower income budget at CBC
proposed at £20k it is anticipated resources will be required equally in order to initially
establish and implement commercial contractual agreements at CBC.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Page 61

Agenda Item 8

Report of

Meeting

Date

Chief Executive
(Introduced by the
Executive Leader of the
Council)

Council

Tuesday, 22 February
2022

Recruitment of Chief Executive
Is this report confidential?

No

Is this decision key?

Not applicable

Purpose of the Report
1.

To set out proposals for the recruitment of a new Chief Executive.

Recommendations to Council
2.

That council approve the proposals for the recruitment for a new Chief Executive.

Reasons for recommendations
3.

The recommendation is necessary to ensure continuity of delivery of the role Chief
Executive/Head of Paid Service.

Other options considered and rejected
4.

It was considered commencing an external recruitment process, however, this departs
from council policy and it was not felt appropriate in the circumstances.

Corporate priorities
5.

The report relates to the following corporate priorities:

Involving residents in improving their local
area and equality of access for all

A strong local economy

Clean, safe and healthy communities

An ambitious council that does more to
meet the needs of residents and the local
area

Agenda Page 62

Agenda Item 8

Background to the report
6.

As part of the expansion of shared services, the councils agreed to share their Chief
Executive post on a permanent basis. At that point, the existing postholder moved onto
a fixed term contract that comes to an end on 31 December 2022, when he will retire.

5.

This means that the Chief Executive post will become vacant. It is the intention of both
Chorley Council and South Ribble Borough Council to continue their shared service
relationship. Therefore, plans need to be put in place to recruit to the post and this
report sets out proposals for that process and subsequent changes.

6.

Our refreshed Policy states that all roles will be advertised internally (for a reasonable
time) unless there is a business reason not to. All permanent, temporary, casual and
agency staff will be eligible to apply for internal vacancies if they work for Chorley or
South Ribble Councils, or their wholly owned companies. For information on
recruitment as part of an organisational change process the Change policy should be
consulted.

Chief Executive Role and Salary
7.

A new job description for the shared Chief Executive was created and approved in
December 2020. It is proposed that this job description will continue to be used and it
is attached as Appendix A.

8.

The salary of the Chief Executive post is proposed to be set at £145,000, which is the
salary agreed when the post was established. The costs of the post will be split 50:50
between the councils.

Recruitment process
9.

As a shared post, the Shared Services Appointment Panel will be responsible for
undertaking the recruitment and making a recommendation to the full council meetings
for an appointment. It is intended that in the first instance that the post will be
advertised internally with external recruitment undertaken if an internal appointment is
not made.

10.

It is important that the recruitment process is robust, and that both councils are
confident that an appropriate candidate who will be able to fulfil the role effectively is
appointed. Set out below is a proposed process and timetable for the initial internal
recruitment process.

Advertise the post internally

28 February to 13 March

Applicants will be asked to apply for the role by submitting:



CV
Supporting statement that sets out the candidate’s
experience and skills in leadership, partnership working
and change management
 Supporting statement setting out the candidate’s approach
to supporting the councils to deliver their visions and
services
Shortlisting

w/c 14 March

Agenda Page 63

Agenda Item 8

Review of the applications and shortlisting by the shared services
appointment panel. Supported by an external advisor (such as
North West Employers or other recruitment advisor)

The panel will also agree the arrangements for the assessment
centre, including the questions and assessment criteria.
Assessment centre

w/c 21 March

The shared service appointments panel will agree the process for
the assessment centre, but it will likely include:






One to one meetings with the Leaders
Staff panel
Partner panel
Presentation
Panel interview

The process will be supported and advised by external advisors
If the appointments panel view that there is a suitable internal
candidate, then they will make a recommendation to full
council meetings

19 April (Chorley Council)
20 April (South Ribble
Borough Council)

11.

The timescales set out above provide time for an external recruitment exercise to be
undertaken if needed while still providing the opportunity for a planned transition to the
new Chief Executive. Delaying the process will decrease the time available for
handover and increase the risk that the council are not able to appoint a suitable
candidate before the current Chief Executive’s retirement.

12.

If an appointment is made through the initial recruitment, a transition plan will be
developed between the current and new postholders.

13.

If an internal appointment is not made, the same process will be followed for an
external recruitment, with the additional stage of advertising through greater.jobs and
local government trade press such as The MJ and LGC.

Climate change and air quality
14.

The work noted in this report does not impact the climate change and sustainability
targets of the Council’s Green Agenda and all environmental considerations are in place.

Agenda Page 64

Agenda Item 8

Equality and diversity
15.

The proposed recruitment will be in accordance with the two Council’s policies. These
policies were prepared to be complaint with equality and diversity legislation.

Risk
16.

The risks are contained in the body of the report. The proposal is to mitigate the risks
presented by the impending departure of the current Chief Executive. The early
commencement of this process will further mitigate the risk.

Comments of the Statutory Finance Officer
17.

The council’s share of the salary costs of the post are already including in the budget.

18.

The council’s share of the recruitment costs will be managed within existing budgets;
costs associated with an internal recruitment process are minimal, and will extend to
an external advisor, whereas with external recruitment additional costs would be
incurred in respect of advertising the post in the local government publications.

Comments of the Monitoring Officer
19.

As detailed in the report the proposal seeks to manage the transition in the role of
Chief Executive on the retirement of the current post holder. The proposal is in
accordance with council procedure and risk mitigations are appropriately addressed.

Background documents
There are no background papers to this report.
Appendices
Appendix A
Report Author:

Email:

Telephone:

Gary Hall

01257
gary.hall@chorley.gov.uk 515104

Date:
10
February
2022

Agenda Page 65

Agenda Item 9

Report of

Meeting

Date

Director of Finance
(Introduced by the Executive
Member for Resources)

Full Council

22nd February
2022

REVENUE BUDGET 2022/23, MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL
STRATEGY AND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2022-2025
PURPOSE OF REPORT
1.

To seek approval of the Executive’s Budget Strategy and proposals for the Revenue Budget
2022/23, together with the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and Capital Programme
for 2022-2025.

RECOMMENDATION(S)
2.

The Executive recommends that Council:
a) Approve the budget and proposals set out in this report, including the level of
Council Tax as set out in the Formal Council Tax Resolution, including Special
Expenses & Parish Precepts 2022/23, at Appendix A;
b) Note the advice of the Chief Finance Officer in relation to the robustness of the
estimates within the overall budget, including the risks contained within it and the
adequacy of the proposed level of financial reserves, as set out in the Statutory
Report at Appendices B1 – B3;
c) Approve the council’s Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) at Appendix C;
d) Note the council’s forecast Cumulative Budget Deficit and Budget Strategy 2021-22
to 2024-25 at Appendix D ;
e) Note the analysis of the movement in the 2022/23 Budget from the position
approved by Council in February 2021 at Appendix E;
f)

Approve the capital programme for 2021/22 to 2024/25 (Appendices F1, F2 & F3);

g) Approve the Capital Strategy at Appendix G;
h) Approve the Treasury Management Strategy at Appendix H and note the advice of
the treasury management consultants at Appendix H1;
i)

Approve the council’s Pay Policy at Appendix I for publication on the council’s
website from April 2022;

Agenda Page 66
j)

Agenda Item 9

Note the budget consultation 2022/23 Report at Appendix J;

k) Note the Assessing the Impact of Budget Proposals 2022/23 Report at Appendix K.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF REPORT
3.

The 2022/23 budget and the MTFS for the next 3 years have been updated to take account
of the following:






Due to the continued pressures on council budgets, alongside reduced levels of
funding from government to meet these increasing costs, the figures include a
proposed 1.99% increase in council tax in 2022/23;
The figures also include a proposed 1.99% increase in council tax in 2023/24 and in
2024/25; these proposals will be revisited each year as part of the budget setting
process and will be dependent upon the outcome of the government’s reviews of both
the future funding framework and the future distribution of funding between councils as
a consequence of the Fair Funding Review, the review of the business rates system
and the development of the ‘Levelling-Up’ agenda;
Continued investment is reflected in ongoing revenue budgets to ensure delivery of
corporate strategy priorities, and additional investment of almost £1.0m has been
identified for 2022/23 to support this;
Capital investments of over £56.0m are included in respect of corporate priority
projects over the period of the MTFS.

4.

The funding that the council receives is forecast to fall from over £17.0m in 2016/17 to
£13.5m by 2024/25. Despite this the council has been, and remains, ambitious in its
approach to addressing the budget deficit by generating efficiency savings and additional
income.

5.

The budget is set to ensure the objectives of the council’s Corporate Strategy priorities are
met;





6.

Involving residents in improving their local area and equality of access for all – we will
continue to work with our residents to address climate change and achieve our
commitment of being a carbon neutral council by 2030;
A strong local economy – providing support and grants for businesses and developing
our approach to apprenticeships, graduate and training posts in areas of high market
demand and supporting people into high quality employment;
Clean, safe and healthy communities – investing in local play and community facilities,
supporting the delivery of affordable homes and improving our leisure centres;
An ambitious council that does more to meet the needs of residents and the local area
- making improvements across the borough, supporting our young people, health and
wellbeing and local areas.

The council continues to invest in the borough and this budget includes £56.0m of capital
investment from 2022/23 to 2024/25. This includes investment in a new GP surgery in
Whittle-le-Woods, another extra care facility, with a GP surgery at Tatton ensuring that public
services continue to become more accessible, continuing to improve the town centre and
markets offer as well as investing in play and open spaces and in improved affordable
housing. The council will continue its success of investing in assets that benefit residents and
businesses whilst also generating a net income to the council.

Agenda Page 67

Agenda Item 9

Confidential report
Please bold as appropriate

Yes

No

Key Decision?
Please bold as appropriate

Yes

No

Reason
Please bold as appropriate

1, a change in service
provision that impacts upon
the service revenue budget
by £100,000 or more
3, a new or unprogrammed
capital scheme of £100,000
or more

2, a contract worth £100,000
or more

4, Significant impact in
environmental,
social
or
physical terms in two or more
wards

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)
(If the recommendations are accepted)
7.
To ensure the council complies with the statutory requirement to set a balanced budget for
2022/23.
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED
8.
None; setting the budget is a statutory requirement.
CORPORATE PRIORITIES
9.

This report relates to the following Strategic Objectives:

Involving residents in improving their local
area and equality of access for all



A strong local economy



Clean, safe and healthy communities



An ambitious council that does more
to meet the needs of residents and
the local area



BACKGROUND
10.

The Executive agreed the ‘2022/23 Draft Budget and the Summary Budget Position over
the Medium Term’ report at their meeting on 20th January 2022; a budget consultation then
followed. The report set out the Executive’s intention for spending and investment in the
borough over the course of the 2022/23 financial year.

11.

These papers expand upon that report and set out in more detail for Council the Executive’s
budget proposals in 2022/23.

BUDGET CONSULTATION RESULTS

12.

Consultation on the 2022/23 budget ran from the 24th January to 6th February 2022. The
consultation was publicised through various council channels, including 9,628 emails

Agenda Page 68

Agenda Item 9

delivered to residents who are signed up to receive communications via the MyAccount
feature on the council websites.
13.

The formal consultation received 214 qualitative responses through a one open question
format, via an online survey. As well as completing the online survey, respondents also
shared their views and comments using social media. Analysis of Social Media responses
have been grouped alongside the consultation responses. The feedback and summary
analysis of both the online survey and social media responses is shown at Appendix J.

14.

The responses have been collated and analysed to identify the main themes and then
grouped together based on whether they indicated a positive or negative response to the
proposals. It should be noted that responses often included more than one comment or
suggestion, covering more than one area. Where this occurred, the main area of comment
was selected.

15.

The following table outlines the distribution of positive, neutral, and negative responses from
respondents to the open question which asked for comments on the overall proposals. These
also include responses returned without relevant comment, where feedback was submitted
that was not relevant to the budget consultation proposals.
Status
Positive or neutral view of the
proposals
Negative view of the proposals
Returned without comment*

%
50.9%
30.4%
18.7%

*responded but did not comment on the investment proposals
16.

The majority of the positive comments (77%) indicated general acceptance of the proposals,
with some residents stating that they were ‘logical’ and ‘sensible’. In addition to this,
comments also referenced a positive view towards the Green Agenda (8%), Events &
Tourism (11%). Other themes mentioned by positive comments include Council Tax (2%)
and Leisure and Sport (2%).

17.

The majority of the negative comments (30.8%) related to the cost of living, with respondents
indicating this as their reason for disagreeing with the proposals. There were also negative
comments around the proposed Council Tax increase (16.9%). In addition, there were
negative comments (24.6%) in relation to the proposed increase in the garden waste service,
with respondents querying why this is a separate charge, or noting that the service is not
required during the winter months. Feedback also referenced the current economic context
and post pandemic challenges.

2022/23 BUDGET – FUNDING SOURCES
Spending Review 2021 and Final Local Government Finance Settlement
18.

Uncertainty continues regarding the council’s future funding streams, with the government
announcing a further one-year financial settlement for 2022/23 rather than the expected
multi-year settlement. The figures included in the 2022/23 Budget are based on the Final
Local Government Finance Settlement that was published on 7 February 2022.

Business Rates

Agenda Page 69

Agenda Item 9

19.

The 2022/23 budget assumes that the Lancashire Business Rates Pool will continue and
the council will remain a member; Chorley Council benefits from additional business rates
income of approximately £0.849m as a result of being in the pool. In the absence of any
further information regarding changes in the business rates system, the pool is assumed to
continue throughout the period of the MTFS.

20.

Forecasting the level of business rates income beyond 2022/23 remains complicated due to
the level of uncertainty in this area. Following various government announcements, councils
have been expecting reforms to the business rates system for over four years. In March
2020, the government published the Terms of Reference for the Business Rates Review,
setting out that the objectives of this were to reduce the overall burden on business, to
improve the current business rates system and to consider more fundamental changes in
the medium-to-long term. In March 2021, the government published their Interim Report of
the review, with their final report issued in October 2021.

21.

The government has concluded from their review;





that business rates are a vital component of the business tax mix;
that they wish to preserve the benefits of business rates but will make changes to
make their operation fairer and more effective for businesses;
that they are not proposing changing the nature of the tax, or the basis of valuation;
moving forward, they have concluded that increasing the frequency of revaluations
would represent a fundamental and meaningful improvement to the business rates
system and would help to ensure greater distributional fairness; currently,
revaluations are scheduled to take place every 5 years although in practice, and due
in part to the pandemic, these have only taken place about every 6-7 years. As such
government has announced a 3-yearly cycle for business rates revaluations, starting
from the next revaluation in 2023.

22.

In light of the above, the quantum of business rates that will remain available to the council
after the reset is uncertain.

23.

It is also likely however that the level of funding that councils retain from business rates will
be reviewed across the country as part of the government’s ‘levelling up’ agenda and will
flow from the outcome of the Fair Funding Review, however no date has been set for these
reforms. As such, in the absence of any further information, the budget assumes the council
will retain the current level of business rates enjoyed as part of the Lancashire Pool
throughout the three year period of the MTFS.

Council Tax
24.

The Local Government Finance Settlement confirmed a council tax increase limit for district
councils of up to 2% or £5 (whichever is the greater) on a Band D equivalent in 2022/23. No
announcement has been made regarding future years', however it is assumed that the
same principles will continue throughout the future three-year budget period.

25.

The Local Government Finance Settlement publishes the Core Spending Power available
to local authorities. This is the level of resources that the government assumes councils will
have available to them and is predicated on all councils across the country increasing
council tax up to the referendum limit of 2% (or 5% for authorities with social care
responsibilities) year-on-year. As such, if the council were to freeze council tax it would
create a gap over the medium-term between the amount of funding that government
assumes it has, and the amount that it would actually generate. This will be important when
the government implements the changes following the Fair Funding Review; i.e. when

Agenda Page 70

Agenda Item 9

setting the level of business rates to be retained by the council, the government will assume
that the council enjoys a higher level of council tax to compensate for any potential fall in
business rates; this will be based on the assumption that it will have increased council tax
up to the referendum limit each year.
New Homes Bonus
26.

Funding from New Home Bonus (NHB) is assumed to discontinue in 2023/24. The
provisional settlement announced an allocation of £886k for 2022/23. No further allocation
is assumed after 2022/23. The government consulted on the future of NHB between
February and April 2021 and is due to consult on proposed reforms shortly, with a view to
implementing reform in 2023/24. It is expected that a replacement to this funding stream will
be announced, however nothing further is known as to how the scheme will operate and
what additional levels of funding, if any, will be made available to the council. Once more,
this creates a significant degree of uncertainty for the council.

Lower Tier Services Grant and Services Grant
27.

As referenced above, every year the government calculates the council’s core spending
power; this is a combination of the council’s council tax income, business rates income and
new homes bonus grant allocation. The government has retained the Lower Tier Services
Grant to compensate the council in 2022/23 for the reduction in funding identified through
the core spending power calculation; first introduced in 2021/22, this is a non-recurring, unringfenced grant of £506k.

28.

In 2022/23 the government has also provided an additional grant, the Services Grant, again
non-recurring and non-ringfenced, and distributed on the same basis as the Lower Tier
Services Grant; the council’s allocation of this is £203k.

29.

Whilst a benefit to the 2022/23 budget, the one-off nature of these funding streams does
mean that the council continues to face significant financial uncertainty over the medium
term.

Summary of Major Sources of Council Funding
30.

The chart below outlines the forecast level of funding for the council across the next three
years in comparison to previous allocations. As the government has only published a oneyear settlement, it is assumed that the Lower Tier Services Grant, the Services Grant and
the New Homes Bonus will not continue in 2023/24 and beyond.

31.

As the graph shows, funding to Chorley Council is forecast to fall from over £17.6m in
2016/17 to £13.5m by 2024/25

Agenda Item 9

Agenda Page 71

Major Sources of Council Funding
20
18
1.40
16

1.01

0.73
0.93

14

2.79
4.57

4.01

£ million

12

2.99

2.35

1.49

0.71
0.71

0.21

Lower Tier Services Grant Allocation
Revenue Support Grant

10
8

0.52

4.38

4.32

4.39

5.26

4.80

5.01

5.23

5.30

5.38

Income from LCC
New Homes Bonus
Retained Business Rates

6

Council Tax

4
6.24

6.50

6.82

7.13

7.19

7.37

7.62

7.74

7.97

2
0
16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25

2022/23 BUDGET – EXPENDITURE

Pay Award
32.

The 2020 Government spending review announced a pay freeze for 2021/22 for the
majority of public sector staff, with a guaranteed a pay rise of at least £250 for all staff that
earn less than £24,000 per year. At the time of writing this report, the pay negotiations are
still ongoing for 2021/22, with the current offer of 1.75% made by the Employers having
been rejected by the Trade Unions. The budget has however been adjusted to reflect an
uplift of 1.75% in line with the current offer.

33.

In the Spending Review in October 2021, the Chancellor said that pay awards for public
sector workers in 2022/23 would be in line with CPI. With the negotiations for 2021/22 yet to
conclude, and no fixed point in time announced for the determination of CPI, a provision of
2% has been made in the pay budget, which equates to approximately £200k per year for
Chorley Council in 2022/23; the government’s proposals are not yet agreed with public
sector unions.

34.

The spending review also announced that the National Living Wage will rise from £8.91 to
£9.50 an hour and will be extended to workers aged 23 and over from April 2022. This will
not affect Chorley Council’s pay bands for 2022/23 as the council pays above this level
already.

Agenda Page 72

Agenda Item 9

Pensions
35.

As part of their triennial pension review in 2019, the Lancashire County Pension Fund
announced an increase in employer pension contributions for the council from 14.4% to
16.4% for each of the three financial years 2020/21 to 2022/23, to meet the future costs of
the scheme. The same contribution rate is assumed for 2023/24 and 2024/25, although this
will be reviewed when the new three-year review is undertaken later this year.

Brexit and Covid 19
36.

Concerns remain about the impact of the United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the European
Union (BREXIT). Much speculation continues around the likely financial effects of the leave
arrangements, with potential risks to the council including increases in inflation and a
slowdown in the local economy, impacting upon rental and property values and on income
collected from business rates and council tax. In 2021/22 we have seen costs rise, for
example:




37.

those driven by a shortage of HGV drivers which may continue to impact on the waste
contract;
increases in the costs of building materials sourced from the continent impacting on
the cost of our capital programme and;
increases in the cost of food, both due to the cost of imports and due to the shortage
of workers in the agricultural sector within our own economy as European workers
have returned home; these cost increases have impacted upon the finances of our
residents.

The financial impact of Covid-19 has been outlined in the quarterly budget monitoring
reports approved by Executive Cabinet throughout 2021/22. This includes:





38.

forecast reductions in council tax and business rates collection rates;
government grant funding received to support various initiatives, including support
to businesses, providing additional homelessness and food support to residents
and support for the test and trace systems;
government support for the reduced level of income received from fees and
charges for the first 3 months of 2021/22, including reduced levels of car parking
and leisure services income;
reductions in rents at the council’s retail and commercial sites

As part of the budget setting process for 2022/23, and the two years beyond, the following
assumptions have been made regarding Covid-19 and the economy as a whole:

Income






that a net surplus from Strawberry Fields will be realised from 2023/24 onwards;
that income from the Market Walk development will be reduced for the foreseeable
future, by at least £166k, as the retail industry adjusts to a post-Covid
environment. It is assumed however that the extension to the Market Walk
shopping centre will become fully occupied in the coming twelve months.
that the impact of Covid-19 on the income from fees and charges will not be
permanent and that levels will return to those pre-Covid, including the council’s
major sources of income such planning fees and car parking;
that Garden Waste charges will increase from £30 to £32.50 per annum, which
represents an increase of 8.3% or additional income of £65k. This would be the
first increase since charges were introduced back in 2017, representing an
average annual increase of less than 1.4%. The increase in the subscription
charge recognises the increased cost of delivering the service, which has come
under pressure, not least over the last year due to factors such as a shortage of

Agenda Page 73

Agenda Item 9

HGV drivers. In comparison to the proposed increase in the subscription charge,
inflation has increased by 15.4% over the same period. Chorley Council’s charges
will remain comparable to those of the other Lancashire Districts, many of which
charge £35 or more per annum;

Expenditure




that any expenditure relating to the council’s compliance with current or future
government Covid-19 requirements will be met through existing budgets or grants
from the government. This may include future grants to businesses, support to the
homelessness or support to residents such as additional council tax support;
that the council will continue to support its wholly owned leisure services company,
which was established on 1 August 2021 in response to the failure of the leisure
operator market. While the leisure market remains extremely challenging, it is
expected that this cost to the council will cease over the medium-term as the
company develops its services to fully cover its own costs. Officers, as part of the
company’s board, will develop a business plan for the Executive Cabinet to
approve on behalf of the council as the 100% shareholder of the company. This
will set out the plan for the reduction in net costs to the council over the coming
years.

Budget Deficit
39.

The council’s total budget deficit is summarised in Table 1 below and is based upon the
reduction in funding described above and key budget assumptions. It should be noted that
some of the assumptions are still subject to change, which may impact positively or
negatively on the budget.

Table 1: Cumulative Gross Budget Deficit

2022/23
£m
Council Tax (incl Collection Fund
adjustments)
Retained Business Rates
Lower Tier Services Grant
Allocation
New Homes Bonus
TOTAL FUNDING
TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE
BUDGET DEFICIT

40.

2023/24
£m

2024/25
£m

(7,472)

(7,441)

(7,514)

(5,229)

(5,305)

(5,382)

(709)

0

0

(886)
0
0
(14,296) (12,746) (12,896)
16,032

16,105

16,463

1,736

3,359

3,567

All deficits and savings identified in Table 1, and in the remainder of this report, are
cumulative. For example, the deficit of £3.359m in 2023/24 identified above is the result of a
£1.736m deficit in 2022/23 and further budget pressures and reduced funding of £1.623m
identified for 2023/24.

Agenda Item 9

Agenda Page 74

Table 2: Key Budget Assumptions

Key Assumptions
Growth in the council’s Council Tax base

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

1.0%

1.0%

1.0%

1.99%

1.99%

1.99%

0%

0%

0%

Financial benefit of membership of the Lancashire
Business Rate Pool

£0.849m

£0.881m

£0.915m

New Homes Bonus

£0.886m

£0

£0

Lower Tier and Services Grant Allocation

£0.709m

£0

£0

Income from LCC – £110k contribution to Minor
Adaptations Works and £96k contribution towards
support for waste collection

£0.210m

£0.210m

£0.210m

Increase in Garden Waste charges

£0.065m

£0.065m

£0.065m

16.4%

16.4%

16.4%

£0.450m

£0.467m

£0.467m

2%

2%

2%

Council Tax increases
Increase in Retained Business Rates through Growth

Future Service Pension Rate
Pension Fund Deficit Recovery
Pay Award (average)

41.

A detailed breakdown of the three-year budget including the gross budget deficit is provided
in Appendix D of this agenda. Included in this appendix are the revenue budget implications
regarding the council’s capital projects.

42.

As with other assumptions it should be noted that the profile of expenditure and income is
potentially subject to change.

43.

Risks surrounding these budget assumptions may be managed through the use of general
reserves. A full description of risks are provided in Appendix B1-B3, in the Chief Finance
Officer’s report in relation to the robustness of the estimates within the overall budget,
including the risks contained within it and the adequacy of the proposed level of financial
reserves, on this agenda.

BRIDGING THE BUDGET GAP

44.

45.

Funding to Chorley Council has fallen from over £17.6m in 2016/17 to a forecast figure of
£13.5m in 2024/25. During the period to date, the council has continued to experience
inflationary increases in staffing and non-staff costs, however the council has been ambitious
in its approach to meeting the budget deficit by realising efficiency savings and generating
additional income.
The council has been successful in controlling its costs whilst continuing to provide the
high-quality services that are expected by its residents. The council achieves this by
continually reviewing its budgets and contracts as well as exploring and investing in

Agenda Item 9

Agenda Page 75

alternative delivery models, this has included sharing services with South Ribble Borough
Council.
46.

The council will continue to invest in the borough to improve housing, to provide
employment opportunities and to maximise opportunities to generate income, thereby
making the council less reliant on the increasingly uncertain funding from government.
Table 3: Balancing the Budget
2022/23
£m
TOTAL BUDGET DEFICIT
Income Generation (net of
borrowing and running costs)
Market Walk Site
Primrose Retirement
Strawberry Fields
Investment in Logistics House Site

2023/24 2024/25
£m
£m

1,736

3,359

3,567

(851)
(129)
23
(434)

(862)
(125)
(124)
(433)

(861)
(123)
(121)
(432)

(65)

(65)

(65)

Investment Sites

(133)

(335)

(335)

Council Tax Increase – 1.99%
21/22, 22/23 & 23/24

(146)

(298)

(453)

0

1,117

1,178

Increase Garden Waste
Subscription

NET DEFICIT / (SURPLUS)
47.

The Market Walk development has notably improved the town centre, providing new jobs
and delivering on the council’s ambition and vision to regenerate the town centre. The total
net income (after borrowing) from the Market Walk site is estimated at £851k in 2022/23.

48.

All 65 Primrose Gardens apartments are now occupied. In pursuing this Corporate
Strategy project, the council has supported people to live independently whilst receiving the
care and support needed to enjoy later life whilst generating a net income of approximately
£129k for the council.

49.

The £8.5m investment in Strawberry Fields Digital Office Park had reached 40%
occupancy prior to the Covid-19 pandemic. Since then the council has managed the site as
efficiently as possible including:



renegotiating with the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) additional
flexibility as to the mix of tenants the council were eligible to attract to the site;
utilising the remaining capital budget to reconfigure the internal floor area to
maximise interest from potential tenants

There remains significant interest in the site with 100% of office space now taken, and the
budget forecasts a gradual increase in income, beginning with a break-even position in
2022/23 and then rising to a net income to the council of £124k for 2023/24 onwards.

Agenda Page 76
50.

Agenda Item 9

On 23 July 2019 Full Council approved the £33m purchase of the Logistics House site in
Buckshaw. The council leases the building back to the current tenant via a wholly owned
company with an expected net income, after borrowing costs, of £434k. The council set
aside the initial net income in 2020/21 to create an income equalisation reserve that will be
used to manage any budget implications of the site becoming vacant; the income
equalisation reserve is still available.

ADDITIONAL INVESTMENT IN CORPORATE PRIORITIES

51.

The council continues to invest in delivering the ambitions set out in its Corporate Strategy
and to ensure that the council delivers high quality services to its residents. The key areas
of investment are set out on the following pages.

Investing in corporate priorities 2021/22
The council allocates significant revenue investment to deliver corporate strategy priorities through a programme of diverse
activities. These activities were designed to progress action to address the economic impact of the pandemic including support
for businesses and activity to increase jobs and skills, establishing key assets for the future and to respond to the needs of
communities by enhancing essential services and facilities.

Involving residents in improving their
local area and equality of access for all

£400k to fund our large commissions which have
delivered crucial third sector support to residents
against key priorities during the building back
better Covid-19 recovery.

council’s CCTV operations centre to ensure
continued
safe
neighbourhoods
and
communities.
£120k to contribute to running of the Youth Zone
including outreach work.

£100k to support planning applications that
has enabled the council to defend locally made
decisions.
£60k to continue to support vulnerable
individuals through funding for the social
prescribing team with over £100k of match
funding from the NHS.

A strong local economy
£500k to remove the asbestos and demolition
of the bingo hall to make way for public realm
works in the town centre making the town
centre an even better place to live and work.
Continued support to local businesses with
over £200k set aside to deliver a refreshed
package of support and grants that will be
created to support local economic recovery

Agenda Item 9

Clean, safe and healthy homes and
communities
Clean,
safe and healthy homes and
communities
£100k which has funded crucial works to the

£85k to continue to sustain key bus routes in
the borough to mitigate the impact of county
wide cuts, ensuring that residents can access
all areas of the borough.

Agenda Page 77

£1.6m capital budget to continue the
improvements to Astley Hall that offers a high
quality, sustainable visitor attraction with the site
already successfully hosting the Speaker’s
Conference during 2021.

An ambitious council that does more
to meet the needs of residents and
the local area

Investment Priorities 2022/23

In 2022/23 the Council will allocate a further £0.9m of revenue investment and will continue to deliver it’s £56m capital programme to drive forward
ambitions for economic growth and ensure that Chorley is an even more attractive place to live, work and invest with high quality recreation grounds,
health services and business development.
An ambitious council that does more to meet the needs of residents and the local area
The council has invested heavily in recent years to upgrade and improve play areas and open spaces that it
owns. Many play areas across the borough are owned by others but need improving. We will create £200k
of grant funding to make improvements in other areas across the Borough, supporting our young people,
health and wellbeing and local areas.
Check Out Chorley helps visitors discover and explore the many things to do in and around the borough, we
will create a £30k fund to refresh Check Out Chorley to ensure visitors continue to see Chorley as a great
visitor destination.

The council has long-supported local businesses through support, advice and grants. As the economy
recovers from the pandemic, we will invest a further £200k in a refreshed and refocussed package of
support and grants for businesses.
As the economy and jobs market changes, there are areas across the council where recruitment is difficult.
We will invest £200k to develop our approach to apprenticeships, graduate and training posts in areas of
high market demand – building resilience and improving quality in our service provision and supporting
people into high quality employment.

Tatton Gardens Extra Care
Scheme – £16m to deliver another
extra care scheme for the
borough, a new community centre
and GP surgery for the area.
Strawberry Meadows – £11.4m
to deliver light industrial units for
business use to drive forward local
economic growth.

Agenda Item 9

Whittle Health Hub – £3.5m of
investment to develop a new GP
Involving residents in improving their local area and equality of access for all
The council has already undertaken significant work to address climate change and achieve our commitment
surgery which will be modern and
of being a carbon neutral council by 2030. £500k was set aside last February and work undertaken to develop
high-quality health facility for
A strong local economy
a climate change strategy, tree planting and awareness raising. To maintain this commitment and maintain
Whittle-le-Woods.
the climate fund at £500k, a further investment of £240k will be made.
The council will support communities to celebrate the Queens Jubilee by creating a £30k events fund
Council
Accommodation
improvements – £1.3m to
deliver improvements in line with
Clean, safe and healthy homes and communities
the principles of the workplace
The council will continue to improve local play and community facilities across the borough with an
strategy and enabling a more
investment of £2.7m and an additional £74k to deliver improvements at Milestone Meadow.
modern organisation that can
Affordable housing remains a key priority for the council and in 22/23 there will be an investment of £0.9m to
respond
to
customer
support the delivery of affordable housing.
The council has made significant improvements to our leisure centres over the last year, in 22/23 we will
expectations.
invest £2m as a continued commitment to improve our leisure centres.

Agenda Page 78

A strong local economy

Key capital investment for
improved public services

Agenda Page 79

Agenda Item 9

Medium Term Financial Planning and Transformation Strategy
52.

Despite the budget savings identified in this report, as outlined above at point 46, there
remain large forecast budget deficits of £1.117m in 2023/24 and £1.178m in 2024/25. The
council’s medium-term plans to reduce the budget deficits are outlined in the Medium Term
Financial Strategy 2022/23 to 2024/25 at Appendix C.

53.

The transformation strategy covers many aspects of change both within the council and in
partnership with other organisations. The main strands of the strategy that could generate
savings and income are also outlined within Appendix C.

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021/22 to 2024/25

54.

Details of the capital programme, including new capital investment, are outlined in Appendix
G1. The capital programme for 2021/22 to 2024/25 totals £56m and is an indication of how
ambitious the council is in delivering its Corporate Strategy and the priorities within it.

55.

A breakdown of the capital programme is detailed below;

2.601

Capital Investment in Chorley Council Corporate Strategy
2021/22 to 2024/25 £m
A strong local economy

22.630
An ambitious council that does more to meet
the needs of residents and the local area

26.581
4.375

Clean, safe and healthy homes and
communities
Involving residents in improving their local area
and equality of access for all

56.

Chorley Council continues to invest through its capital programme to deliver on its ambitions.
This will include:






57.

Improving local health services, including the new Whittle GP surgery and Tatton
Gardens.
Improving and transforming the leisure centres to encourage our residents to be
active and healthy.
Continuing to support local service centres and local businesses
Driving economic development and delivering income generation through the
Strawberry Meadows development
Supporting our town centre through the town centre masterplan

The council’s capital programme is constructed based upon several objectives including the
requirement to be affordable and prudent. To do this the council will ensure that whenever
possible, the impact of additional investment on revenue budgets will be minimised. The

Agenda Page 80

Agenda Item 9

council has a number of sources of funding it can use to invest in the borough including,
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), section 106 funding, grant funding and capital receipts.
Where appropriate the council will also generate future revenue income streams through
capital investment to exceed the repayment of borrowing.

CAPITAL FINANCING

58.

The financing of the capital programme for the period 2021/22 to 2024/25 is set out in
Appendix F2 to the budget report and summarised in the proceeding chart.

Capital Expenditure 2021/22 to 2024/25
35.000

External Contributions
CIL
Grants
Reserves and Revenue Contribution to Capital
New Homes Bonus
Capital Receipts

30.000

25.000

20.000

15.000

10.000

5.000

0.000
2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

59.

The capital programme includes a number of schemes that are forecast to generate revenue
that will meet the annual cost of borrowing required to complete the project. These include
the upcoming £16.1m Tatton scheme, the £11.4m development at Strawberry Meadows, the
£1.5m budget for purchasing affordable housing and the £3.5m development of the new GP
surgery in Whittle-le-Woods.

60.

The council will invest at least £4.2m over the coming three years of contributions from
developers as outlined in Appendix F2. A summary of section 106 funding received and
allocated is attached in Appendix F3

Agenda Page 81
61.

Agenda Item 9

Appendix G – Capital Strategy - to the budget report outlines the council’s capital strategy
including specific risks within the programme, performance indicators and the council’s
capital ambition beyond the three-year budget cycle.

CONCLUSION

62.

This paper outlines the Executive’s budget proposals for 2022/23 which are:





A balanced budget made possible by efficiency savings and increased income
delivered over the course of 2021/22;
A balanced budget set against a backdrop of uncertainty surrounding government
funding reforms for local government, expected to be implemented for 2023/24;
A balanced budget that through the successful delivery of successive financial
strategies to date, has provided for approximately £0.9m of revenue investment
packages in 2022/23 budget;
Investments are to be made in key areas to support the Corporate Strategy:
1. Involve Residents in improving their local area and equality of
access for all;
2. Clean, safe and healthy communities;
3. An ambitious council that does more to meet the needs of
residents and the local area;
4. A strong local economy.



An MTFS that reflects assumptions made and assessed in the light of the latest
information available at this time, and which is also compatible with:




the proposed Capital Strategy as set out in Appendix G
the proposed Treasury Management Strategy as set out in Appendix H
the proposed Pay Policy as set out in Appendix I

63.

The MTFS at Appendix C contains the updated budget forecasts to 2024/25 and identifies
that further budget savings will be required to bridge the funding gap over the three year
period. The forecasted budget deficit in 2024/25 is estimated to be £1.178m and the MTFS
sets out options that can be considered to bridge this gap and thereby strengthen the
council’s financial position over the longer term.

64.

The council will need to continue working hard and be innovative and creative in order to
continue to make efficiencies, whilst at the same time minimising the impact on services.
There are still factors that may affect the current forecast financial position, namely the
scheduled Fair Funding review, changes to the business rates system and the impact of the
recovery from Covid-19. The focus of the council’s approach will be to identify and deliver
income generating projects as well as generate further efficiencies as set out in the MTFS at
Appendix C of this report.

65.

The contents of this report are supplemented with additional reports, policies and statements
to provide further details as referenced below:

Agenda Page 82

Agenda Item 9

Formal Council Tax Resolution 2022/23 including
Special Expenses and Parish Precepts
Report of the Chief Finance Officer on the robustness of
Appendices B1 the estimates within the overall budget, including the
- B3
risks contained within it and the adequacy of the
proposed level of financial reserves
Delivering Our Priorities - Chorley Council Medium Term
Appendix C
Financial Strategy 2022/23 to 2024/25
Cumulative Budget Deficit & Budget Strategy 2021-22
Appendix D
to 2024-25
Analysis of movement in the 2022/23 Budget from the
Appendix E
position approved by Council in February 2021
Appendix A

Appendix F1

Capital Programme 2021/22 to 2024/25

Appendix F2

Capital Programme Financing 2021/22 to 2024/25

Appendix F3

Developer's Contributions 2017/18 to 2024/25

Appendix G

Capital Strategy

Appendix H

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/23 to 2024/25

Appendix H1

Advice of Treasury Management Consultants

Appendix I

Pay Policy 2022/23

Appendix J

Budget Consultation 2022/23

Appendix K

Assessing the Impact of 2022/23 Budget Proposals

IMPLICATIONS OF REPORT
66.

Some of figures outlined in the report are estimates and based on assumptions that are
likely to change. These include external risks such as changes to government funding
arrangements, changes to interest rates and national and local economic changes. In
addition, the council faces internal risks such as void rates in its income generating assets
and the risks of delivering transformational change.

67.

The risks are dealt with through managing prudent levels of reserves, continually monitoring
government announcements, monitoring current and future economic projections and by
making prudent budget assumptions.

68.

This report has implications in the following areas and the relevant Directors’ comments are
included:

Finance
Human Resources



Legal



No significant implications in this area

Customer Services
Equality and Diversity
Integrated Impact Assessment
required?
Policy and Communications




Climate change and air quality
69.

The budget set aside in this report, will continue to support the council’s future ambition to
become carbon neutral by 2030.

Agenda Page 83

Agenda Item 9

Equality and diversity
70.

Consultation has been undertaken regarding this budget with the Integrated Impact
Assessment reported at Appendix J to this report.

Risk
71.

There are no immediate risks associated with this report however not approving the final
budget report in February 2022 would risk the council being unable to finance its future
commitments to its corporate priorities.

Comments of the Statutory Finance Officer
72.

The financial implications are detailed within the text above but to clarify, all proposals are
funded and can be accommodated within the 2022/23 budget. It should be noted that the
report does contain several assumptions on some future budget elements and on the final
out-turn position for 2021/22. Should any of the assumptions or figures change due to
unforeseen circumstances arising before 31st March 2022, the financial position will be
reviewed and reported.

73.

The financial implications of the above report are detailed in the report and furthermore in
the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 to 2024/25 at Appendix C and the Chief
Finance Officer’s Report at Appendix B1.

74.

Consideration is given in Appendix G – Capital Strategy to the risks and opportunities
within the council’s capital programme.

COMMENTS OF THE MONITORING OFFICER
75.

The budget proposals are in accordance with the requirements of legislation

COMMENTS OF HUMAN RESOURCES AND ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT
76.

HR will support the implementation of the budget proposals in relation to any changes to
staffing resources in line with corporate policy and legislation.

COMMENTS OF TRANSFORMATION AND PARTNERSHIPS
77.

The potential equality implications of the proposal contained within this report are set out in
Appendix K and should be considered as part of the decision-making process.

LOUISE MATTINSON
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE (s151 OFFICER)

Report Author
Louise Mattinson

Ext

Date
14 February 2022

Doc ID

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Page 85

Agenda Item 9b

APPENDIX E
APPENDIX B1

Report of

Meeting

Date

Chief Finance Officer

Full Council

22nd February
2022

REPORT OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

PURPOSE OF REPORT
1.

Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 places a statutory requirement on the
council’s Chief Financial Officer to report on:
a)
b)

the robustness of the estimates within the overall budget, and;
the adequacy of the proposed level of financial reserves.

In setting the Budget for 2022/23, Council is required to have regard to this report
when making its budget decisions.

RECOMMENDATIONS
2.

An overall assessment of the proposed 2022/23 budget and the assumptions on
which this is based, including assumptions regarding cost pressures, income
streams, service delivery, inflation and the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic, has
identified that whilst there are risks, the overall budget provisions for the year are
considered sufficient to meet the council’s legal responsibilities and obligations.

3.

A review of risks, mitigations and contingencies has been undertaken alongside the
review of reserves and provisions.

4.

The Council is recommended to consider the assessment by the Director of Finance
(as Chief Finance Officer) of;


the robustness of the Revenue Budget and Capital Programme for 2022/23 (as
detailed in Appendices D and F1) and



the adequacy and recommended level of proposed financial reserves (detailed
at Appendix B3).

Agenda Page 86

Agenda Item 9b

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF REPORT
5.

The information provided below is to assist Members in their review of the overall
Revenue Budget and Capital Programme, and to provide assurance to them that
financial advice has been provided throughout the budget setting process

6.

The budget is based on the Final Local Government Finance Settlement that was
published on 7th February 2022 and also incorporates various financial and economic
assumptions that are detailed in the report. The council is operating in a period of
change and as such these assumptions may also change over time, such as those
pertaining to;




the Fair Funding Review
the Business Rates system
the development of the government’s Levelling-Up agenda

7.

Members will be kept informed of any developments that impact on the 2022/23
budget and the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) as the year progresses.

8.

In terms of the 2022/23 budget, all key budgets have been reviewed and amended to
reflect the ongoing cost of delivering current levels of service. To prepare for the
potential impact of any required changes to the assumptions made, the council will
retain sufficient levels of reserves to provide flexibility and to cushion the impact of any
adverse financial implications arising in the short term.

9.

The forecast is for a balanced budget in 2022/23 and that the council’s general fund
balances will be retained at over £4.0m.

10.

The general fund balance is required to manage short-term one-off risks to the
revenue budget.

11.

In addition, funds are also set aside as earmarked reserves that will support the
delivery of the council’s corporate strategic priorities of;





Involving residents in improving their local area and equality of access for all
A strong local economy
Clean, safe and healthy homes and communities
An ambitious council that does more to meet the needs of residents and the local
area

12.

The council continues to develop its Capital Strategy; this demonstrates that the
council’s capital expenditure and investment decisions are taken in line with corporate
objectives and take account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability
and affordability. I am satisfied that the Capital Strategy report at Appendix G,
provides this assurance to Members and outlines the strategic intent for the council
over the medium to long-term.

13.

Having reviewed the robustness of the estimates and the underlying assumptions
included in the 2022/23 budget, and commented on the position in relation to key risks
and working balances, I am satisfied that the budget assumptions are reasonable, the
key financial risks have been considered and the budget is deliverable.

14.

Further analysis of the risks to revenue and capital budgets are analysed at the end of
this report.

Agenda Page 87

Confidential report
Please bold as appropriate

Agenda Item 9b

Yes

No

CORPORATE PRIORITIES
15.

This report relates to the following Strategic Objectives and to the council’s ability to
deliver its corporate plan whilst ensuring a balanced budget is achieved. The MTFS
sets out how council resources will be used to deliver those priorities.

Involving residents in improving their local

area and equality of access for all
Clean, safe and healthy communities



A strong local economy



An ambitious council that does
more to meet the needs of
residents and the local area



BACKGROUND
16.

Under the requirements of Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 the Chief
Finance Officer is required to advise members when setting the budget as to the
robustness of the estimates and the adequacy of working balances.

BUDGET STRATEGY
17.

The council’s overall framework for its medium term budget is contained within the
MTFS.

18.

Development of the medium term strategy has been frustrated as, due to the
pressures of the pandemic, little movement has been made by the government in
progressing their intention to significantly change the way in which councils are
funded. Once again, local government has only been provided with a one-year
settlement for 2022/23, with significant uncertainty regarding the income streams in
future years.

19.

Although the government announced back in 2017/18 that consultations would be
undertaken to progress local government funding reform, these have been slow to
advance. The areas they have specifically stated will be subject to consultation and
review include;




a Fair Funding Review – resulting in the redistribution of funding across local
government;
a review of the Business Rates Retention scheme;
the future of the New Homes Bonus.

Their work has yet to conclude on this and so we have had to prepare the 22/23
Budget and MTFS over the three year period to 2024/25 with a lack of clarity over
future funding and funding mechanisms; we must now wait until more information is
provided on future changes to the funding framework before we can model the
financial impact on the council and provide more meaningful forecasts.

Agenda Page 88

20.

Agenda Item 9b

The budget strategy that is presented reflects council-wide involvement across
departments, from both Members and Officers, as it is based on an integrated
approach to the preparation of capital and revenue plans and the associated
strategies of managing risk and maintaining effective internal control; this approach
ensures strong financial management and governance

Budget and Tax Setting Process
21.

The annual budget preparation and tax setting process involves the development of
robust medium term revenue forecasts and capital plans. In any financial year, the
level of government funding, additional cost pressures (including inflation, service
specific pressures and areas of investment and growth), together with demand for
services, necessitates a re-appraisal of service delivery and identification of efficiency
savings to address any funding shortfall in order to deliver a balanced budget. The
Budget Strategy and proposals submitted have been formulated to reflect these
issues. We have also had to consider the ongoing response to, and future recovery
from, the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic.

22.

Throughout the formulation of the Budget Strategy, Executive Members have been
advised by the Chief Executive and Directors in relation to the operational
requirements around policy and legislative initiatives. Likewise, the Director of
Finance and senior finance representatives have advised on financial implications
and provided comprehensive input to demonstrate financial viability throughout the
process. In doing so, and to ensure the robustness of the budget and the budget
setting process, we have been mindful of;


Availability of reliable information;
 we have sought to ensure that the budget is based on the most up-to-date
and realistic assumptions (for example government and Bank of England
forecasts for pay and price increases and interest rate movements);
 we have incorporated information provided by government on funding, as
detailed within the one-year, 2022/23 Final Local Government Finance
Settlement, published on 7th February 2022;
 we have reviewed and realigned departmental budgets at the lowest
transactional level within overall department cash limits, to reflect changes
over time to ensure budgets are broadly in line with current levels of
income and expenditure;
 we have considered the financial consequences of the ongoing Covid-19
pandemic and the funding made available by government.



Council’s guidance and strategy;
 the council’s Constitution which contains a clear Budget and Policy
framework;
 the council’s Budget Strategy and approach to budget setting;
 consultation with residents, partners and businesses within the borough
and targeted engagement with service users. Over the year this has
included consultation on the budget proposals asking residents to provide
feedback on the overall proposals with an open ended question. The
consultation ran from the 24 January to the 6 February 2022 and was
publicised through various Council channels. We received 214 responses
through an online survey, and 20 responses through social media.

Agenda Page 89

Agenda Item 9b



Corporate approach and integration;
 service departments have identified budget pressures and risks
throughout the course of the year, not only in relation to their continued
response to Covid-19, but also in respect of delivering their ‘business as
usual’ service plans. These have been developed throughout the course
of 2021/22 in readiness for 2022/23, with regular monitoring and progress
reporting by Officers at Senior Management Team (SMT) meetings, and
in briefings and meetings with Executive Members collectively and
individually;
 the system of controllable budgets for each Department provides a
transparent and accountable arrangement to budget setting; consideration
is given to both service specific and corporate cost pressures when
determining the allocated cash limit and each Department is required to
formulate a strategy to ensure a balanced budget and to deliver savings
as necessary;
 the council continues to closely monitor and instigate early action to meet
both its immediate and medium term financial challenges. This method
has been effective in providing a level of resilience to address the
government’s funding reductions over the period to date. Despite the
redirection of resources and efforts to focus on the council’s response to
the pandemic, through a combination of increases in income and cost
reductions that are contained within the proposals presented to Council,
the forecast budget gap for 2022/23 presented to the Council back in
February 2021 has now been closed.



Flexibility;
 mechanisms to review options for service delivery are linked into the
budget process
 flexibility to free up resources to deliver service improvement and to
deliver the council’s priorities
 flexibility in budget management as included within the council’s
Constitution

Capital Programme
23.

Affordability of capital expenditure plans is important in determining the overall
robustness of the budget and adequacy of reserves to deal with potential variations.

24.

The proposed Capital Programme for 2021 to 2025 of £56.187 million is included at
Appendix F1 of the budget reports. This predominantly comprises of existing
commitments including investment in;
 Improving local health services, including the new Whittle GP surgery and
Tatton Gardens.
 Improving and transforming the leisure centres to encourage our residents to
be active and healthy.
 Driving economic development and delivering income generation through the
Strawberry Meadows development
 Supporting our town centre through the town centre masterplan

Agenda Page 90

25.

Agenda Item 9b

Before projects are allocated funding, they are subject to a business case approval
process and detailed Member reports are produced in line with the council’s financial
procedures.

In year financial Monitoring Process
26.

Risk

The council continuously seeks to strengthen its financial processes and controls. This
approach, combined with existing effective arrangements, will provide a strong
foundation enabling Members and Officers to continue to deliver the demanding
targets and plans set within the Budget Strategy and the challenges identified for
future years. In any budget however there are likely to be risks. In year financial
monitoring processes are in place to mitigate these;


overall budget monitoring takes place throughout the year at both Department
and Executive Cabinet level to identify potential areas of pressure and to develop
and implement corrective action. This in itself provides a strong control
environment and is commensurate with sound corporate governance.



at the Senior Management Team meetings, the Chief Executive and Directors
review the council’s overall financial position alongside progress made in the
identification of new and emerging financial pressures and in delivering savings,
as well as considering the impact of changes in the local government financial
landscape



the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meets to review the council’s budget
position and to challenge delivery and performance against this.



other specific Boards and Groups such as the Governance Committee, the
Shared Services Joint Committee (in conjunction with South Ribble Borough
Council), the Transformation Focus Group and the Wholly Owned Company and
Projects Working Group, meet regularly to oversee the activities within their
specific remit.



the financial model that underpins the MTFS is subject to review throughout the
year to enhance forward planning, policy prioritisation, resource allocation and
assess opportunities to invest in achieving future efficiency savings. The
assumptions, variables and information within the model are updated to
ascertain the impact of known changes (e.g. legislative changes such as the
National Insurance Contributions and National Living Wage), potential changes
(such as adjustments to government funding and precept levels), and also for the
refinement of variables (such as inflation, interest rates and employers pension
rates) in light of emerging information.



the council adopts a risk based approach to financial management which
provides added value to the governance process and identifies risks associated
with both the revenue and capital programme. The provision of sufficient levels
of General or Unallocated Reserves, mitigates against the financial risks from
unforeseen financial issues so that these can be addressed in a responsive and
controlled manner. As part of its approach to risk management the council also
makes provision for Earmarked Reserves, i.e. funding reserved to address
specific future needs.

Agenda Page 91

Agenda Item 9b

27.

Ultimately the robustness of the budget is dependent on the strength of the
arrangements in place to deliver the component parts, and to manage the associated
risks of these.

28.

It must be recognised that given the reduction in resources over the past decade of
austerity, along with changes made in service delivery together with the social,
economic, public health and financial impact of the global Covid-19 pandemic, the
council faces significant risks which impact upon the financial estimates included in
this budget.

29.

These risks, many of which have been exacerbated by the effects of the Covid-19
pandemic, include:









30.

the ability to raise and collect revenue from taxes (both Business Rates and
Council Tax), and from sales, fees and charges;
increases in the number of residents claiming Council Tax Support;
potential increase in demand for services from residents, which may be
exacerbated by reductions in public sector expenditure in other areas such as
the NHS and as a result of Welfare Reform;
under-achievement against income targets given the exposure to external
factors, principally stemming from the Covid-19 crisis, the impact of any resulting
economic downturn and in any resulting change in consumer demand;
changes in statutory and legislative requirements, including employment law;
changes by government in funding;
contractual obligations;
potential loss of skilled and experienced staff.

Whilst the 4 year settlement, which covered the period 2016/17 to 2019/20, provided
some stability to assist in financial planning, uncertainty has prevailed since 2020/21
with regards to the government’s plans for, and impact of;





the development and implementation of a revised Business Rates Retention
Scheme,
the development and implementation of a new Fair Funding formula,
the potential change to funding streams linked to the government’s ‘Levelling-Up’
agenda and proposed future shared prosperity funds
devolution and potential local government reorganisation

31.

The fact that again we have only received a one year settlement has exacerbated the
uncertainty and the risk in our financial planning beyond 2022/23, and indeed in the
absence of any figures, assumptions or framework, it has been almost impossible to
prepare a credible financial strategy for the medium term with any degree of
confidence in the underlying assumptions.

32.

However, the approaches outlined in this paper in relation to risk management,
scrutiny, continuous monitoring of both the current and forecast financial position, as
well as regular modelling through the MTFS of the financial impact of changes in the
external environment, should mitigate these risks; by identifying the risks and providing
an assessment of exposure, magnitude and potential financial impact, plans can be
developed and implemented to address them. Therefore, this Budget Strategy is
achievable with strong project and risk management and with effective financial
control.

Agenda Page 92

Agenda Item 9b

Adequacy of Proposed Financial Reserves
33.

Reserves are an essential part of good financial management; they help the council to
cope with unpredictable financial pressures and help to smooth the impact of known
spending requirements over time.

34.

There is no set formula for deciding an appropriate, or required, level of reserves and
every council is free to determine the level they hold; holding a low level of reserves
offers little resilience to financial shocks and sustained financial challenges, however if
reserves are too high, there may be opportunity costs of holding these, resulting in a
lack of investment in services that could provide better outcomes for residents, and/or
increased savings, and/or revenue generation.

Unallocated Reserve
35.

A General or Unallocated Reserve has been established within the budget to provide a
contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events or emergencies, and to meet
potential, future liabilities.

36.

The target level of general fund reserves is £4m over the medium term and
importantly, the MTFS does not rely on utilising general fund balances to meet any
deficits over the three-year period. General fund balances are there to manage
potential risks contained in the budget.

37.

There can be no guarantee that expenditure will be contained within each and every
budget. The nature of the Council’s business means that varying demands will be
faced during the year and under and over achievement will occur.

38.

However, the aim should be that the budget in total is sustainable taking into account
resources available, assumptions made, delivery of savings and the availability of
reserves to mitigate “in year” pressures.

39.

Estimates have been based on the best and latest information available and provision
has been made within the minimum balances to meet unforeseen eventualities.

40.

Close monitoring of the budget, together with responsive management action, will
continue to ensure that income and expenditure remain within budget.

41.

Subject to;




the volatility in the funding system in relation to business rate retention
possible re-profiling of savings and income generation proposals into future
years
unexpected costs or income losses

And, in light of;




The effectiveness of the Council’s Internal Control framework
The risk based provision made in the level of General Fund balances
The Council’s overall reserves position

Then as the section 151 Officer I can state that I believe the budget for 2022/23
and level of reserves to be robust.

Agenda Page 93

Agenda Item 9b

Earmarked Reserves and Provisions
42.

Earmarked Reserves are established to meet known or expected future liabilities
where it is difficult to be specific about the exact financial amount of liability.

43.

There are several categories of Earmarked reserves that the council holds;
 sums set aside for the specific investment priorities of the Administration for
2022/23;
 reserves to fund future asset maintenance
 reserves set aside to manage the impact of any adverse impact arising from
government changes to the Business Rates funding mechanisms and one-off
reductions in income;
 reserves specifically set aside to support the council in its ambition to become
carbon neutral by 2030;
 reserves created from government funding provided to assist in addressing the
ongoing pressures of Covid-19, both now and in the future, to aid the recovery of
our residents, communities and economy; these reserves will be drawn down, as
required, to meet the ongoing direct and indirect costs of the pandemic over the
short and medium term.

44.

The current forecast for Earmarked reserves at 1st April 2022 is £7.746m; a full
breakdown of the Earmarked Reserves is attached at Appendix B3.

IMPLICATIONS OF REPORT
45.

This report has implications in the following areas and the relevant Directors’
comments are included:
Finance
Human Resources



Legal



No significant implications in this
area

Customer Services
Equality and Diversity
Integrated Impact Assessment
required?
Policy and Communications

COMMENTS OF THE STATUTORY FINANCE OFFICER
46.

These are contained within the report.

COMMENTS OF THE MONITORING OFFICER
47.

The report is designed to ensure that the relevant legislation is complied with in terms
of the Statutory Officer’s advice.

LOUISE MATTINSON
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE (s151 Officer)

Agenda Page 94

Agenda Item 9b

There are no background papers to this report.
Report Author

Ext

Date
14 February
2022
th

Louise Mattinson

5151

Doc ID

Agenda Page 95

Agenda Item 9b

APPENDIX B2
RISKS TO MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY
The Medium-Term Financial Strategy outlines how the council will achieve its corporate
strategic priorities whilst recognising the budgetary pressures of that are expected over the
coming 3 years. Within the strategy are a number of risks that are outlined below;

RISKS TO REVENUE BUDGET
HIGH RISK
Changes to the Business Rates Retention Scheme and the Fair Funding Review
Forecasting the level of business rates income beyond 2022/23 remains complicated due to the level
of uncertainty in this area. Following various government announcements, councils have been
expecting reforms to the business rates system for over four years. In March 2020, the government
published the Terms of Reference for the Business Rates Review, setting out that the objectives of
this were to reduce the overall burden on business, to improve the current business rates system and
to consider more fundamental changes in the medium-to-long term. In March 2021, the government
published the Interim Report of the review, with the final report issued in October 2021
The government has concluded from their review;



that business rates are a vital component of the business tax mix;
that they wish to preserve the benefits of business rates but will make changes to make
their operation fairer and more effective for businesses;

that they are not proposing changing the nature of the tax, or the basis of valuation;

moving forward, they have concluded that increasing the frequency of revaluations would
represent a fundamental and meaningful improvement to the business rates system and
would help to ensure greater distributional fairness; currently, revaluations are scheduled
to take place every 5 years although in practice, and due in part to the pandemic, these
have only taken place about every 6-7 years. As such government has announced a 3yearly cycle for business rates revaluations, starting from the next revaluation in 2023.
In light of the above, the quantum of business rates that will remain available to the council after the
reset is uncertain. It is likely that the level of funding that councils retain from business rates will be
reviewed across the country as part of the government’s ‘levelling up’ agenda. This is expected to
flow from the outcome of the Fair Funding Review, however no date has been set for these reforms.
As such, in the absence of any further information, the budget assumes the council will retain the
current level of business rates enjoyed as part of the Lancashire Pool throughout the three year
period of the MTFS.
Post-Covid Recovery
The pandemic has impacted on the council finances as well as the wider economic environment. This
has created uncertainty in the MTFS.
To help manage this uncertainty the council has set aside reserves from government grant funding,
received;
 £300k Covid-19 recovery reserves
These reserves will help the council manage the Covid recovery period however the full, medium-term
impact of this recovery is not yet clearly understood. This could impact further on council expenditure,
income and government funding levels.

Agenda Page 96

Agenda Item 9b

MEDIUM RISKS

Business Rates Appeals and Other Business Rates Adjustments
The council’s share of the provision for business rates appeals stands at £1.620m in 2021/22.
Allowance has been made for an additional provision of £0.348m to allow for any further appeals
against the 2017 rating list and any appeals resulting from the impact of Covid 19 e.g. reduced
demand for office accommodation.
The impact of appeals will be continually monitored, however based upon current information, this
increased level of provision is deemed to be sufficient.
Pay Inflation
The 2020 Government Spending Review announced a pay freeze for 2021/22 for the majority of
public sector staff, with a guaranteed a pay rise of at least £250 for all staff that earn less than
£24,000 per year. At the time of writing this report, the pay negotiations are still ongoing for
2021/22, with the current offer of 1.75% made by the Employers having been rejected by the
Trade Unions. The budget has however been adjusted to reflect an uplift of 1.75% in line with the
current offer.
In the Spending Review in October 2021, the Chancellor said that pay awards for public sector
workers in 2022/23 would be in line with CPI. With the negotiations for 2021/22 yet to conclude,
and no fixed point in time announced for the determination of CPI, a provision of 2% has been
made in the pay budget, which equates to approximately £200k per year, for Chorley Council in
2022/23; the government’s proposals are not yet agreed with public sector unions.
Delivery of Budgeted Savings and Additional Income
The MTFS includes forecast cumulative gross budget deficits of £1.117m and £1.178m in 2023/24
and 2024/25 respectively. To balance the budget over the course of the MTFS we will need to
continue to develop the Transformation Programme and savings programme, including
opportunities for income generation. The monitoring and robust challenge of all proposals is
overseen by the council’s Shared Services Management Team and Shared Senior Leadership
Team. Risks are reported to the Shared Services Management Team as well as Members, and
actions are taken when required. Given the council’s likely increased dependency on generating
income there will always be some risks that sit outside of the council’s control and are therefore
more difficult to manage.
The council’s minimum general fund balance of £4m has been set such that potential delays in
bringing forward income or generating savings can be temporarily managed within council
resources.
As noted in the report, the council is still able to borrow from PWLB at low rates to fund its capital
programme. However, government reforms have meant that in order to utilise these funds the
council is prohibited from investing ‘primarily for yield’. This will not however prevent investment in
schemes that meet the economic, regeneration and/or housing needs of the borough, and which
may generate an income as a consequence or by-product of the investment. Although this will not
affect the council’s current capital programme, this will need to be carefully considered when
making future investment decisions.
Existing Income
The major income streams that the council benefits from include planning, garden waste
subscriptions and car parking, as well as commercial income from assets the council owns.
Reductions in income outside the control of the council could leave services under-funded.
Therefore the council has been prudent when budgeting for income and has set aside an income
equalisation reserve for Market Walk and Logistics House.

Agenda Page 97

Agenda Item 9b

Inflation
The council's expenditure is subject to annual inflation. In December 2021 the CPI inflation figure
rose to 5.1%, with the Bank of England forecasting for inflation to peak at 6% next April.
The impact upon the Council will be mitigated where possible through cost control and effective
contract management.
The impact of inflation will be assessed continually through the budget monitoring process, and
budgets will be reviewed annually when updating the MTFS.

RISKS TO CAPITAL BUDGET
MEDIUM RISKS
Overspends on Capital Projects
All capital projects are monitored on a quarterly basis, with the major capital projects monitored on
an ongoing basis by council officers and commissioned external project managers. Any potential
overspends are highlighted by the relevant project group or officer and reported to the Director of
Finance.
Actions plans are agreed to manage potential overspends and managed by the project officer. If
necessary, financing is identified within the capital programme to meet any additional required
resources. Changes to the capital programme are reported quarterly to Executive Cabinet.
Changes to a capital project between these periods are taken on a separate report to Executive
Cabinet or Full Council, in line with the council’s financial regulations.

LOW RISK
Insufficient Financing to Delivery Capital Programme
The council continues to have a significant gap between its capital funding requirement and
current borrowing levels. As such borrowing is available to the council if funding sources
previously allocated to projects no longer become available.
Insolvency of Major Contractor
As part of the tender process the financial standing of each contractor has been thoroughly
assessed. These checks are regularly and the council’s subscription to a credit check agency
provides alerts were the credit status to change.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Page 99

Agenda Item 9b

APPENDIX B3
RESERVES
1.

The council has made ambitious investments to help enable the delivery of a
balanced budget whilst ensuring a prudent and affordable approach to delivering the
medium-term financial strategies. The council has set aside and increased the
balance of reserves as outlined in the table below.

2.

The expected balance of these reserves at the beginning of 2022/23 is;
Reserves

1st April 2022
£000s

General Fund Balance

(4,129)

Change Management Reserve
VAT Shelter Income - Capital/revenue financing
Non-Recurring Expenditure - Revenue resources for capital financing
Market Walk - Income Equalisation Reserve
Market Walk - Asset Management
Section 31 Grant - Empty property/small business rate relief
Section 31 Grant - EU Exit Preparation Grant
Business Rates Exceptional Payments Reserve
Business Rates Retention - Surplus on levy payment
Income Generation Reserve
LCC Transition Fund
Market Walk / DOP Works
Green Agenda
Logistics House Income Equalisation Reserve
Covid Recovery Reserve
ICT Capital Programme Reserves
Capacity to deliver corporate priorities
Support for Apprentices, Graduates, Training Posts
Investment in Play & Open Space Across the Borough
Queens Jubilee Events
Check Out Chorley
Non-Directorate Reserves

(250)
(9)
(335)
(467)
(104)
(29)
(35)
(165)
(1,415)
(391)
(50)
(391)
(580)
(450)
(300)
(821)
(200)
(200)
(200)
(30)
(30)
(6,452)

Policy & Governance

(191)

Commercial & Property

(520)

Customer & Digital Services

(186)

Agenda Page 100

Agenda Item 9b

Planning & Development

(118)

Communities

(280)

Directorate Reserves

(1,294)

Earmarked Reserves (Directorate and Non-Directorate)

(7,746)

Total Reserves - General and Earmarked

(11,876)

Provisions
Insurance Provision - Potential MMI clawback

(14)

Total Provisions

(14)

3.

These reserves are available to assist in mitigating any financial impact from the
uncertainty that the council faces, such as the reforms to future funding levels and
the impact of the recovery from Covid-19 on its residents and local businesses.
Income Reserves

4.

The council has set aside over £450k to manage any one-off reductions in income
from Market Walk, it is budgeted to utilise £135k of this reserve in 2022/23.

5.

The council has set aside £1.4m to manage any one-off reductions in business rates
such as unbudgeted changes to valuations or the implementation of future expected
government reforms. This represents 27% of the forecast business rates in 2022/23.
Asset Maintenance Reserves

6.

Whilst continuing to deliver a large and ambitious capital programme, which will
evolve over the course of the MTFS period as new schemes are presented for
consideration, the council sets aside sufficient budget to manage the maintenance of
its existing assets; for example additional reserves are set aside to fund unexpected
maintenance including a £104k reserve for the Market Walk site.
Other Reserves

7.

To implement the transformation of services and generate additional income, the
council has set aside £391k of revenue reserves to explore income generating
projects as well as £250k reserves to manage any one-off costs of implementing
changes to staffing structures.

8.

The council continues to support its local businesses with £187k in reserves to attract
businesses to the borough, as well as supporting existing businesses in the town
centre and other areas of the borough. These grants enable the council to match fund
local business investment to expand local businesses and job opportunities. The
council will increase this reserve by £200k to further support local businesses with a
total fund of £387k.

Agenda Page 101

Agenda Item 9b

9.

The council will continue to set aside funds to obtain greater influence around planning
decisions. The council invests £100k per year to the review the local plan, with
reserves set aside to further support the council to defend locally made planning
decisions.

10.

The council set aside £500k of reserves to implement its Green Agenda with £263k
already committed to date. Use of this reserve includes investment in planting trees as
well offering free trees to residents. The council will increase this reserve back to
£500k to continue its ambition to become carbon neutral by 2030. Reducing the
carbon footprint is a national and global issue; we will seek to attract support and
funding from our partners, including the government, to assist us in achieving this
priority objective.

11.

There is £300k of Covid-19 recovery reserves set aside to fund expenditure across
the borough

12.

Two additional reserves will be created; £200k to support both investment in play and
open space not owned by the council and £200k to support apprenticeships, graduate
positions and other additional training opportunities at the council.
General Reserves

13.

The council has currently set aside £4.329m in general funds, which represents
approximately 30% of the annual net expenditure budget of the council. This can be
used to manage future uncertainty in expenditure and income over the medium-term.
The council does not intend, nor has it budgeted, to utilise this reserve to manage
budget deficits, however this will be reviewed as part of the council’s budget
management process.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Page 103

Agenda Item 9c
APPENDIX C

2022/23 to 2024/25

Agenda Page 104

Agenda Item 9c

It's been another difficult year for everyone so it's vital that we continue to invest to grow the
local economy to put Chorley in the best financial position for the future.
Chorley Council funding has reduced from over £17m in 2016/17 to a forecast figure of
£13.5m by 2024/25, however we have continued to maintain our vital services such as grass
cutting, emptying bins and keeping the borough clean.

Councillor Peter
FOREWORD
Wilson
Deputy Leader of
Chorley Council

In reducing funding, the Government’s expectation is that we mitigate some of this lost
income by increasing council tax charges. We resisted doing so for several years as we
have invested in a wide range of developments that not only provide new services to
residents and businesses, but they also generate income. Although we have continued to
drive efficiencies and improvements in our services, and we will continue to do so, the
pressures are such that we will need to increase council tax in 2022/23.
Despite these continued pressures, we continue to invest in priorities that are important to
the borough and its residents. These investments include two new GP surgeries –
supporting the NHS to provide high quality services for our residents; an extra care facility to
support people to live independently for longer; tackling climate change; improving play
areas and supporting our local economy to recover.
Taking action now, and also looking forward to the future, we have plans to meet the
financial challenges we face. We have always been innovative when delivering our services
and that is why we will continue to transform services to deliver efficiencies as well as
investing in income generating projects.
Although uncertainty surrounding the budget and future funding levels remain, we will
continue to deliver our priorities as set out in this Medium Term Financial Strategy, to make
Chorley a better place for everyone.

Agenda Page 105

Agenda Item 9c

CHORLEY COUNCIL MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2022/23 to 2024/25
INTRODUCTION
1.

The approval of the Annual Budget is an important stage in the council’s annual planning and
budgetary process, as the revenue estimates form the basis for setting the Council Tax for the
following year. This section aims to put finance into its corporate context. Not all matters can
be covered in detail, but it is intended to give a flavour of how finance influences the way that
Chorley Council operates and is governed.

FINANCE AND CORPORATE PLANNING
2.

Within the framework of legislation and Government controls, local authorities retain
responsibility for determining the level of their budgets and how those budgets will be spent,
subject to legislation and grant conditions.

3.

The purpose of the council’s budget is;
 To enable the council to fulfil its statutory duty to set a Council Tax each financial
year
 To ensure that use of the council’s financial resources is planned and that a balanced
budget is set in 2022/23.
 To set financial targets for service managers against which their use of financial
resources can be measured and controlled.
 To facilitate the delivery of the council’s corporate strategy and subsequent priorities
by allocating resources between services according to agreed strategies and plans.

4.

The first is a statutory requirement and the council, if it does nothing else, must fulfil this
obligation. All these points are important, especially the last regarding the delivery of the
council’s Corporate Strategy. It means that finance always needs to be seen in the context of
other council plans, whether at service level or, ultimately, at corporate level. Chorley Council
will ensure that its financial resources, subject to all other constraints, are allocated in
accordance with council priorities.

5.

In practice there are a number of constraints that might prevent the council from spending
purely in accordance with its current priorities, for example: 







6.

Government constraints over use of resources
Legal requirements to provide certain services
Financial and legal commitments, and other agreements, e.g. staff contracts
Costs incurred in implementing change
Limited availability of resources
Time needed to plan for change
Pressure to maintain and improve services

It is important for the council to recognise these constraints and to plan the use of resources
over the short and medium term.

THE FINANCIAL CONTEXT
7.

The purpose of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is to set the financial framework
for the Council for the medium term to ensure delivery of strategic objectives and major
projects. This requires a review and assessment of revenue budgets, the capital programme,
levels of reserves and potential future Council Tax levels, based on funding projections and
other financial and economic assumptions.

Agenda Page 106
8.

Agenda Item 9c

The fact we have only received a one year settlement has exacerbated the uncertainty and
the risk in our medium term financial planning; in the absence of any figures or framework
from Government, it has been almost impossible to prepare a credible financial strategy
beyond 31 March 2023 with any degree of confidence in the underlying assumptions.
Uncertainty prevails in respect of:






the development and implementation of a new Fair Funding Review;
changes to the Business Rates Retention Scheme;
the funding changes linked to the government’s ‘levelling up’ agenda and future shared
prosperity funds;
devolution and potential local government reorganisation and;
in the public health, social, economic and financial impact of the global Covid-19
pandemic in both the short and medium term.

It is within this financial context that we have developed the MTFS.
9.

Setting the council’s annual revenue budget has been a challenging process for a number of
years. The reduction in Government support contained within consecutive Spending Reviews
since 2010, has resulted in an unprecedented level of savings required which have been
realised through a combination of reductions in cost and increases in income. This, coupled
with budget pressures, has meant that savings and additional income of over £4.5 million
have been delivered since 2014/15.

10.

Chorley Council continues to experience a reduction in Government funding. The council has
benefited for a number of years through New Homes Bonus allocations, from a level of
£4.57m in 16/17 to £0.886m in 22/23; it is expected that this funding will cease by 2023/24.

Fair Funding Review
11.

The current funding baselines for local authorities in England, as determined by the annual
local government finance settlement, are based on an assessment of each authority’s relative
needs and resources. The methodology behind this assessment was first introduced over ten
years ago, and has not been updated since the introduction of the 50% business rates
retention system in 2013-14.

12.

Whilst this approach has ensured that those councils who have grown their business rates
since this time have benefited from the additional income generated, it also means that the
changes in the underlying level of ‘need’ within individual councils, has not been updated
since the 2013-14 settlement. In addition, a desire to fully capture every aspect of a local
authority’s needs has led to increasingly large numbers of variables being included in the
formulas, many of which have had a relatively minimal impact on the overall distribution of
funding.

13.

A consultation was issued at the end of 2018, which closed on 21 February 2019, on
proposals for a new and simplified needs assessment formula, based on a smaller number of
indicators; three years later, we are still awaiting the response.

Business Rates Retention
14.

Forecasting the level of business rates income beyond 2022/23 remains complicated due to
the level of uncertainty in this area.

15.

As for the Fair Funding Review, although a consultation outlining suggestions and inviting
comments for a future approach to Business Rates was undertaken in late 2018, closing in
February 2019, given the political turmoil of 2019 and Brexit, followed by global crisis due to
Covid-19, there has been little progress in the development of a new scheme.

Agenda Page 107

Agenda Item 9c

16.

In March 2020, the government published the Terms of Reference for the Business Rates
Review, setting out that the objectives of this were to reduce the overall burden on business,
to improve the current business rates system and to consider more fundamental changes in
the medium-to-long term. In March 2021, the government published the Interim Report of the
review, with the final report issued in October 2021.

17.

The government has concluded from their review;





18.

that business rates are a vital component of the business tax mix;
that they wish to preserve the benefits of business rates but will make changes to
make their operation fairer and more effective for businesses;
that they are not proposing changing the nature of the tax, or the basis of valuation;
moving forward, they have concluded that increasing the frequency of revaluations
would represent a fundamental and meaningful improvement to the business rates
system and would help to ensure greater distributional fairness; currently, revaluations
are scheduled to take place every 5 years although in practice, and due in part to the
pandemic, these have only taken place about every 6-7 years. As such government
has announced a 3-yearly cycle for business rates revaluations, starting from the next
revaluation in 2023.

In light of the above, the quantum of business rates that will remain available to the council
after the reset is uncertain. Likewise, the level of funding that councils will retain from
business rates will be reviewed across the country and is expected to flow from the outcome
of the Fair Funding Review, however no date has been set for these reforms.

Levelling-Up Agenda
19.

The ‘Levelling up the United Kingdom’ White Paper was issued by the Government on 2
February 2022. The paper states that this agenda is a long-term endeavour requiring a
programme of change that will facilitate a shift in how central and local government, the
private sector and civil society operate.

20.

A consultation will follow and further details will be provided in due course on several of the
policy commitments referred to within the paper. In addition, legislation will be required before
Parliament to underpin in statute the changes that will be fundamental to levelling up,
alongside wider planning measures.

21.

As such, it is not anticipated that this agenda will have imminent impact on the finances of the
council at this stage.

ASSUMPTIONS MADE WITHIN THE MTFS
22.

Chorley Council has experienced large reductions in its major funding sources. Funding to
Chorley Council is forecast to fall from over £17m in 2016/17 to £13.5m by 2024/25 and
uncertainly prevails in future levels as outlined above.

23.

In preparing the MTFS, careful consideration has been given to the assumptions on which
both income and expenditure budgets have been based, taking a prudent but realistic view
and considering these at a detailed level utilising the best information available both internally
and externally, and consulting with advisors and leading experts across the areas covered.

24.

The key assumptions that underpin the most significant income and expenditure budgets that
have
been
incorporated
into
the
MTFS
are
detailed
below;

GENERAL FUND FORECAST ASSUMPTIONS
The following assumptions have been made as part of reporting a balanced budget in 2022/23 gross deficit of £1.117m in 2023/24 and reporting a gross
deficit of £1.178m in 2024/25.
Key Assumption

22/23

23/24

24/25

Comment

INCOME/FUNDING

1.99%

1.99%

Council Tax Base Increases

1.00%

1.00%

0%

0%

Increase in Retained Business Rates
through Growth

£0.849

£0.881m

£0.915m

Agenda Item 9c

Additional Business Rates - Lancashire
Pooling Arrangements

Chorley Council has benefited for several years from
membership of the Lancashire Business Rates Pool. In the
absence of any further information, the budget assumes the
council will retain the current level of business rates enjoyed
as part of the Lancashire Pool throughout the three year period
of the MTFS, and the current mechanisms of Business Rate
Retention will remain.
The 2022/23 figure is the additional business rates retained by
Chorley Council as part of its membership to the Lancashire
business rates pool.

Agenda Page 108

Increase in Council Tax

The MTFS assumes that Council Tax will increase by 1.99%
over the next three years, however these proposals will be
revisited each year as part of the budget setting process and
1.99%
will be dependent upon the outcome of the Government’s
reviews of both the future funding framework and the future
distribution of funding between councils as referred to above.
The MTFS assumes a level of growth in the council tax base
1.00% which is a prudent estimate based on housebuilding
projections both past and present.
Revaluations, appeals and possible changes to the baseline
mean that the Council assumed no increase in the business
rates base through growth. For the reasons highlighted, the
0% council will monitor gross levels of business rate and collection
rates as well as continuing to focus resources on attracting
new and expanding local businesses.

Key Assumption

22/23

23/24

24/25

Comment
It is assumed the pool does continue during the next threeyear period. It is possible the implementation of the fair funding
review eliminates these gains. No timetable has been set
regarding the review however retaining this income does still
present a risk to the council over the medium term.

£1.415m

Total Forecast New Homes Bonus

£0.885m

£0.000m

Lower Tier Services Grant and Services
Grant

£0.709m

£0.000m

Agenda Item 9c

£1.415m

Agenda Page 109

Business Rates Equalisation Reserve

A consideration within the MTFS is the impact that a national
economic slow-down could have on the level of business rates
income. This could result in an increase in the number of
appeals against rateable values, as well as reducing local
economic activity and therefore reducing retained business
rates. The council’s share of the provision for appeals currently
stands at approximately £1.968m in 2022/23 which is
£1.415m comparable to the national average.
In addition, the council’s business rates income equalisation
reserve has approximately £1.4m set aside over the mediumterm to manage the risk of temporary reductions in retained
business rates; this equates approximately to a 27% reduction
in 2022/23 levels of retained business rates income. It is
assumed that this level of reserve will be maintained across
the period of the MTFS.
New Homes Bonus was introduced in 2011 as a stimulus for
the provision of new homes and is a non-ringfenced grant,
distributed between local authorities based upon new growth in
housing provision in their area. The length of time that the
bonus is paid for, for each new home built, has reduced from 6
£0.000m years when it was first introduced, down to 5 years with effect
from 2017/18, and down to 4 years from 2018/19.
For the past 2 years a one-year, non-recurring allocation has
been provided but it is expected that this will be the final year
of funding, and therefore the MTFS assumes no further
income beyond 22/23.
Every year the Government calculates the council’s core
spending power which is a combination of the council’s
council tax income, business rates income and new homes
£0.000m bonus grant allocation. The Lower Tier Services Grant, first
introduced in 2021/22, has been allocated again in 2022/23
to compensate the council for the reduction in funding
identified through the core spending power calculation.

Key Assumption

22/23

23/24

24/25

Comment

Net Income Market Walk

£0.851m

£0.862m

Net Income Strawberry Fields

£0.023m
cost

£0.124m

Net Income Primrose Gardens

£0.129m

£0.125m

£0.123m 100% occupancy assumed throughout MTFS period

22/23

23/24

24/25

EXPENDITURE
Key Assumption

1.75%

1.75%

Pay Award 22/23

2.0%

2.0%

The Government spending review announced a pay freeze in
2021/22 for the majority of public sector staff with a
guaranteed a pay rise of at least £250 for all staff that earn
less than £24,000 per year. Following NJCC negotiations, a
1.75%
final offer of 1.75% has been made by the Employers.
Although rejected by the public sector unions, in the absence
of further information, this level of award has been assumed in
the pay budget for Chorley Council in 2022/23.
The MTFS assumes a 2% pay increase for all staff in each of
the three years covered. This assumption adds approximately
£200k to the pay budget each financial year.
2.0% The spending review also announced that national living wage
will rise from £8.91 to £9.50 an hour and will be extended to
workers aged 23 and over from April 2022 This will not affect
Chorley Council’s pay bands for 2022/23 as the council pays

Agenda Item 9c

Pay Award 21/22

Comment

Agenda Page 110

The Government has also provided additional funding for
2022/23 in the form of the Services Grant. Again this is nonrecurring and non-ringfenced grant, that is distributed on the
same basis as the Lower Tier Services Grant.
Both grants are non-recurring and as such they have not been
included in the MTFS for 2023/24 or 2024/25; the one-off
nature of this funding stream does mean that the council
continues to face significant financial uncertainty over the
medium term.
Occupancy levels assumed at 90% (22/23), 95% (23/24) &
£0.861m
95% (24/25)
Occupancy levels assumed at 90% (22/23), 95% (23/24) &
95% (24/25). It is assumed there will be some reconfiguration
£0.121m
of the internal space to enable the site to generate net income
to the council.

Key Assumption

Vacancy Saving

Pension Fund Deficit Recovery

Leisure Services – additional expenditure
over budget

24/25

2.5%

2.5%

2.5%

16.4%

16.4%

16.4%

£0.450m

£0.467m

£0.483m

5.00%

4.00%

4.00%

£0.331m

£0.000m

£0.000m

Comment
above this level already. No adjustments have been made for
any further living wage increases as it is assumed that the
council’s pay bands will continue to exceed this over the
course of the MTFS.
Given the inevitable turnover in staffing, there is more often
than not a period of time between an employee leaving and
their replacement commencing in post. With turnover levels of
approximately 7% in 21/22 (due to the vacancies held during
staffing reviews across several teams moving into Shared
Services), an assumption has been made that underspends of
2.5% will be generated as a consequence of the timing of
recruitment.
As part of their triennial pension review in 2019, the
Lancashire County Pension Fund announced an increase in
employer pension contributions for the council from 14.4% to
16.4% for each of the three financial years 2020/21 to
2022/23, to meet the future costs of the scheme. Within the
MTFS, the same contribution rate is assumed for 2023/24 and
2024/25, although this will be reviewed when the new threeyear review is undertaken later this year.
Chorley Council’s share of the Lancashire Pension Fund
remains in deficit, however annual contributions have reduced
dramatically as the pension performance has been strong. The
figures for 2022/23 are the confirmed contributions that are the
result of the triennial pension review undertaken in 2019. The
figures for 2023/24 and 2024/25 have been uplifted as an
estimate of the possible outcome of the review.
CPI inflation is expected to rise to over 7% in the coming
months. The largest impact this could have for the council,
excluding staffing, is the inflationary increase in the cost of the
waste contract. The council does hold reserves that could be
used to smooth out the effects of inflation on its budgets.
The council brought its leisure services contract in-house
during 2020/21. The transitional recovery from Covid-19 has
meant that income levels have been lower than in previous
years. The net cost of running the services is included in the
gross budget deficit. As the wholly-owned company manages
the recovery of the centres from Covid-19 to break-even by

Agenda Item 9c

Budgeted Price Inflation – Waste Contract

23/24

Agenda Page 111

Future Service Pension Rate

22/23

Key Assumption

22/23

23/24

24/25

Comment
2023/24.

Covid-19

-

-

-

The pandemic has impacted on the council finances as well as
the wider economic environment. The Government has
provided funding to mitigate this risk which the council has
utilised in part, but given that costs are expected to continue
as we enter the stages of recovery, some of these funds have
been placed into reserves to cushion the impact of this over
the period of the MTFS. As such no additional costs have been
built into the base budget over the course of the MTFS.

Agenda Page 112

Agenda Item 9c

Agenda Page 113

Agenda Item 9c

PLANNING AND DELIVERY OF THE COUNCIL’S CORPORATE STRATEGY

29. Despite these financial challenges, Chorley Council continues to deliver projects that meet the
priorities of its residents. These projects are outlined as part of the council’s Corporate Strategy.
The Corporate Strategy provides a clear statement of what the council aims to achieve over the
next three years. The strategy sets out not only the council’s vision, priorities, and long-term
outcomes for the period 2021/22 – 2023/24 but also priority activities to be delivered through the
corporate projects and how we intend to measure success over the year ahead. The Corporate
Strategy identifies our key priorities as a council which are: a.
b.
c.
d.

Involving residents in improving their local area and equality of access for all;
Clean, safe and healthy communities;
A strong local economy; and
An ambitious council that does more to meet the needs of residents and the local
area.

Corporate Strategy 2021/22 to 2023/24
30. Chorley Council’s corporate strategy 2021/22 – 2023/24 was approved by Full Council on 16
November 2021. The focus of the Corporate Strategy to date has been on delivering schemes
and initiatives that achieve visible and tangible outcomes against corporate priorities.
31. The Corporate Strategy for 2021/22 has progressed well over the past 12 months, key
achievements include restoration of the borough’s landmark asset Astley Hall, improvement
works to the Market and progress with key sites at Alker Lane and Tatton. Improvements to
community facilities have been delivered with the completion of the West Way Sports Hub and a
number of play areas across the borough including Jubilee Way. Against the backdrop of
continued challenges arising from the pandemic, the services provided to residents have been
responsive to their needs. For those at risk of homelessness and housing support, a new
approach was established that improves the pathways for those with mental health and
substance misuse needs to access the support they need. Holiday hunger and physical activity
sessions to support children and families through the holiday period have been delivered as well
as support to wider communities on better health through dedicated schemes.
32. The strategy has successfully ensured Chorley is an even more attractive place to live, work and
invest with improvements to parks and open spaces such as new sports pavilion and artificial
grass pitches at the newly developed Westway Sports Campus, improvements to several play
areas and the successful delivery of renovations to Astley Hall which will safeguard the Hall and
its long-term future as a major asset ensuring Chorley continues to be a great visitor destination.
A strong local economy has continued to be a top priority within the current financial context with
good progress at Alker Lane to deliver high quality business units, improvement works to the
town centre to encourage visitors and recognise the vital role the town centre plays and driving
forward the transformation of the Bengal Street site to develop residential, community, and light
industrial facilities. The council has continued to be ambitious with the expansion of shared
services including the completion of Phase One and progress against Phase Two which further
enables services to have greater resilience, key changes to Streetscene’s technology have been
implemented, supporting an efficient service that can deliver environmental improvements
across the borough and the council’s commitment to the green agenda continues with dedicated
resource leading a climate change working group.
33. For 20201/22 – 2023/24, the Corporate Strategy vision, priorities, and long-term outcomes
remain the same to maintain the long-term impact of strategic activity and investment. This
strategy progresses action to address the economic impact of the pandemic including support
for businesses and activity to increase jobs and skills. It also moves forward major
developments and initiatives into their next phase of build or launch, establishing key assets for
the future. Importantly, the strategy responds to the needs of communities, doing more for

Agenda Page 114

Agenda Item 9c

neighbourhoods right across the borough by enhancing essential services and facilities.
Addressing climate change remains a key theme throughout the strategy with specific council
actions to encourage wider engagement and participation.
34. The Medium-Term Financial Strategy delivers a budget that is robust and sustainable and that
also delivers both the capital and revenue commitments required to deliver the corporate
strategy priorities. A few of the key projects that have been delivered and will be delivered over
the next 3 years are as follows:
Involving residents in improving their local area and equality of access for all
Delivered;



£1.8m capital budget to continue the improvements to Astley Hall that offers a high quality,
sustainable visitor attraction with the site already successfully hosting the Speaker’s
Conference during 2021.
£400k to fund our large commissions which have delivered crucial third sector support to
residents against key priorities during the building back better Covid-19 recovery.

To be delivered;



further work to develop our climate change strategy, tree planting and awareness raising,
maintaining this commitment and maintaining the climate fund at £500k, a further investment
of £240k
support for communities to celebrate the Queens Jubilee by creating a £30k events fund

Clean, safe and healthy homes and communities
Delivered;



£100k which has funded crucial works to the council’s CCTV operations centre to ensure
continued safe neighbourhoods and communities.
£120k to contribute to running of the Youth Zone including outreach work.

To be delivered



Improvements in local play and community facilities across the borough with an investment
of almost £2.8m
Investment of £2m as a continued commitment to improve our leisure centres.

An ambitious council that does more to meet the needs of residents and the local area
Delivered;
 £85k to continue to sustain key bus routes in the borough to mitigate the impact of county
wide cuts, ensuring that residents can access all areas of the borough.
 £100k to support planning applications that has enabled the council to defend locally made
decisions.
 £60k to continue to support vulnerable individuals through funding for the social prescribing
team with over £100k of match funding from the NHS.
To be delivered;
 £200k of grant funding to make improvements in play areas and open spaces across the
Borough, supporting our young people, health and wellbeing and local areas.
 £30k fund to refresh Check Out Chorley to ensure visitors continue to see Chorley as a great
visitor destination.

Agenda Page 115

Agenda Item 9c

A strong local economy
Delivered;
 £500k to remove the asbestos and demolition of bingo hall to make way for public realm
works in the town centre making the town centre an even better place to live and work.
 Continued support to local businesses with over £200k set aside to deliver a refreshed
package of support and grants that will be created to support local economic recovery
To be delivered
 will invest a further £200k in a refreshed and refocussed package of support and grants for
businesses.
 invest £200k to develop our approach to apprenticeships, graduate and training posts in
areas of high market demand – building resilience and improving quality in our service
provision and supporting people into high quality employment.

MEETING THE FINANCIAL CHALLENGE – THE TRANSFORMATION STRATEGY
35. The last medium-term financial strategy reported to Full Council in February 2021 set out
the council’s approach in meeting the financial challenges over the period 2021/22 to
2023/24. The council’s Transformation Strategy was put in place to focus on bridging the
gap and delivering a balanced budget through:




Productivity savings including modernisation of services, delivery of the Digital
Strategy and continually reviewing its staffing structures to ensure they are
efficient and fit-for purpose.
To deliver change effectively across the organisation, including our assets, our
service delivery models, technology and culture to respond to the opportunities
and budgetary challenges of the future.
Where possible, the renegotiation of contracts and investment in income
generating schemes.

36. Since February 2021 the council has continued working towards delivering the
Transformation Strategy. A refresh of the strategy has taken place, while many of the
themes of the strategy remain, such as sustainability, financial uncertainty, public service
integration and providing efficient services for our residents. However, the context has
changed, and this refresh of the strategy aims to realign the priorities and programme of
work taking into account the impact of the pandemic, peer review and wider lessons
learned. While delivering cashable savings and supporting the Medium-Term Financial
Strategy has been a key driver for transformation at Chorley, delivering organisational
change and behaviour change is becoming a greater focus.

SENIOR LEADERSHIP TEAM
37. In terms of transformation, the purpose of the Senior Leadership Team is to:





Monitor project progress and issues
Ensure proposals meet with the overall objectives of the Transformation Strategy
and anticipated savings
Consider dependencies between projects to make sure that activity is
coordinated (particularly with regard to consultation/service reviews) and monitor
overall demands on capacity
Review and scrutinise corporate performance

Agenda Item 9c

Agenda Page 116

38. There are currently over 10 separate projects that the Senior Leadership Team supports
in order to deliver the transformation strategy.

WHAT IS THE BUDGET GAP?
39. The estimated budget gap based prior to the actions been taken to balance the budget
is:
Chorley Borough Council Transformation Programme

NET DEFICIT / (SURPLUS)

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

£m

£m

£m

1.736

3.359

3.567

Council Tax Increase – 1.99% 21/22, 22/23 & 23/24

(0.146)

(0.298)

(0.453)

Increase in Green Waste charges

(0.065)

(0.065)

(0.065)

Investment Sites – Market Walk, Primrose Retirement,
Strawberry Fields and Investment in Logistics House

(1.392)

(1.544)

(1.536)

Investment Sites

(0.133)

(0.335)

(0.335)

0.000

1.117

1.178

REVISED DEFICIT / (SURPLUS)

40. The key challenge to the council is find forecast efficiency savings of £1.178m by
2024/25.
To achieve this the council’s strategy will be:




To make the council more financially self-sufficient with specific emphasis on
creating investment that provides benefits to residents and businesses whilst
also generating income.
To realise savings through the procurement of its contracts including joint
contractual arrangements with South Ribble Council.
To identify efficiencies through investment in infrastructure, ICT and through
exploring alternative delivery models that will enable the Council to balance the
budget whilst seeking to minimise the impact on front line service users

Transformation Strategy

Agenda Page 117

Agenda Item 9c

41. The transformation strategy covers many aspects of change both within the council and
in partnership with other organisations. At this stage, the main strands of the strategy
that could generate savings and income are outlined further below.

Income Generation
Council Tax
42. The Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement outlines the Core Spending
Power available to local authorities. This is the level of resources the Government
assumes councils will have available and is predicated on all councils across the country
increasing council tax up to the referendum limit of 2% (5% for authorities with social
care responsibilities) year-on-year. As such, if the council were to freeze council tax it is
likely it will need to then bridge a larger gap between the funding allocated to it, via
business rates retention and the fair funding review, and the funding required to deliver
services in 2022/23 onwards.
43. Through effective management of its budget and investment in income generating
projects, Chorley Council has been able to maintain one of the lowest levels of council
tax in Lancashire as demonstrated below:
Band D
Equivalent
2021/22
£
Preston

327.13

Burnley

312.28

Rossendale

285.13

Pendle

276.01

Hyndburn

255.53

Lancaster

236.95

South Ribble

223.24

Fylde

214.91

West Lancs.

213.39

Wyre

209.74

Chorley
Ribble Valley

195.76*
155.69

(* - includes Band D equivalent Special Expenses of £20.98)

Agenda Page 118

Agenda Item 9c

44. However, continued uncertainty regarding future funding and the need for the council to
manage staffing and non-staffing inflationary budget increases, means that this budget
proposes to increase Chorley Council’s share of council tax by 1.99% in 2022/23 Similar
increases have been forecast for 2023/24 and 2024/25, however these will be reviewed
annually and will be subject to the outcome of the next finance settlement.
45. The council will remain committed to supporting those who may struggle to pay their
council tax because of the challenging circumstances they find themselves in. On that
basis, the council will make use of the monies it has available to support council
taxpayers.
46. The MTFS assumes an increase in the council tax base and business rates because of
the continued growth in the borough over the medium term. This is estimated at £100k
over the period
Investment Sites
47. The council owns several sites that are being developed to bring forward the expansion
of employment, housing and health services within the borough. These include:




The Strawberry Meadows industrial site at Alker Lane which is due to open in
May 2022
The new Whittle GP Surgery which is due to open in February 2022
The redevelopment of the site surrounding Tatton Gardens, including an extra
care scheme, which is scheduled to open in September 2022.

48. These sites are at different stages of advancement but are forecast to generate
additional net income for the council of £133k in 2022/23 and £335k in 2023/24, whilst
delivering improvements in local infrastructure for residents and businesses.
Future Savings
49. The council has always been successful in generating efficiency savings and additional
income to bridge the budget gap whilst continuing to deliver outstanding services to its
residents. Required savings of approximately £1.178m, subject to future Government
announcements, are forecast over the period of the MTFS to manage increases in
costs as well as potential reductions in future Government funding.
50. Whilst there is continued uncertainty about the potential level of savings required over
the medium term, it is prudent to put in place plans to identify and secure the savings
that may be required over the medium term. Through the Transformation Strategy and
Medium Term Financial Strategy, the following are the key areas of savings that will be
targeted for future savings:
 Service savings. An exercise has been undertaken that has identified a
potential of £1.0m of savings over the next 3 years. An exercise has been
undertaken to prioritise the options with an aim of minimising any adverse
impact on service delivery. While all of the options could potentially be
pursued, it is proposed to target £600k to be delivered over the MTFS
period;


A review of the council’s portfolio of assets to recognise potential
opportunities for sale, redevelopment or rental, whilst improving public

Agenda Page 119

Agenda Item 9c

services. By consolidating the council’s asset base, the council will be able
to reduce its operating costs, as well as opportunities for income generation.
This is anticipated to generate £350k over the medium;


The council has been successful in investing within the borough to
generate jobs, improve health services as well as improving the retail and
night-time economy. Whilst delivering this, the council has also generated
additional net income that supports other council services. The council will
continue this approach, and in the continued redevelopment of the town
centre. The MTFS includes a forecast target of £335k net income by
2024/25 from investments made to date, however work progresses to
identify further opportunities that are hoped will provide net income over and
above this target. The council has successfully brought in additional external
funding from various sources to support investment in the borough including
Homes England, Lancashire Enterprise Partnership (LEP), Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and S106 funding from developers in the borough.
The council will build on this success to deliver future investments, this will
include future potential investment in sites at Bengal Street and Shady
Lane.



The council is ambitious in its delivery of services and will continue to
pursue alternative models of delivering its services. The MTFS includes
efficiency savings that have already been secured through the expansion of
shared services with South Ribble Council. As Phase 2 of the Shared
Services model reaches the final stages of implementation, no additional
savings have been identified, however the council will consider further
opportunities alongside its wider priorities if improvements and efficiencies
can be attained. The council will also seek to reduce the costs of leisure
services, now delivered by the council’s wholly owned company, Chorley
Leisure Ltd, established in August 2021. Over the course of the MTFS we
will work with the new company to reduce its net operating costs to move to
generating a net benefit to the council. These alternate models of delivery
are anticipated to generate an additional £350k over the MTFS period

CONCLUSION
51. The review of the MTFS has again been undertaken against a background of significant
reductions in funding and increasing costs. These factors present a risk to the council’s
sustainable financial position unless budget savings continue to be delivered and
additional income opportunities are provided alongside the delivery of the council’s
Corporate Strategy priorities.
52. The MTFS covers three years between 2022/23 and 2024/25 and whilst the budget has
been balanced for 2022/23 through a combination of efficiency savings and income
generation, budget gaps remain for 2023/24 and 2024/25.
53. The council has a successful record of balancing the budget and has delivered budget
efficiency savings alongside additional income of over £4.5m since 2014/15. This has
been achieved whilst delivering a large number of Corporate Strategy priorities and an
ambitious capital programme.

Agenda Page 120

Agenda Item 9c

54. The financial context continues to be increasingly challenging and uncertain. Strategies
are outlined in the MTFS as to how the budget gap of £1.117m (2023/24) and £1.178m
(2024/25) can be addressed. The strategies build on the council’s record of innovative
approaches to service delivery as well as its record of investing in income generating
assets.
55. The Council will continue to keep the MTFS under review given:
a. the level of efficiency savings and income generation required to balance the
budget over the medium term. The timing of the delivery of these targets will
need to be closely managed and where necessary reserves utilised to meet
temporary delays in transformation strategy net budget reductions.
b. the high degree of uncertainty surrounding the changes to Government policy
such as business rates retention and the fair funding review as well as the
uncertainty regarding the ongoing implications of Covid-19.

Agenda Item 9d

Agenda Page 121
Analysis of Budget Variations 2021/22 - 2024/25
2021/22
ESTIMATE
£

CASH BASE BUDGET REQUIREMENT

2022/23
ESTIMATE
£

2023/24
ESTIMATE
£

2024/25
ESTIMATE
£

12,749,800

11,701,550

11,139,127

10,275,150

(1,833,840)

(288,600)
19,800

(500,000)

0

118,470
9,700
16,100
(28,480)
126,130
23,310

483,020
54,710
17,000
11,200
79,510
(79,540)

206,470
30,280
17,000
(1,290)
180,260
28,660

205,820
30,160
17,000
(1,290)
174,180
28,660

34,630
300,090
263,610
150,000
(21,760)
222,710
(221,980)
0
0
(6,940)
(200,000)

29,050
(1,220)
(283,760)
263,000
(44,140)
(196,240)
(165,000)
(65,000)
133,057
0
(529,270)

12,710
(425,910)
45,520
(47,000)
3,550
(146,170)
0
0
(33,057)
0
(235,000)

7,560
5,520
(4,000)
0
2,610
2,570
0
0
0
0
0

11,701,550

11,139,127

10,275,150

10,743,940

(150,000)

(135,200)

(135,200)

(135,200)

11,551,550

11,003,927

10,139,950

10,608,740

1,252,130
1,794,640
(2,500)
3,044,270

1,641,130
1,944,640
(2,500)
3,583,270

2,141,130
1,957,640
(2,500)
4,096,270

2,141,130
1,957,640
(2,500)
4,096,270

14,595,820

14,587,197

14,236,220

14,705,010

(7,336,340)
703,239
(703,239)
0
(519,000)
(3,660,330)
(1,346,550)
(4,383,120)
0
4,383,120
(5,080)
(1,489,760)
(238,760)

(7,512,299)
(145,993)
703,239
(703,239)
0
(709,200)
(2,608,603)
(2,620,022)
(2,347,147)
0
2,347,147
40,030
(885,980)
(145,130)

(7,480,920)
(297,769)
703,239
(703,239)
0
0
(2,645,526)
(2,659,323)
(41,821)
0
41,821
40,030
0
(75,920)

(7,553,570)
(452,565)
703,239
(703,239)
0
0
(2,683,003)
(2,699,212)
0
0
0
40,030
0
(179,280)

(14,595,820)

(14,587,197)

(13,119,427)

(13,527,600)

0

(0)

1,116,793

1,177,410

Cash Movements:
Other Virements (Transfer to Net Financing)
Transfers (from Reserves)
Inflation

Pay (Inc NI and Pay award)
Pensions
Pensions Deficit
Non-Pay
Contractual
Income

Increments
Volume Expenditure
Volume Income
Market Walk
Primrose Gardens
Strawberry Fields - Digital Office Park
Shared Services Savings and Future Developments
Garden Waste
Inflationary, Service Delivery and Cost Pressures
Review of Fees & Charges
Review of Net Financing - Capital Investment (Future Years)

TOTAL SERVICE EXPENDITURE
- Management of the Establishment
Directorate & Corporate Budgets
Net Financing Transactions:
- Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP - capital financing)
- Interest Payable - Capital Expenditure
- Net Interest/Premiums/Discounts
sub total

TOTAL EXPENDITURE
Financed By:
Council Tax - Borough
Council Tax - 1.99% increase 22/23, 23/24 & 24/25
Parish Precepts
Council Tax Parishes
Revenue Support Grant
Lower Tier Services Grant Allocation
Retained Business Rates
Government Section 31 Grants
Business Rates Exceptional Payments Reserve
Business Rates Retention Reserve
Collection Fund (Surplus)/Deficit - Business Rates
Collection Fund (Surplus)/Deficit - Council Tax
New Homes Bonus
Transfers to/(from) Earmarked Reserves

TOTAL FINANCING

Net Expenditure / Budget Gap

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9e
Agenda Page 123

Movements from 2022/23 Original Estimates

Description

Details

2022/23
Budget
Changes
£

DIRECTORATE CASH BUDGETS
Other Virements (Transfer to Net Financing)
Transfers (from Reserves)

2022/23
Budget
Changes
£

11,701,650
(288,600)
19,800
(268,800)

STAFFING

Increase in staffing costs of 2% pay award, increments, and impact on N.I. & Pension.
- Employees - Pay Awards and increased NI charges
- Employees - Pay Increments
- Impact of Pension changes for 2022/23
- Change in Pension deficit charges for 2022/23

483,020
29,050
54,710
17,000
583,780

CONTRACTS
Waste contract
Insurance Services
Energy
ICT
Misc

Inflationary increase in contract price plus property growth and vehicle replacement cost.
Reduction on Council's insurance premiums.
Misc energy increases
Misc Contract increases
Other contract changes

89,280
(77,000)
9,370
7,140
34,720
63,510

NON-PAY
Housing Benefits
Non Domestic Rates

Anticipated change in net costs of housing benefit payments.
Increase in business rates for Council offices, premises and car parks.

460
10,740
11,200

INCOME
Waste & Streetscene Services
Waste & Streetscene Services
Homelessness Grants
Misc

Reduction in income from S106 Maintenance of Public Open Spaces
Reduction in income across the service
Budget now included within baseline for this grant
Various minor changes

6,650
15,000
(100,000)
(1,190)
(79,540)

VOLUME EXPENDITURE
Leisure Services
Streetscene
Communities
Procurment
Shared Pest Control Service
Misc

Reduction in cost of Leisure Service following transfer to Chorley Leisure Limited
Match funding for 2 x new Ranger posts funded by Green Recovery fund and National Lottery
funding.
Weight Management Officer post funded by LCC contributions held in reserves.
Cessation of Fixed Term Graduate Procurement Officer post in 2022/23
Increase in cost following approval of Shared Service arrangements
Various minor changes

(230,660)
2,500
35,490
(19,570)
33,000
1,670
(177,570)

VOLUME INCOME
Market Walk
Investment Portfolio
Communications & Events

Additional Market Walk income anticipated for 2022/23
Increase in rental income as a result of phased increases in rents from commercial properties
Additional rental income from new lease for Astley Coach House.

(100,000)
(4,410)
(3,000)
(107,410)

Transformation Strategy Changes
Market Walk
Net income from Market Walk
Primrose Gardens
Increase in net income for Primrose Gardens
Strawberry Fields
Increase in net income for Strawberry Fields
Shared Services
Extending Shared Services with South Ribble BC
Shared Services - Future Developments Future Transformation and capital programme related posts
Garden Waste Charges
Increase in charges as approved in Fees and Charges Report
Inflationary, Service Delivery and Cost Pressures
Strawberry Meadows
Assumption service is operational for 3 months from January 2023
Tatton Gardens
Assumption service is operational for 6 months from October 2022
Whittle GP Surgery
Assumption of full year opening
Duxburry Golf Course
Increase in lease income to cover additional borrowing
Housing
Affordable and refugee property increases to cover borrowing

DIRECTORATE CASH BUDGETS

263,000
(44,140)
(196,240)
(165,000)
16,000
(65,000)
132,857
(141,000)
(131,270)
(173,000)
(31,000)
(52,800)

11,139,227

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX F1
CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021/22 TO 2024/25
Scheme Name

Spend
in
Total
2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Prior
Budget
Years
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
9.810
0.444
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.102
0.060
0.494
0.009
0.580
0.080
0.000
0.000
11.579

1.000
0.500
0.696
1.800
0.500
0.120
0.192
0.000
0.000
3.223
1.220
0.000
0.200
9.451

0.000
0.300
0.000
1.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
1.300

0.000
0.300
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.300

11.443
1.544
0.696
2.800
0.500
0.222
0.252
0.750
0.009
4.060
1.300
0.000
0.200
23.776

An ambitious council that does more to meet the needs of residents and the local area
Chorley Health Centre
Delivering Green Agenda
Health Hub - Whittle Surgery
ICT Networks

0.000
0.004
1.186
0.000

0.000
0.196
2.309
0.200

0.250
0.300
0.000
0.000

0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000

0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000

0.250
0.500
3.495
0.200

ICT Mobile Devices, Citrix, CCTV, Software and Cloud-based upgrades

0.000

0.100

1.020

0.000

0.000

1.120

An ambitious council that does more to meet the needs of residents and the local

1.190

2.805

1.570

0.000

0.000

5.565

Agenda Item 9f

0.633
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.256
0.000
0.257
0.000
0.000
0.000
1.146

Agenda Page 125

A strong local economy
Strawberry Meadows Development
Asset Improvements
Buckshaw Village Rail Station
Chapel St and Surrounding Public Realm
Chorley Borough Service Centres
Digital Office Park
Market Walk Extension
Markets - Works to Existing Markets
Park Rd Car Parking
Public Realm Town Centre
Town Hall and White Hart Works
Town Hall Mezzanine
Unit Above Iceland
A strong local economy

area

0.795
0.450
0.250
0.000
0.100

0.775
0.000
0.000
0.244
0.100

0.775
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.100

0.775
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.100

3.120
0.450
0.250
0.244
0.400

Leisure Centres Improvements - New Contract

0.000

0.000

2.000

0.000

0.000

2.000

Play, Recreation and Open Space Projects
Properties for Refugees
Purchase of Affordable Housing
Tatton
The Willows
Yarrow Meadows
Clean, safe and healthy homes and communities

0.000
0.000
0.622
2.038
0.000
0.000
2.659

0.503
0.130
0.879
9.000
0.000
0.000
12.107

2.423
2.070
0.000
5.112
0.000
0.000
12.724

0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.875

0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.875

2.926
2.200
1.500
16.150
0.000
0.000
29.240

Involving residents in improving their local area and equality of access for all
Astley
Bank Hall Restoration
Westway Playing Fields Sports Campus
Involving residents in improving their local area and equality of access for all

0.499
0.000
1.614
2.114

0.996
0.112
1.005
2.112

0.350
0.000
0.139
0.489

0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000

0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000

1.845
0.112
2.758
4.715

Total

7.109

28.602

24.235

2.175

1.175

63.295

The amounts identified for 2021/22 are the current forecast expenditure for the year. Some project expenditure will be re-profiled into 2022/23
as part of the preparations for year end.

Agenda Item 9f

0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000

Agenda Page 126

Clean, safe and healthy homes and communities
Chorley Adaptation Grant (Formerly DFG)
Duxburry Park Site
Land for Tree Planting
Leisure Centre Transfer
Leisure Centres Improvements

Agenda Page 127

Agenda Item 9f

CAPITAL FINANCING 2021/22 TO 2024/25

APPENDIX F2

The amounts identified for 2021/22 are the current forecast financing for the year. Some project financing
will be re-profiled into 2022/23 as part of the preparations for year end.
FINANCING

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

£m

£m

£m

£m

Total
2021/22
to
2024/25
£m

External Funding
1.367
1.413
9.527

2.819
1.534
1.776

0.000
0.000
0.775

0.000
0.000
0.775

4.186
2.946
12.852

12.307

6.129

0.775

0.775

19.985

0.815

1.795

0.000

0.000

2.611

0.210
0.300

0.000
1.000

0.000
0.000

0.000
0.000

0.210
1.300

Self- Financing Prudential Borrowing
Market Walk Extension
Strawberry Fields Digital Office Park
Affordable Housing
Refugee Properties
Whittle GP Surgery
Investment in Duxbury Site
Alker Lane site
Tatton Site

0.000
0.000
0.789
0.130
1.976
0.450
7.560
1.539

0.102
0.019
0.000
2.070
0.000
0.000
0.000
4.182

0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000

0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000

0.102
0.019
0.789
2.200
1.976
0.450
7.560
5.721

Planned Prudential Borrowing
Asset Improvements
Astley Hall and Park
Public Realm Town Centre
Works to Existing Markets
Chapel St Public Realm
Land Purchase for Tree Planting
Leisure Centres
Town Hall and White Hart
Chorley Borough Service Centres

0.234
0.783
0.580
0.500
0.000
0.250
0.100
0.080
0.000

0.500
0.350
3.223
0.000
1.800
0.000
1.344
1.220
0.500

0.300
0.000
0.000
0.000
1.000
0.000
0.100
0.000
0.000

0.300
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.100
0.000
0.000

1.334
1.133
3.803
0.500
2.800
0.250
1.644
1.300
0.500

Total Chorley Council Resources

16.296

18.106

1.400

0.400

36.202

Capital Financing Total

28.602

24.235

2.175

1.175

56.187

External Contributions
CIL
Grants
Total External Funding
Chorley Council Resources
Reserves and Revenue Contribution to
Capital
New Homes Bonus
Capital Receipts

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9f

Agenda Page 129

APPENDIX F3
Developers' Contributions 2018/19 to 2024/25
The council receives section 106 contributions from developers of housing sites throughout
the borough. Most of these contributions come with restrictions as to what they can be spent
on, the five main headings been:






Various Purposes
Affordable Housing
Transport
Environmental Improvements
Play & Open Space

The table below outlines;



what s106 and overage contributions the council has utilised in 2018/19, 2019/20
and 2020/21
what s106 and overage contributions the council forecasts to utilise in 2021/22
what s106 and overage contributions the council budgets to utilise in 2022/23,
2023/24 and 2024/25

Market Walk Extension
Buckshaw Village Railway Station
Yarrow Meadows
The Willows
Play, Recreation and Public Open
Space
Westway Playing Fields Sports
Campus
Strawberry Fields Digital Office Park
Affordable Housing
Astley Hall
Buckshaw Bus Stops
Primrose Gardens
Tatton
TOTAL

18/19
£000s
4,543
0
12
1

19/20
£000s

20/21
£000s

21/22
£000s

22/23
£000s

23/24
£000s

24/25
£000s

0
0
12
46

0
0
0
5

0
0
0
0

0
696
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

347

105

120

270

1,984

0

0

0

2

732

578

139

0

0

260
0
0
0
0
0
5,163

0
0
0
40
1,357
0
1,561

0
0
15
0
418
0
1,289

0
90
0
0
3,198
429
4,565

0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
1,495
0
4,314

It should be noted that the forecast for 2021/22 and the budget for 2022/23. 2023/24 and
2024/25 will vary over time as the project expenditure is re-profiled into following years.
Market Walk Extension
The council utilised £4.5m of contributions from developers relating to the Buckshaw Village
development to fund the development of Market Walk Extension in 2018/19. This included
part of the £5m overage claim the council received after it won a legal challenge that has
resulted in two developers being required to pay the amounts owed in full.
Buckshaw Village Railway
The figure of £696k represents what is remaining of the developer’s contribution towards the
Buckshaw Parkway railway station. A feasibility study completed by Northern Rail showing

Agenda Page 130

Agenda Item 9f

likely costs are to be significant and other funding options are to be explored to progress and
finalise design.
Play and Open Space
The majority of the number of section 106 contributions the council receives requires the
allocation to be spent on the provision of play and open space. The council’s Open Space,
Sports and Recreation Strategy 2020-2036 was approved at Executive Cabinet for
consultation on 21st January 2021, outlines which sites require funding and a programme of
projects. The contributions the council receives are ‘pooled’ together and allocated to these
specific projects.
Over £270k of S106 contributions have funded the improvements to Coronation Recreation
Ground in 2018/19 and 2019/20. Over £670k of S106 and approximately £280k of CIL is
allocated to improvements at King George V recreation ground in 2021/22. In addition there
is over £450k S.106 for Wigan Lane and an additional £450k for Jubilee Rec to be spent in
future years.
The recreation ground at Tatton is being developed as part of the wider project to enhance a
larger area around the site.
Westway Playing Fields Sports Campus
As per the report to Executive Cabinet on 13 February 2020, Chorley Council has utilised
approximately £400k of overage and over £1m of s106 to construct a first class, multi-use,
sports facility for local people. The project budget will be further supplemented by a £62k
contribution from council receipts, £400k from CIL and a £648k grant from Sports England.

Agenda Item 9f

Agenda Page 131

Affordable Housing
The council is forecast to receive contributions towards affordable housing named
‘Commuted sums’. These are contributions paid by a developer to the council where the size
or scale of a development triggers a requirement for affordable housing, but it is not possible
to achieve appropriate affordable housing on site. The council has a number of sites where
commuted sums are likely to be paid. The council approved the use of up to £6.4m of these
sums, at a General Purposes Committee meeting in June 2017, to fund the cost of the
Primrose Gardens Retirement Village. The 65 room project was initially funded through
borrowing however this is being offset by the commuted sums. The current profile of
expected commuted sums is as follows:
Agreement
Land surrounding 89 Euston Lane
Land North of Lancaster Rd
Bolton Road
Mill Hotel
Parcel N and WF Buckshaw Village
Redrow Homes East of Cuerden Farm
Ackhurst Lodge, Southport Road
Chorley Lane, Charnock Richard
Gleadhill House
TOTAL

18/19
£000s

19/20
£000s
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
817
0
0
0
0
0
540
1,357

20/21
£000s
0
0
0
0
0
331
0
87
0
418

21/22
£000s
511
2024
0
0
0
473
190
0
0
3,198

22/23
£000s
0
990
0
277
228
0
0
0
0
1,495

23/24
£000s

24/25
£000s
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

It should be noted that some of these commuted sums are estimates and that the timing of
the payments to the council is dependent upon the speed at which developments are started
and completed. It should also be noted that the list is not exhaustive and that additional
commuted sums may become available over the coming years.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
The council currently holds approximately £2.0m of unallocated CIL funding to be spent
against projects identified in the infrastructure funding statement.
Currently included in the capital programme to be funded by CIL is; £1m towards Leisure
Centre Improvements, £1.1m towards the Tatton development, £284k towards the King
George V recreation ground redevelopment, £250k towards Chorley Health Centre and
£333k remaining towards the Whittle GP surgery project including 116k Parish CIL.

Developer Contributions 2017/18 to 2022/23
The forecast receipts and use of s106 and overage contributions are outlined below –
BAL C/F

Various Purposes
Affordable Housing
Transport
Environmental Improvements
Play & Open Space

2018/19

BAL C/F

2019/20

BAL C/F

2020/21

31/03/2018

RECEIVED

UTILISED

31/03/2019

RECEIVED

UTILISED

31/03/2020

FORECAST

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

(4,802)
(971)
(1,118)
(31)
(2,482)
(9,404)

(2,582)
(308)
(185)
0
(322)
(3,397)

4,543
0
260
12
353
5,168

(2,842)
(1,279)
(1,043)
(19)
(2,451)
(7,633)

0
(971)
0
0
(455)
(1,426)

0
1,357
40
12
152
1,561

(2,842)
(893)
(1,003)
(7)
(2,755)
(7,499)

BAL C/F

2021/22

FORECAST

31/03/2021

FORECAST

RECEIVABLE

USE

£000s

£000s

£000s

0
(2,443)
0
0
(347)
(2,789)

26
418
0
5
840
1,290

(2,815)
(2,918)
(1,003)
(2)
(2,261)
(8,999)

BAL C/F

2021/22

BAL C/F

FORECAST

31/03/2022

FORECAST

RECEIVABLE

USE

£000s

RECEIVABLE

USE

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

(429)
(473)
0
0
(268)
(1,170)

1,113
3,300
0
0
249
4,663

(2,132)
(90)
(1,003)
(2)
(2,280)
(5,506)

0
(1,495)
0
0
0
(1,495)

FORECAST 31/03/2022

0
1,495
696
0
2,123
4,314

£000s

(2,132)
(90)
(307)
(2)
(156)
(2,686)

Various Purposes
The balance of £2.1m at the end of 2022/23 represents the remaining uncommitted overage as well as £0.950m uncommitted balance from the third public infrastructure payment received in 2018/19 relating to the Group 1 site.
Affordable Housing
From the balance of affordable housing contributions in 2021/22, £0.09m will be allocated to Affordable Housing when purchased.

Agenda Page 132

Play and Open Space
Allocations to the play and open space projects are continually being developed. Large schemes to be funded in 2022/23 include the King George V recreation ground, Jubilee Recreation ground and play area and Wigan Lane
playing pitch.

Agenda Item 9f

Agenda Page 133

Agenda Item 9g

APPENDIX G
CHORLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL CAPITAL STRATEGY

Introduction
1. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code
requires local authorities to provide a capital strategy to demonstrate that capital
expenditure and investment decisions are taken in line with corporate objectives and
take account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability and affordability.
Purpose
2. The capital strategy sets out the long-term context in which capital expenditure and
investment decisions are made and gives due consideration to both risk and reward an
impact on the achievement of corporate strategy priorities.
3. The capital strategy sets out a framework for the self-management of capital finance
and examines the following areas:





Capital expenditure
Treasury Management
Income Generating Activity
The future ambition of the council’s capital programme

4. The capital strategy is to be approved annually by Full Council alongside the budget
setting papers
Changes to the Strategy
5. The performance indicators included in the strategy are updated and included below
with commentary.
6. The only other proposed updates to the strategy for the 2022/23 budget will be changes
to the governance of new capital proposals, two changes have been identified:




Due to the restrictions now imposed regarding borrowing from PWLB, a new
pro forma must be completed when a project requests funding through
borrowing. This will be signed off by the S151 Officer and will ensure the
Council meets the requirements of the Government that Council’s do not
borrow solely for yield.
A more thorough evaluation of business cases is being developed to ensure
the Council fully evaluates the rewards and risks of new investments. This
was a requirement of our external auditors. It will also ensure the correct
procurement route is being followed, legal implications are correctly
considered and project milestones are identified.

Agenda Page 134

Agenda Item 9g

Capital Expenditure

7. The Council’s Capital Programme forms part of the Council’s overall financial strategy to
deliver some of its key objectives contained in the Corporate Priorities. The Capital
Programme must be affordable and based upon prudence. The current local
government financial position and the need to make revenue savings will impact on the
Council’s ability to finance further capital spending unless additional funding is secured
from external sources. The Capital Programme is constructed based upon the following
objectives.

The resources available will be targeted at areas that deliver corporate priorities as
described in the annual Corporate Strategy
Borrowing will be managed to ensure the future impact on revenue is minimised
The council will consider the purchase and/or development of assets to generate a
sustainable revenue stream to counteract against the risk of future reductions in
grant funding and year to year fluctuations in locally sourced funding; however only
where this investment supports the regeneration of the Borough.
Borrowing solely for the purpose of generating yield is no longer permissible.
The council will consider working with partners to assist them to meet both their
objectives and the council’s objectives; this must have no impact on revenue
budgets. This support may include granting loans to organisations at a rate that
generates a greater return to the council.
The council will continue to identify land to assist in delivering its affordable housing
targets.
The council will look to maximise opportunities to attract external finance to sustain
its programme of work.

Agenda Page 135

Agenda Item 9g

Governance
8. Democratic decision-making and scrutiny provide overall political direction and ensure
accountability for investment in the capital programme. These processes include:













Full Council approves the Council’s Corporate Strategy that is refreshed every year,
this strategy features numerous capital projects that are then built into the council’s
budget setting process.
The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring that a capital programme is
prepared on an annual basis for consideration by the executive before submission
to the Full Council.
Full Council approves the capital programme as well as the Treasury Management
and Investment Strategy. The revenue implications of these strategies are included
in the annual budget and Medium-Term Financial Strategy, all of which is approved
by Full Council.
Executive Cabinet receives quarterly revenue and capital monitoring reports,
approves variations (or recommends approvals to Full Council) and considers new
bids for inclusion in the capital programme.
Portfolio holders are assigned projects in line with their responsibilities
Overview and Scrutiny can call in Cabinet reports, receive and scrutinise reports
All projects progressing to the capital programme follow the constitution and
financial regulations, this includes adjustments to the projects as they progress
The capital programme is subject to internal and external audit.

9. The definition of ‘capital’ will be determined by the Chief Finance Officer, having regard
to government regulations and accounting requirements. Further information regarding
the governance of the capital programme is given in Appendix 4 of the Constitution
titled Financial Regulations & Financial Procedure Rules as approved by Full Council
on 23 July 2019.
New Capital Proposals
10. A new proposed scheme must be assigned a project manager. Standardised project
initiation documentation is used based upon Prince 2 project management
methodologies. As a result, new projects focus on the benefits it can deliver through the
measurable project outcomes, not just time and cost.
11. Business cases are created and scrutinised by the finance team to ensure all financing,
capital and revenue expenditure and income implications have been considered across
the lifecycle of the investment with appropriate levels of sensitivity analysis surrounding
key assumptions. If required, external expertise will be sought to provide specialist
support such as VAT and governance advice. Outline risk registers are included and
scrutinised by internal audit, finance and the service managers.
12. New proposals along with the business cases are reported to Senior Management
Team (SMT) to ensure schemes are compliant with the council’s overall strategic
objectives. The role of SMT is to ensure that new proposals are not considered in

Agenda Item 9g

Agenda Page 136

isolation but rather considered alongside existing schemes and other new proposals. In
doing this SMT ensures the council’s corporate priorities are driving future capital
investment. For example, the council’s Medium-term Financial Strategy includes the
ambition to create future efficiency savings, contract savings and income generation, as
well as benefit residents and local communities. Projects that are brought forward to
SMT must meet one or more of these objectives.
Affordability, Prudence and Sustainability
13. The Prudential Code requires that the Authority shall ensure that all capital expenditure,
investments and borrowing decisions are prudent and sustainable. In doing so it will
take into account its arrangements for the repayment of debt and consideration of risk
and the impact on the Council’s overall fiscal sustainability.
14. The Authority is required to make reasonable estimates of the total capital expenditure
that it plans to incur in the forthcoming financial year and at least the following two
financial years.
15. The capital programme will be reprofiled at Quarter 3 in 2021/22 and the current
position is outlined in Table 1; subject to approval at Full Council on 23 February 2022.
Table 1: Capital Programme 2021/21 to 2023/24
Directorate
A strong local economy

2021/22
£m

2022/23
£m

2023/24
£m

2024/25
£m

Total
£m

11.579

9.451

1.300

0.300

22.630

An ambitious council that does more to meet
the needs of residents and the local area
Clean, safe and healthy homes and
communities
Involving residents in improving their local area
and equality of access for all

2.805

1.570

0.000

0.000

4.375

12.107

12.724

0.875

0.875

26.581

2.112

0.489

0.000

0.000

2.601

Total Capital Expenditure

28.602

24.235

2.175

1.175

56.187

Developer Contributions (s106 & CIL)

2.780

4.353

0.000

0.000

7.133

Grants

9.527

1.776

0.775

0.775

12.852

Capital Receipts

0.300

1.000

0.000

0.000

1.300

Reserves & Revenue Contribution

0.815

1.795

0.000

0.000

2.611

New Homes Bonus

0.210

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.210

14.970

15.311

1.400

0.400

32.081

28.602

24.235

2.175

1.175

56.187

Prudential Borrowing
Total Financing

16. The Capital Expenditure Prudential Indicator (Table 1) is the platform from which most
Prudential Indicators of the Council are formed; this Prudential Indicator (PI) is
grounded in the Council’s capital programme and is a stated affordability indicator
within the Prudential Code.

Agenda Page 137

Agenda Item 9g

17. The predominantly high value projects within any capital programme means capital
expenditure is a significant source of risk for any Council; the nature of these projects
means they are often subject to cost variations, slippage or changes in specification.
18. Having established through the governance process that the capital programme is
affordable, the monitoring of agreed against actual is a key element of risk management
which this PI is designed to assist with; quarterly monitoring, using this PI as it’s
cornerstone, will help sign-post where schemes are straying from expectation either in
regard to cost or timeframe
19. A typical measure of affordability is to compare the council’s capital financing costs
(interest and MRP) to the net revenue stream (council tax, business rates, revenue
support grant and new homes bonus income). An increasing percentage would mean a
greater proportion of the council’s funding being used to meet its debt. Table 2 provides
a modified version of this ratio that also includes the net income generated through
investing in income generating assets. It is correct to include this income in the net
income stream as borrowing has been used to part-fund these investments. An analysis
of this ratio is given below:
Table 2: Capital Financing/Net Revenue Stream
2022/23
£m

2023/24
£m

2024/25
£m

3.405

3.662

3.701

Council Tax

(7.472)

(7.441)

(7.514)

Business Rates including grants for reliefs

(5.229)

(5.305)

(5.382)

Lower Tier Services Grant Allocation

(0.709)

0.000

0.000

New Homes Bonus

(0.886)

0.000

0.000

(14.296)

(12.746)

(12.896)

Net Income* - Market Walk

(1.765)

(1.776)

(1.775)

Other Property including land and garages

(0.553)

(0.556)

(0.558)

Net Income* – Primrose Retirement

(0.307)

(0.303)

(0.301)

Net Income* – Strawberry Fields Digital Office

(0.146)

(0.292)

(0.289)

Net Income* – Logistics House

(1.646)

(1.645)

(1.644)

Net Income* – Strawberry Meadows

(0.141)

(0.725)

(0.725)

Net Income* – Tatton

(0.179)

(0.330)

(0.330)

Net Income* - Whittle Surgery

(0.173)

(0.173)

(0.173)

Net Income from Asset Investments

(4.910)

(5.800)

(5.796)

Adjusted Net Revenue Stream

(19.206)

(18.546)

(18.691)

Capital Financing/Net Revenue Stream
23.82%
28.73%
*Excludes borrowing costs that are included in the first line of the table

28.70%

MRP and Interest

Funding

Agenda Page 138

Agenda Item 9g

20. Table 2 gives a proposed performance indicator regarding the affordability of the
council’s capital strategy. It should be noted however that this indicator will increase
due to reductions in Government funding such as the elimination of New Homes Bonus
and Services Grant allocation in 2023/24.
21. Table 2 highlights that the annual cost of borrowing is due to be £3.701m by 2024/25. It
also outlines the additional income (net of running costs) that most of this borrowing will
generate, income is expected to increase from £4.910m in 2022/23 to £5.796m in
2024/25. Included in the income figures are estimated income levels for future
investments such as the development of units at Strawberry Meadows as well as
investment at Tatton. All forecast income is set at a prudent level. The opportunities and
risks regarding the council’s investment in income generating assets is analysed further
in the ‘Income Generating Activity’ section of this report.

Prudence

22. The Code also states that “In order to ensure that over the medium term net debt will
only be for a capital purpose, the local authority should ensure that net debt does not,
except in the short term, exceed the total of the capital financing requirement in the
preceding year plus the estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for the
current and next two financial years.” This is a key indicator of prudence.
Table 3: Capital Financing Requirement 2020/21 to 2023/24

Opening Capital Financing Requirement
Increase in capital financing requirement
Provision made for debt repayments
Closing Capital Financing Requirement

2022/23
£m

2023/24
£m

2024/25
£m

103.027

116.842

116.460

15.311

1.400

0.400

(1.495)
116.843

(1.782)
116.460

(1.845)
115.015

23. As such there is a requirement to ensure that net debt (the sum of borrowing and other
long-term liabilities, net of investments) in 2022/23 does not, except in the short term,
exceed £116.843.
24. The increase in debt outlined in Table 3 must be considered alongside the additional
borrowing costs and income generated. Below are two charts that analyse this further.

Agenda Item 9g

Agenda Page 139

Chart 1: Council Debt – Capital Financing Requirement

Capital Financing Requirement and Borrowing
120
100

£m

80
60
40
20
0
16/17

17/18

18/19

19/20
CFR

20/21

21/22

22/23

23/24

24/25

Borrowing

25. The council’s capital financing requirement in 2016/17 was approximately £40m with
£23m of this relating to the purchase of Market Walk Shopping Centre. The
requirement then gradually rises as developments such as Market Walk Extension,
Primrose Gardens and Strawberry Fields begin construction. Finally, the CFR rises to
over £100m, mainly due to the £33m purchase of the Logistics House site as well as
borrowing to fund other large capital projects that will generate income for the council.
26. As demonstrated by Chart 1 the council has been significantly underborrowed in
recent years and is forecast to continue this over the medium term. Future borrowing is
expected to take place in the coming year that will reduce the gap between the CFR
and actual borrowing.
Chart 2: Annual Income and Annual Borrowing Costs

Annual Income and Borrowing Costs
7.000
6.000
5.000

£m

4.000
3.000
2.000
1.000
0.000

Forecast MRP

Forecast Interest

Total Borowing Costs

Income from Investments

Agenda Page 140

Agenda Item 9g

27. The increase in debt is mirrored by an increase in borrowing however Chart 2 also
emphasises how income from investments grows as well. The income from
investments is net of running costs and so the gap between the total borrowing and
income can be viewed as the council’s annual return from borrowing. The gap between
these lines grows from £1m to over £2m, this is due to the increase in rent that is
expected from the lease of the Logistics House site. This increase is the minimum
inflationary increase built into the 15-year lease and is therefore deemed a prudent
estimate.
28. It is proposed that the gap between total borrowing and income is included as a
performance indicator in the capital strategy. As other councils do not publish this data
it will not be possible to benchmark this performance indicator however the council can
monitor this over time to provide assurance regarding the overall affordability of its
investments. Table 4 highlights income from investments will continue to exceed
borrowing costs by an increasing margin.
Table 4: Borrowing in Excess of Investment Income
2022/23
£m

2023/24
£m

2024/25
£m

MRP and Interest

3.405

3.662

3.701

Net Income from Asset Investments

(4.910)

(5.800)

(5.796)

Net Income in excess of Borrowing Costs

(1.505)

(2.138)

(2.094)

Agenda Page 141

Agenda Item 9g

Income Generating Activity
29. This section outlines the investment in assets that has been made or will be made in
the coming years that are forecast to generate net revenue to the council in the medium
to long term. These investments however are made for purposes other than purely
generating a yield including economic regeneration, job creation, improvements to
housing standards and improving residents’ enjoyment of the town centre.
30. The council has many assets that generate net income, these are summarised below.
Table 5: Summary of Net Income from Existing Assets
2022/23
£m

2023/24
£m

2024/25
£m

Market Walk Shopping Centre

(0.851)

(0.862)

(0.861)

Other Property including land and garages

(0.553)

(0.556)

(0.558)

0.023

(0.124)

(0.121)

Primrose Gardens

(0.129)

(0.125)

(0.123)

Logistics House

(0.434)

(0.433)

(0.432)

0.000

(0.352)

(0.352)

Tatton

(0.179)

(0.330)

(0.330)

Whittle Surgery

(0.026)

(0.026)

(0.026)

Total Net Income

(2.150)

(2.808)

(2.803)

Gross Directorate Budgets Chorley Council

16.627

17.286

17.281

% Net Income to Gross Directorate Budgets

12.93%

16.24%

16.22%

Directorate

Strawberry Fields

Strawberry Meadows

31. The council’s gross directorate budgets are funded by up to 16% through the income
generated by these assets. This percentage will increase as the council is investing in
new income generating assets to broaden its investment portfolio and mitigate the
impact that austerity is having on the services received by its residents. The
performance indicator has increased since February 2021 due to increased income
being realised in the future from Strawberry Meadows and Tatton projects.
32. It is important therefore to analyse the risk associated with the income assumed in the
budget.

Agenda Page 142

Agenda Item 9g

Occupancy Levels
33. The occupancy levels assumed in income figures Table 5 are deemed prudent based
on the current information regarding these sites, they are summarised below:
Table 6: Budgeted Occupancy Rates
2021/22

2022/23

Market Walk Shopping Centre

90%

95%

95%

95%

Market Walk Extension

85%

90%

95%

95%

Primrose Gardens

100%

100%

100%

100%

Strawberry Fields

85%

90%

95%

95%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Logistics House

2023/24

2024/25



The existing Market Walk Shopping Centre is forecast to be 90% occupied in
2021/22, however occupancy is predicted to increase in 2022/23 onwards. The
budget is updated throughout the year to manage any changes in rents from
lease renewals. Any large in-year decreases in rent will be managed by the
income equalisation reserve that stands at £466k in 2021/22. To date the net
income budget has been reduced to account for reductions in rent that have been
negotiated during the pandemic.



Primrose Garden’s occupancy is expected to remain at 100%.



The occupancy rates at Strawberry Fields Digital Office Park are forecast to
increase as internal remodelling takes place, making smaller units which are
more attractive to business start-ups.



The council has a 15 year of the Logistics House site and the current tenant has
a very strong financial standing. As such the occupancy rate is assumed to be
100%, the council will set aside £450k reserve to manage the site.

34. The interest rates assumed in the models are based on current PWLB rates accessible
to the council. As the majority of the schemes are now operational, an increase in
interest rates will not affect the returns on these investments. Increases in interest rates
will however change the forecast borrowing in future years. The borrowing forecast
assumes an additional £16m of borrowing over the coming four years. A 1% increase in
the PWLB rate would increase borrowing costs by £160k per annum
35. When completed all assets are brought into the council’s year-end valuation cycle. All
assets are valued at least every 5 years however assets will be valued if there is reason
to believe its value may have changed by a material amount. The following assets are
valued every year:

Agenda Page 143






Agenda Item 9g

Market Walk Shopping Centre and Extension
Primrose Gardens Retirement Village
Strawberry Fields Digital Office Park
Logistics House site

36. These assets will be valued to allow the council to compare the values of each asset to
the level of outstanding debt per asset. Officers take advice from qualified RICS
surveyors regarding all valuations.
37. The council holds a £4.3m unallocated general fund reserve that is in place to manage
unforeseen expenditure or a fall in forecast income. The council’s major projects, such
as the existing Market Walk shopping centre, include a maintenance budget to manage
day-to-day as well as larger scale repairs and maintenance.

Risk Appetite

38. A key element of the Capital Strategy is to define what Chorley Council’s risk appetite.
Chorley Borough Council is exposed to a number of investment and commercial risks:
 Financial risk relating to the investment of cash, market volatility, currency
markets, etc
 Economic risk relating to whether the local / national economy is growing or
contracting
 Counterparty risk relating to investments, loans to third parties and business
transactions
 Operational risk arising from transactions
 Strategic risk relating to the decisions taken by the council in pursuit of its
corporate objectives, i.e. the purchase of major new assets.
 Reputational risk relating to the adverse impact of the council’s dealings
 Environmental and social risks arising from the adverse impact of investments
 Governance risk relating to the transparency and accountability of decisions and
decision-makers.
39. The Council has no appetite for reputational, governance and foreign currency risk.
Its approach to other risks is as follows:


Financial – subject to full due diligence and appropriate external advice the council
will have a moderate risk appetite for investment / expenditure on a range of asset
classes, property and longer-term investments. Security and liquidity will be
appropriate for the type of investment made. Income generation will prevail over
capital appreciation. The Council will have no appetite for volatile or emerging
market sector investments.



Economic – The council will have a high-risk appetite for appropriate investments /
expenditure in the Borough, it has no risk appetite for investments outside the
Borough. The council will have a low appetite for interest rate risk exposure. The

Agenda Page 144

Agenda Item 9g

key challenge for 2022/23 will be to restore economic activity and commercial
income in the wake of the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic. “Growth” remains an
ambition, however “recovery” is the primary focus.


Counterparty – the council will have a high appetite for highly rated counterparties
and financial institutions and a low appetite for unsecured non-investment debt. All
investments will be subject to careful due diligence and an assessment of the
Council’s corporate priorities and liquidity profile.



Operational – the council will have a low risk appetite for all operational risk arising
from factors such as: price errors, administrative errors, IT security, etc. Specific
business risks are identified at business unit level and business continuity plans
identify and mitigate as appropriate. There is no appetite for fraud, regulatory
breaches and exceeding approved limits.



Strategic – The council will have a high appetite for investments which further its
corporate priorities, increase revenue streams and / or facilitate the efficient and
effective delivery of core service objectives,



Environmental and social – the council will have no appetite for environmental
and social risk.

Knowledge and Skills
40. The council has professionally qualified staff across a range of disciplines including
finance, legal and property that follow continuous professional development (CPD) and
attend courses on an ongoing basis to keep abreast of new developments and skills.
The council establishes project teams from all the professional disciplines from across
the council as and when required. External professional advice is taken where required
and will always be sought in consideration of any major commercial property investment
decision.
41. Internal and external training is offered to members to ensure they have up to date
knowledge and expertise to understand and challenge capital and treasury decisions
taken by the Director of Finance.

Significant Schemes Currently Being Delivered

42. Astley Hall and Park Development – Approximately £1.8m has been invested in the
total site resulting in major improvements to the building that will improve the visitor
experience when it opens in April 2022. This includes the creation of a museum shop
to help the site become more sustainable.

Agenda Page 145

Agenda Item 9g

43. Play and Open Spaces - The £3m budget has been reprofiled to better reflect
forecast expenditure across 2021/22 and 2022/23. The council also committed an
additional £92k of expenditure (“Spruce the Parks”), funded through S106 and
reserves, to further improve sites such as new play equipment, enhanced lighting,
safety surfacing and wildflower planting at different sites throughout the borough. In
the 2022/23 budget an additional £200k has been identified to make improvements to
sites within the Borough that are not owned by the council.
44. Whittle Surgery – work on the site is almost complete and will provide a brand new
£3.2m doctors surgery to improve the capacity for health services in the area. In
addition, a new £300k parish building will also be developed on the site. The project
will generate a small net income to the council from the GP surgery as well as rental
from the parish council.
45. Tatton Development – Works on site for a new extra care facility are due to complete
in late 2023. A detailed update on this scheme went to Council on 20 July 2021
increasing the budget to £16.150m which is part funded through the successful bid to
the Lancashire Enterprise Partnership (LEP) for an additional £5.2m funding from
Government.
46. Strawberry Meadows – Completion of this £11m project is due to complete in early
2022/23. An update was taken to Council on 16 November 2021. The proposal for the
site is that it is all let rather than selling some of the units. There is significant interest
across the site, this will encourage investment in local business and local employment
whilst also generating a net surplus to the council from its investment.
47. Public Realm / Town Centre - As outlined in the budget, Chorley Council will continue
its commitment to deliver the town centre masterplan with £4m set aside in the budget
to achieve this. The vacant bingo hall and adjacent offices were demolished during
2021/22 to provide additional car parking and future public space.
48. Westway Playing Fields – The site opened in 2021 providing a first-class sports
facility to Chorley Borough. Total investment of £2.7m was funded through CIL and
s106 contributions as well as a £647k grant from the football foundation.

Chorley Council’s Future Capital Investment Ambition
49. The council’s ambition to invest within the borough stretches beyond the time scales of
its approved capital programme. The council will invest to deliver efficiency saving,
generate additional income to be reinvested in services and invest to support local
residents and communities. Future ambitions of the council’s capital programme are
outlined further below.
Investment Sites
50. The council currently has two remaining sites that have been identified as a priority to
bring forward for employment, Land East of Wigan Road and Cowling Farm site. Site

Agenda Page 146

Agenda Item 9g

investigations and assessments are being undertaken and option appraisals are being
developed to model how the sites can be developed. The cost of developing the sites
will be met through an income generation reserve.
Investing to Generate Efficiency Savings
51. The council’s Medium-Term Financial Strategy identifies a further £1.178m revenue
budget efficiency savings to be realised by 2024/25. These savings will come through
reduced revenue budgets and additional income generation. The council’s Corporate
Strategy recognises the need to invest in services to deliver these savings. These
investments will include the following:
52. The council has approved a capital budget of £1.1m for investment in its ICT
infrastructure. Capital investment is necessary to keep pace with the changing
demands in technology and enable delivery of the councils Shared Digital Strategy and
Workplace Strategy. The investment will replace outdated CCTV infrastructure and
expand internet connectivity to improve the security of the council’s new commercial
buildings.
53. Developing the ICT strategy sits alongside other investment by the council in its
infrastructure. Through the WorkSmart programme the council’s ambition is to
consolidate its portfolio of offices to reduce costs and improve efficiency across its
services. To do this the council set aside £1.3m to modernise its customer services
centre and improve the efficiency and commercial income of its office portfolio.
54. The council’s Housing Strategy outlined the council’s commitment to improve the quality
of housing, to meet the changing needs of our residents and to rebalance the housing
market. The council manages a wide portfolio of housing including sheltered
accommodation, affordable housing and extra care. To build on this success the council
continues to invest in affordable housing across the borough.
55. Green agenda – £500k has been allocated in the 2022/23 budget to deliver the
council’s ambition to become carbon neutral by 2030.
56. Leisure Centre – the council now manages its leisure centres and is investing in
renovating sites to improve the customer experience as well as maximising the
commercial income to the council. The capital budget includes £1m of CIL funding to
enable the council to continue to invest in its leisure services.
57. The investment outlined above emphasises the council’s ambition to utilise capital
expenditure to drive forward efficiencies as well as commercial opportunities for the
benefit of its residents and council tax payers. Further opportunities are and will be
considered with funding identified to continue this ambition.

Agenda Page 147

Agenda Item 9g

Recommendations
58. It is recommended that the prudential indicators outlined in Table 7 are approved as
part of the 2022/23 budget.
59. It should be noted that these performance indicators are specific to Chorley Council
due both to its composition of funding and its unique level of commercial activity. As
such these cannot be benchmarked effectively against other council’s indicators. The
indicators can however be monitored over time. As such it is proposed that these
performance indicators will be monitored, reported and, where necessary adjusted,
every six months. They will be reported to Governance Committee and Full Council.
Table 7 – Prudential Indicators 2022/23 to 2024/25
Indicator
Estimated Capital Expenditure (Table 1) £m

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
28.602

24.235

2.175

Capital Financing/Net Revenue Stream (Table 2) £m

23.82%

28.73%

28.70%

Forecast Capital Financing Requirement (Table 3) £m

116.843 116.460 115.015

Investment Income in Excess of Borrowing (Table 4)
£m

(1.505)

(2.138)

(2.094)

% Net Income to Gross Directorate Budgets (Table 5)

12.93%

16.24%

16.22%

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Page 149

Agenda Item 9i
APPENDIX I

PAY POLICY 2022/23
POLICY STATEMENT
1.

INTRODUCTION

Under Chapter 8 of the Localism Act 2011 Local Authorities in England and Wales were
required to produce a pay policy statement for 2012/13 and for each financial year
thereafter, and must do so with regard to any guidance from the Secretary of State for
Communities and Local Government.
Additional information is also reported in compliance with The Equality Act 2010 (Gender
Pay Gap Information) Regulations 2017 (Policy Procedure paragraph 6).
In addition, this Policy must be agreed and signed off by the Full Council and be publically
available.

2.

POLICY OBJECTIVE

The purpose of the Pay Policy is to provide transparency with regard to the Council’s
approach to the setting of pay for all its employees and therefore identifies:






3.

The methods by which salaries of all employees are determined
The details and levels of remuneration and any other benefits of the Council’s most
senior staff.
The relationship between the remuneration of its most senior staff and other staff
within the Council.
Details relating to the Council’s lowest paid staff.
Who is responsible for ensuring that the Pay Policy is consistently complied with
throughout the Council.

CHORLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL’S RESPONSIBILITY

It is the Council’s responsibility to ensure that:




4.

A policy is produced for each financial year.
The policy is publically available through its website.
The policy is applied fairly and consistently and complies with all relevant legislation.

OUTCOMES

The aim of the policy is to ensure that the Council’s approach to determining the
remuneration of all its employees is fair and transparent.

1

Agenda Page 150

Agenda Item 9i

POLICY PROCEDURE
1.

SCOPE

The pay policy covers the remuneration of all employees of the Council including temporary
employees. Individuals engaged through employment agency arrangements would also be
covered by the policy in compliance with the Agency Workers Regulations 2010.

2.

PAY STRUCTURE

The Council uses the nationally negotiated pay spine (i.e. a defined list of salary points) as
the basis for its local pay structure, and originally incorporated at the top of the spine a
further 17 salary points for senior posts within the Council, though not all these points were
being used. The Council also adheres to the national pay bargaining arrangements in
respect of increases to the national pay spine.
The Employers side of the NJC for Local Government Services made a final pay offer of
1.75% for all spinal column points within Chorley Council’s pay spine, however, this has
been rejected by the employee side Trade Unions and therefore negotiations will continue.
Consequently, the pay spine will remain unchanged from 2020/21 as reported in last years’
Pay Policy, until such time as any pay award is agreed.
The agreed National pay spine for 2020/21 is detailed at the end of this Policy and all
salaries within the Pay Policy are those which were effective from 01 April 2020 and will
remain unchanged until any nationally agreed pay award is agreed as detailed above.
Chorley Council has also made inactive for 2020/21, all the spinal column points which were
implemented above the national pay spine, as these were no longer used and this continues
to be the case.
This pay spine is used to determine the salaries of all Council employees apart from the
Chief Executive, Directors and Service Leads which are addressed separately within this
policy. All posts, apart from the Chief Executive, Directors and Service Leads, have been
evaluated using the nationally agreed Job Evaluation Scheme, from which the current
grading structure was established. The scheme takes into account the need to ensure value
for money balanced with the requirement to recruit and retain employees who are able to
meet the needs of the service.
The grading of the majority of the posts within Chorley Council was established following the
culmination of the Single Status Job Evaluation process in October 2007. New posts and
posts which changed significantly are evaluated in accordance with the same Single Status
Job Evaluation Scheme.
The Council also has a process by which it could consider paying market supplements
where there have been difficulties in recruiting to the post and there is a general industry
shortage which has led to comparable posts within other Councils being considerably higher.
All market supplements would have to be agreed with the Human Resources Services
Manager and the relevant Director and are reviewed regularly.

2

Agenda Page 151

Agenda Item 9i

There is currently four instances where the Council pays a market supplement, in order to
secure the services of a Director of Finance, qualified Financial accountant, ICT Shared
Service Lead and a Planning Coordinator, all posts of established high market demand.
All other pay related allowances are the subject of either nationally or locally negotiated
rates, having been determined from time to time in accordance with collective bargaining
machinery.

3.

SHARED SERVICES

There are a number of service areas which are shared between Chorley Borough Council
and South Ribble Borough Council detailed below:
 Communications and Visitor Economy
 Transformation & Partnerships
 IT Services
 Customer Services
 Audit and Risk
 Legal Services
 Financial Services
 Customer & Digital
 Democratic, Scrutiny & Electoral Services
In order to amalgamate services from the different Councils it was necessary to implement a
new pay structure, still based upon the nationally negotiated pay spine, for employees from
both Councils to be paid in accordance with. A copy of the new pay structure is at the end of
this policy. In order to ensure equality for employees from each Council, employees on
levels 10 to 17 receive an additional 6% of salary in lieu of access to the lease car scheme
for which former Chorley Council employees previously had access to. Chorley Council
employees who transferred to the Shared Services Pay structure with a lease car agreement
in place will retain their lease car for the period of any current agreement (3 years) and
would then no longer have access to the scheme and will move onto the 6% travel
allowance. For details of the lease car scheme refer to section 6.

3.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

4.

LEISURE SERVICES

Employees who were employed by Chorley Council who were engaged on the Leisure
Services Contracts for Chorley, were all TUPE transferred to Chorley Leisure Services with
effect from 1 August 2021. The employees are no longer employed by Chorley Council and
therefore they are not included within the Pay Policy Statement for Chorley Council.

5.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

The Localism Act refers to Chief Officers and Deputies, though it should be noted that the
definition is very broad and relates to Metropolitan and County Council’s as well as much
smaller District Council’s with far fewer management levels, such as Chorley Council.
Therefore, for the purpose of this policy, senior management is determined by those officers
who are paid in accordance with the Chief Officer and Chief Executive National Conditions of
Service, i.e.:
 The Chief Executive
 Deputy Chief Executive

3

Agenda Page 152








Agenda Item 9i

Director (Customer & Digital)
Director (Commercial Services)
Director of Finance - S151 Officer
Director (Governance) – Monitoring Officer
Director (Communities)
Director (Planning and Development)

Senior Management pay increases
The JNC for Chief Executives and the JNC for Chief Officers negotiate the pay awards for
these employees and the employers side have offered a full and final pay settlement of
1.5%, which the Staff Sides of both groups have rejected. Therefore, the levels of
remuneration will remain at the 2020/21 levels until any agreement is reached, and
consideration is given to the pay award in light of the current levels of remuneration for
senior management, though not necessarily increased in line with it.
Chief Executive
Prior to the appointment of a Chief Executive, Full Council will determine the salary of the
post to be advertised. Appointment to the post is undertaken by the Shared Services Joint
Appointment Panel, the membership of which is agreed annually by Full Council, and the
panel would make a recommendation to appoint which must be then approved by Full
Council.
The level of salary for the Chief Executive, who is the Head of Paid Services, was set by the
Council at £145,000. The Chief Executive has responsibility for both Chorley Borough
Council and South Ribble Borough Council, and the salary was set to reflect those
responsibilities, and the post is currently employed by South Ribble Borough Council.
This figure is a single spot point and therefore there is no incremental progression. The
salary was effective from 1 April 2020 and will continue until agreement of the pay award for
2021/22 has been agreed and consideration of the award is given, as detailed above.

The Chief Executive will also take on the role of Returning Officer for any Local, National and
European elections, payment for which will be in accordance with the statutory calculation.
Any fees earned through the role of Chief Executive or in respect of intellectual property
gained through the role of Chief Executive would be payable to the Council. Furthermore,
the Chief Executive would not normally be entitled to undertake any other gainful
employment.
Professional fees, where membership of a particular professional organisation is required by
the council for the Chief Executive to carry out the full role of the post, will be reimbursed.
Comparison of the Chief Executive salary level to the median salary level within Chorley
Council (required under the Localism Act 2011). The median figure excludes casual
employees who are only employed on an ad hoc or occasional basis.
Chief Executive Salary
(including lease car
contribution)

Median salary (SCP 17)

Ratio

£145,000

£24,491

1:5.9

4

Agenda Page 153

Agenda Item 9i

Deputy Chief Executive
Prior to the appointment of any Director, Full Council will determine the salary of the post to
be advertised. Appointment to the post is undertaken by the Shared Service Appointment
Panel, with the final appointment agreed by Full Council.
The level of salary for the Deputy Chief Executive is a single spot salary of £102,750
This amount is reviewed in accordance with any pay award settlement for Chief Officers,
though not necessarily increased in line with any award. As this figure is a single spot point
there is no incremental progression. However, the rate of pay would be reviewed in light of
any national agreements relating to pay awards under the Chief Officers Conditions of
Service.
The level of pay for the Deputy Chief Executive was set with regard to:
 The post works across Chorley Council and South Ribble Borough Council with
whom we have a number of shared services which are expanding.
 The wide range of functions which the Deputy Chief Executive is responsible for.
 Market analysis of similar posts within other local authorities.
 Deputising function for the Chief Executive.
Should the Deputy Chief Executive or the other Directors detailed below participate in any of
the electoral processes, then a relevant payment would be made, from monies received for
carrying out elections, depending upon the role which they undertook.
Any fees earned through the role of Deputy Chief Executive or the other Directors detailed
below or in respect of intellectual property gained through their role of Director would be
payable to the Council. Furthermore, the Deputy Chief Executive or the other Directors
detailed below would not normally be entitled to undertake any other gainful employment.
Comparison of the Deputy Chief Executive level to the median salary level within Chorley
Council (required under the Localism Act 2011). The median figure excludes casual
employees who are only employed on an ad hoc or occasional basis.
Deputy Chief Executive
Salary (including lease car
contribution)

Median salary (SCP 17)

Ratio

£102,750

£24,491

1:4.2

Directors
As detailed within Section 3, Chorley Council has a number of shared services with South
Ribble Borough Council. All the Director employed by Chorley Council have responsibility for
services across the two Councils. Similarly, the Director of Communities, Director of
Planning and Development and Director of Governance, similarly have responsibility across
the two councils and as they are employed by South Ribble Borough Council (SRBC),
details of their remuneration is contained within the SRBC pay policy.

5

Agenda Page 154

Agenda Item 9i

Directors employed by Chorley Council
 Director (Customer and Digital)
 Director (Commercial Services)
 Director of Finance
Prior to the appointment of any Director Full Council will determine the salary of the post to
be advertised. Appointment to the post is undertaken by the Shared Services Joint
Appointment Panel, the membership of which is agreed annually by Full Council.
The level of salary for all the Directors are all single spot salaries. Details of the annual
salaries are shown below:




Director (Customer and Digital) – salary band of £75,000 to £80,000 (plus a
supplement of £10,000 for undertaking the responsibility of the Senior Information
Risk Officer (SIRO) for both Chorley and South Ribble Borough Councils)
Director (Commercial Services) - salary band of £75,000 to £80,000.
Director of Finance – £75,000 plus an annual market supplement of £7,500

These amounts are reviewed in accordance with any pay award settlement for Chief
Officers, though not necessarily increased in line with any award. The rate of pay would be
reviewed in light of any national agreements relating to pay awards under the Chief Officers
Conditions of Service, as detailed above.
The level of pay for the Directors was set with regard to:
 The wide range of functions which the Directors are responsible for.
 Market analysis of similar posts within other local authorities.
 Further details regarding the rationale for the specific Director posts is at the end of
this policy.
Comparison of the Directors salary levels to the median salary level within Chorley Council
(required under the Localism Act 2011). The median figure excludes casual employees who
are only employed on an ad hoc or occasional basis.
Director Salary (including Median salary
Ratio
lease car contribution)
(SCP 17)
Director of Customer &
Digital
£75,000
- £24,491
£90,000
Director
of
Commercial
Services £75,000 - £24,491
£80,000
Director of Finance £82,500
including
market £24,491
supplement

1:3.7 (at maximum of salary
band and including SIRO
responsibility)
1:3.3 (at maximum of salary
band)
1:3.4

Professional fees, where membership of a particular professional organisation is required
by the Director to carry out the full role of the post will be reimbursed. Only the Director of
Finance will have their professional fees reimbursed and the postholder must be a member
of the CCAB or CIMA in order to carry out the full role of the post.
Service Leads
6

Agenda Page 155

Agenda Item 9i

Reporting directly to the relevant Director are eight Service Leads and a Deputy Director of
Finance employed by Chorley Council, some of whom are responsible for a shared services
with South Ribble Borough Council (SRBC). Details of their remuneration and shared service
status is below:
Service Lead

Shared services Salary
Ratio to median
with South Ribble
salary
of
Borough Council
£24,491
Shared Service Lead ICT
Yes
£61,500 including 1:2.5
market
supplement
Shared
Service
Lead Yes
£61,650
1:2.5
Transformation
&
Partnerships
Shared
Service
Lead yes
£58,000
1:2.4
Customer Services
Deputy Director of Finance
Yes
£61,650
1:2.5
Service Lead Planning
No*
£56,882
1:2.3
Service
Lead
Spatial No*
£56,882
1:2.3
Planning
Service Lead Communities
No*
£54,663
1:2.2
Service Lead Commercial & No*
£54,663
1:2.2
Assets
Service Lead Development No*
£54,663
1:2.2
& Business
* These services are not currently shared, however, the postholders do report to a Shared
Director.
The level of pay for the Service Leads was set with regard to:





6.

The wide range of functions which the Directors are responsible for.
Market analysis of similar posts within other local authorities.
Those posts which work across Chorley Council and South Ribble Borough Council.
Further details regarding the rationale for the specific Service Lead posts is at the
end of this policy.

OTHER CONDITIONS RELATING TO SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND OTHER
EMPLOYEES

Pension Arrangements
All permanent and temporary employees, including senior management, are entitled to join
the Local Government Pension Scheme if they so wish. No alternative options are available
should employees not wish to join the scheme.
Enhancements to employee’s pension entitlements will not normally be provided for any
Council employee, unless there are exceptional circumstances.
Performance Related Pay

7

Agenda Page 156

Agenda Item 9i

Chorley Council does not have any scheme relating to performance related pay for any
employees including Senior Management.
Bonuses
Chorley Council does not have any schemes relating to the payment of bonuses for any
employees including Senior Management, and therefore none are received.
Payments on the termination of employment
An employee being made redundant would receive a payment in accordance with the
Council’s Redundancy Policy which is applicable to all permanent and temporary
employees. Payments are based upon the statutory redundancy ready reckoner and the
employee’s actual weekly wage with no automatic further enhancements to redundancy
payments. Additional payments may be considered in exceptional circumstances.
Adherence will be made to any restriction of public sector exit payments that may be
implemented during the period of this Pay Policy Statement.
Senior Managers returning to Chorley Council
The Relevant Appointment Panel would consider applications from former Senior Managers
of either Chorley Council or another local authority who received either a redundancy
payment or who was in receipt of a Local Government Pension, to determine whether it
would be appropriate to appoint them to a Senior Management post within Chorley Council.
Professional Subscriptions
A number of employees are members of professional organisations in connection with their
employment at the Council though membership is not essential to enable them to undertake
their duties on behalf of the Council. Therefore, it is the policy of the Council to only pay for
an employee’s subscription to a professional organisation where they have a statutory
responsibility.
Health care
Chorley Council pays for all employees, including the senior managers detailed within this
policy, to have level 1 access to a Health Care Plan, if they so wish. For all those employees
participating in the scheme the value of the benefit is £66 per employee per annum. Anyone
wanting to increase the level of cover, or include partners or spouses on the Health Care
Plan must pay any additional premium themselves, through their salary.
Car lease scheme
Employees on all Principal Officer (PO) grades can access the car lease scheme which
provides a 7.5% of salary contribution to a vehicle. This scheme cannot be accessed by
employees within the Shared Services roles, who receive a salary enhancement in lieu of it.
Reservists Leave
The Council will grant up to an additional 10 days (pro-rata for part-time employees) of paid
leave per annum to employees who are Reservists under the ‘Special Leave for Public
Duties’ to attend military training and annual camp.

NSION ARRANGEME
TS
8

Agenda Page 157

7.

Agenda Item 9i

LOWEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Lowest Paid Employees
At a meeting of the Council on the 8th January 2013, Chorley Council adopted the “Living
Wage Foundation” rates for all its employees, excluding apprentices (see below), to address
the issue of low pay. The Living Wage Foundation, which is a national body, established and
annually updates what it considered to be a “living wage” which is an hourly rate and is
currently £9.90 for outside London. The rate is set by the Centre for Research in Social
Policy and is based upon what it considers to be the basic cost of living to provide a
minimum income standard. This compares with the National Living Wage which is currently
£8.91 per hour for employees aged 23 and over, rising to £9.50 in April 2022.
The minimum points of Scale 1 of £9.43 and £9.63 per hour are still below the Foundation
Living Wage despite the last national pay awards providing greater increases to the bottom
points of the pay scale in order to address the Government proposals relating to the National
Minimum wage. Work was previously undertaken by the Council in light of its commitment to
the Living Wage Foundation rates, to redesign existing scale 1 posts to give them greater
responsibilities which subsequently meant that they were re-evaluated under the national
scheme detailed previously, to scale 2 and therefore remain above the Living Wage
Foundation rates with some headroom for future increases in the Living Wage Foundation
rates.
Therefore, all posts within Chorley Council, excluding apprentices, are paid at scale 2 as a
minimum.
Salary range for Scale 2
Point

Annual salary

Hourly rate

4
5

£18,933
£19,312

£10.02
£10.22

Progression through the grade is by annual increments until the maximum of the scale is
reached.
The bottom of scale 2 is higher than the current Living Wage Foundation rate of £9.90 per
hours, to be implemented no later than April 2022, but this does give some headroom for
future increases to the rate which is generally greater than increases to the National Living
Wage rate.

Apprenticeships
There are a number of apprentices currently employed by Chorley Council, within
Streetscene, Finance, ICT, Corporate Support and Customer, Services. With effect from 1st
April 2014 the Council agreed that apprentices should receive the current National Minimum
Wage relating to their age. With effect from 1st April 2022 the new minimum wage rates are
detailed below:Under 18

£4.81 per hour

18 - 20

£6.83 per hour

21 - 22

£9.18 per hour
9

Agenda Page 158

23 and over

Agenda Item 9i

£9.50 per hour

Apprenticeships are usually employed for a fixed period of 2 years. It is difficult to ascertain
the exact cost of the minimum wage for all apprentices as it depends upon the age profile
and date of birth of the apprentices at any given time, as the rate can vary by up to £4.69 per
hour.

8.

GENDER PAY INFORMATION

This information is published in compliance with the The Equality Act 2010 (Gender Pay Gap
Information) Regulations 2017 and relates to the salary levels of employees at the 31 March
2022.
Average hourly rates of pay for male and female employees (Regulations 8 and 9):

Mean hourly rate
Median hourly rate

Male
£15.02
£12.96

Female Difference
£17.51
14.22%
£13.22
2.00%

Bonus payments made to male and female employees (Regulations 10, 11 and 12):
This information is not reported, as bonuses are not paid to any employee of Chorley
Council.

The proportions of male and female employees in the lower, lower middle, upper middle and
upper quartile pay bands:

Lower quartile
Lower middle quartile
Upper middle quartile
Upper quartile

9.

Male
70.3%
36.5%
50.7%
51.4%

Female
29.7%
63.5%
49.3%
48.6%

OVERTIME PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS

A number of recent Tribunal decisions have established the principle that employees should
not be deterred from taking annual leave by being worse off for being on leave than if they
had been in work. This primarily relates to overtime payments not being taken into account
when calculating holiday pay, and employees just receiving their basic pay regardless of the
level or regularity of overtime undertaken.
Advice from ACAS is that “Workers should usually receive the same pay while they are on
annual leave as they normally receive while they are at work” and go on to say that “All types
of overtime, including voluntary, must be included when calculating a worker's statutory
holiday pay entitlement, apart from overtime that is only worked on a genuinely occasional
and infrequent basis.”

10

Agenda Page 159

Agenda Item 9i

http://www.acas.org.uk/index.aspx?articleid=4109
The requirement to recognise overtime when calculating holiday pay, however, only applies
to the 4 weeks of annual leave required by the EU Working Time Directive. It would be
impractical to determine what overtime is regular and therefore should be reflected in holiday
pay, in light of the resources required to monitor this, the lack of any legal definition as to
what constitutes regular overtime and that this approach may encourage employees to
undertake unnecessary overtime to establish a level of regularity.
Therefore, an additional 7.69% is added to overtime payments to accommodate the
requirement to reflect overtime in holiday pay calculations for the 4 weeks of annual leave
required by the EU Working Time Directive.
It is anticipated that this proactive approach avoids claims for back pay and should be taken
in the context of a continuing review of the levels of overtime, including exploring ways in
which overtime costs may be reduced.
It is not proposed that standby payments are enhanced, as arrangements to undertake
standby are rostered around annual leave. Therefore, employees do not suffer any detriment
as a result of taking annual leave.
Should there be subsequent case law which impacts upon this issue then the council will
review the measures and potentially implement alternative arrangements.
The arrangements for all overtime worked were implemented from the 1st April 2018. Unison
agreed to the proposals and all staff were written to informing them of the changes prior to
implementation

10.

COMPLIANCE

ABLISHING AN INDIVIDUALS INTENTIONS
It is the responsibility of the Council’s Human Resources Services Manager to ensure that
the Pay Policy is adhered to and is required to report any deviation from the Policy to the
Leader of the Council.

11.

PUBLICATION

This policy will be published on the Chorley Council website as soon as possible after it has
been approved by Full Council.

12.

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Shared Services Joint Appointment Panel - Member Panel appointed annually at Full
Council
Head of Paid Service – Statutory Officer appointed in accordance with section 4 of the
Local Government and Housing Act 1989. The Chief Executive and Senior Officer at the
Council with responsibility for co-ordinating and organising council business and ensuring
proper management of staff.

11

Agenda Page 160

Agenda Item 9i

Returning Officer – Statutory Officer appointed in accordance with section 35 of the
Representation of the People Act 1983. The RO has responsibility for the conduct of Council
elections. The role is an independent statutory function which is appointed to by, but sits
separate to, the Council. The Constitution appoints the Chief Executive as RO.
Monitoring Officer - The Monitoring Officer has the specific duty to ensure that the Council,
its officers, and its Elected Councillors, maintain the highest standards of conduct in all they
do.
Statutory Finance Officer - Statutory Officer appointed in accordance with section 151 of
the Local Government Act 1972. The officer with responsibility for the proper administration
of the Council’s financial affairs.

12

Agenda Page 161

SCP
3

SCALE 1
Annual Salary

18562

Hourly Rate

SCP
4

9.8201

Agenda Item 9i

SCALE 2
Annual Salary

Hourly Rate

18933

10.0164

NJC FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES
PAY SCALES 01/04/2020 TO 31/03/2021 NON-SHARED SERVICES

13

Agenda Item 9i

Agenda Page 162

18933

4

SCALE 3
Annual Salary

SCP
6
7

10.0164

5

Hourly Rate

SCP
8
9
10
11

19698
20092

10.4213
10.6295

SCALE 5
Annual Salary

Hourly Rate

22183

11.7358

14
15

23080
23541

12.2103
12.4544

17

24491

12.9572

SCP
12

SCP
18
19
20
22

SO1
Annual Salary

SCP
23
24
25

27741
28672
29577

SCP
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44

14.6766
15.1691
15.6475

PRINCIPAL OFFICER
Hourly Rate
SCP

Annual Salary

31346
32234
32910
33782
34728
35745
36922
37890
38890
39880
40876
41881
42821
43857
44863
45859
46845
47853

PO-A
PO-B
PO-C
PO-D

SCP
26
27
28

16.5836
17.0533
17.4109
17.8725
18.3731
18.9107
19.5337
20.0458
20.5747
21.0987
21.6255
22.1571
22.6545
23.2025
23.7346
24.2619
24.7832
25.3165

27-30
28-31
29-32
30-33

PO-E
PO-F
PO-G
PO-H

45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

61

32-35
34-37
37-40
40-43

PO-I
PO-J
PO-K
PO-L

19312

10.2170

SCALE 4
Annual Salary

Hourly Rate

20493
20903
21322
21748

10.8421
11.0590
11.2802
11.5058

SCALE 6
Annual Salary

Hourly Rate

24982
25481
25991

13.2165
13.4807
13.7503

27041

14.3059

SO2
Annual Salary

Hourly Rate

30451
31346
32234

16.1101
16.5836
17.0533

Annual Salary

Hourly Rate

48872
49878
50903
51899
52913
53867
54820
55774
56728
57681
58634
59587
60541
61495
62448
63401
64354

25.8558
26.3879
26.9305
27.4572
27.9937
28.4982
29.0027
29.5071
30.0121
30.5160
31.0205
31.5244
32.0294
32.5339
33.0383
33.5423
34.0467

44-46
47-49
50-52
53-55

PO-M
PO-N

56-58
59-61

NJC PAY SCALE FOR SHARED SERVICES EMPLOYEES (Excluding travel allowance)
2020/2021
Level
1

SCP
1

Annual
£17,842

2020/2021

Per hour
9.4391

Level
15

14

SCP
40

Annual
£43,857

Per hour
23.2025

Agenda Page 163

2

2

£18,198

9.6277

41

£44,863

23.7346

3

£18,562

9.8201

42

£45,859

24.2619

4

£18,933

10.0164

43

£46,845

24.7832

5

£19,312

10.2170

44

£47,853

25.3165

10.4213

45

£48,872

25.8558

46

£49,878

26.3879

6
3
4

£20,092

10.6295

8

£20,493

10.8421

9

£20,903

11.0590

10

£21,322

11.2802

11

£21,748

11.5058

12

£22,183

11.7358

13

£22,627

11.9706

14

£23,080

12.2103

15

£23,541

12.4544

8
9
10

11
12
13
14

16

17

Inactive

17

£24,491

12.9572

18

£24,982

13.2165

19

£25,481

13.4807

20

£25,991

13.7503

21
7

£19,698

7

16
6

Agenda Item 9i

Inactive

22

£27,041

14.3059

23

£27,741

14.6766

24

£28,672

15.1691

25

£29,577

15.6475

26

£30,451

16.1101

27

£31,346

16.5836

28

£32,234

17.0533

29

£32,910

17.4109

30

£33,782

17.8725

31

£34,728

18.3731

32

£35,745

18.9107

33

£36,922

19.5337

34

£37,890

20.0458

35

£38,890

20.5747

36

£39,880

21.0987

37

£40,876

21.6255

38

£41,881

22.1571

39

£42,821

22.6545

Additional information relating to the salary determination for the Specific Director
and Specific Service Lead posts.
Chorley Council Director posts

15

Agenda Page 164

Shared Director reporting into the
Chief Executive
1

2

Shared Director reporting to
Deputy Chief Executive with
additional
statutory
responsibilities
Shared Director reporting into the
Chief Executive with additional
statutory, large budgetary and
staffing responsibilities

£75,000 to
£80,000

Agenda Item 9i

Director of Finance (+ market
supplement to £82,500)
Director of Commercial Services

Director of Customer and Digital
£90,000

Chorley Council Service Lead posts
Tier

Criteria

1

Service
Lead
(Chorley)
/
Assistant Director (South Ribble)

2

Service Lead (Chorley) with
essential
professional
qualifications/statutory
responsibilities.

3

Shared Service Lead reporting to
a director

Spot salary
£54,663

Roles
SL- Commercial and Assets
SL – Development)

£56,882

SL – Planning
SL – Spatial Planning

£58,000

Shared Service Lead reporting
into the Deputy CE or Chief
Executive
4

SSL- ICT (+ market supplement to
£61,500)
SSL – Customer Services
SSL–Transformation
Partnerships
Deputy Director of Finance

£61,650

Shared Service Lead reporting
into a Director with essential
professional
qualifications/statutory
responsibilities.

16

and

Agenda Item 9j

Agenda Page 165

APPENDIX J
Report of

Meeting

Date

Deputy Chief Executive

Council

22 February
2022

BUDGET CONSULTATION 2022/23
PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.

This report provides the Council with the results of the public consultation
carried out on the Executive’s draft budget investment proposals for 2022/23.

RECOMMENDATION(S)

2. That Members use the results which represent the views of residents, to
inform their decisions when setting the budget for 2022/23.
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF REPORT

3.

Consultation on proposed budget principles for 2022/23 received 214
responses through an online survey, and 20 responses through social media.

4.

The budget consultation this year included one open question format to enable
individuals to give detailed feedback on the proposals overall.

5.

Content analysis of the comments showed an overall positive or neutral view of
the proposals. Positive comments indicated broad agreement with the
proposed areas of investment while negative themes mainly related to the
current economic context.

Confidential report
Please bold as appropriate

No

Yes

CORPORATE PRIORITIES

6.

This report relates to the following Strategic Objectives:

Involving residents in improving their local
area and equality of access for all
Clean, safe and healthy communities



A strong local economy





An ambitious council that does more
to meet the needs of residents and
the local area



BACKGROUND

7.

The 2022/23 budget consultation process started following approval of the
budget position paper by Executive Cabinet on the 20 January 2022, which
set out the budget forecast and guiding principles for application of the budget
over the next 3-year financial period.

Agenda Page 166

8.

The consultation question format set out the key principles of the budget
proposals along with a summary of the current context and challenges facing
the council in future years. Proposals included:






9.

Agenda Item 9j

Investments in what residents tell us is important to them, that benefit people
right across the borough from renovations to our landmark Astley Hall through
to supporting our famous Chorley Markets and town centre and major
developments that will create jobs and provide better healthcare facilities for
residents.
Capital investments of approximately £30m to drive forward ambitions to
drive forward ambitions for economic growth and business development, to
deliver high quality health services and to deliver sustainable public sector
services through transforming the council.
A proposal to increase council tax by 1.99% which equates to 7 pence per
week, and a below inflation increase in fees and charges, including an
increase of £2.50 in the annual garden waste collection cost.
Respondents were asked to review the proposals and provide their comments
in response to the budget, with the intention of gaining more qualitative
feedback to gain a deeper insight into views and opinions.

Budget Consultation Results
10. Consultation on the 2022/23 budget ran from the 24 January to the 6 February
2022. The consultation was publicised through various Council channels,
including 9,628 emails delivered to residents signed up to receive
communications via the MyAccount feature on the council websites. The emails
received 5,481 unique views (56.9%) and 637 link clicks (6.6%).
11. The formal consultation received 214 qualitative responses through a one open
question format, via an online survey.
12. As well as completing the online survey, respondents also shared their views
and comments using social media. From across all the posts during the budget
consultation period on Facebook, the posts were viewed 24,368 times with
1,275 engagements (likes comments and shares) reaching a wide proportion of
the population. Analysis of Social Media responses (which totalled 20) have
been grouped alongside the consultation responses.
13. The responses have been collated and analysed to identify the main themes
and then grouped together based on whether they indicated a positive or
negative response to the proposals. It should be noted that responses often
included more than one comment or suggestion, covering more than one area.
Where this occurred, the main area of comment was selected.

Consultation Findings

Agenda Page 167

Agenda Item 9j

14. The following table outlines the distribution of positive, neutral, and negative
from respondents to the open question which asked for comments on the
overall proposals. These also include responses returned without relevant
comment, where feedback was submitted that was not relevant to the budget
consultation proposals.
Status
Positive or neutral view of the
proposals
Negative view of the proposals
Returned without Comment*

%
50.9%

30.4%
18.7%
*responded but did not comment on the investment proposals

15. Of those comments indicating a positive viewpoint, the following themes can be
identified:

Positive Response Themes
77.0%

General Support

11.0%

Events & Tourism

8.0%

Green Agenda

Council Tax

2.0%

Leisure and Sport

2.0%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

16. The majority of positive comments (77%) indicated general acceptance of the
proposals, with some residents stating that they were ‘logical’ and ‘sensible’. In
addition to this, comments also referenced a positive view towards the Green
Agenda (8%), Events & Tourism (11%). Other themes mentioned by positive
comments include Council Tax (2%) and Leisure and Sport (2%).
17. Of those comments expressing a neutral viewpoint and providing comments or
feedback, the following themes can be identified:
Additional Areas for
Investment

Consideration to increase funding for particular service
areas, e.g. health & social care, employability/skills
building, local amenities

Agenda Item 9j

Agenda Page 168

Investment Levels

Suggestions included that the proposed investment levels
contained in the budget should be adjusted. Examples
include increasing allocation to the Green Agenda and
reducing investments larger projects. Feedback also raised
a desire for more funding to go into certain local areas.

Council Tax & Garden
Waste Collection Fees

Respondents showed mixed responses to the proposed
changes in Council Tax and Garden Waste Collection
including reasons for the increase and the proposed level.

18. Of those comments expressing a negative viewpoint, the following themes can
be identified:

Negative Response Themes
Cost of Living

30.8%

Waste and Streetscene

24.6%

Council Tax

16.9%

Rurality

0.0%

12.3%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

35.0%

19. The majority of negative comments (30.8%) relate to the cost of living, with
respondents indicating this as their reason for disagreeing with the proposals.
There were also negative comments around the proposed Council Tax increase
(16.9%) and Rurality (insufficient investments within their local areas) (12.3%).
In addition, there were negative comments (24.6%) in relation to the proposed
increase in the Garden Waste service, with respondents querying why this is a
separate charge, or noting that the service is unrequired during the winter
months. Feeback also referenced the current economic context and post
pandemic challenges.
20. It should be noted that not all response themes have been included in the
graph above, the full breakdown can be found in the table below:
Theme
Investments

%
of
responses
6%

Agenda Page 169

Green Agenda
Transport and Highways
Social Care

Agenda Item 9j

5%
3%
2%

Social Media
21. Residents were also invited to share their views and comments using social media.
We received a total of 20 responses from social media, compared to 124 last year.
The responses received reflected the key themes within the consultation responses.
IMPLICATIONS OF REPORT

22. This report has implications in the following areas and the relevant Directors’
comments are included:


Finance
Human Resources
Legal
No significant implications in this
area

Customer Services
Equality and Diversity
Integrated Impact Assessment
required?
Policy and Communications

COMMENTS OF THE STATUTORY FINANCE OFFICER

23. There are no comments.
COMMENTS OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

24. There are no comments.
CHRIS SINNOTT
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Report Author

Date

Sophie Tsang

10.02.22

Agenda Page 170

Agenda Item 9j

Appendix A: Summary of Comments – Question 1 (Budget Specific)
POSITIVE
I think the proposed increases are fair given the level of spend on the town in the past few
years. I for one am very proud of what is happening in Chorley, especially compared to
other neighbouring towns. I think you are doing a great job!
I think that due to the economy at the moment, it is inevitable that there had to be a rise in
the council tax. It appears Chorley council are trying to keep the costs down at the same
time maintaining services and development. Although, no one likes a price hike I think in
this climate that it is an acceptable amount.
Having read your proposals and the reasoning behind them I fully support the proposed
increases.
In particular, I use Chorley Leisure Centre a great deal and feel that additional resources
directed towards this much needed and well used facility is well worth the investment. I
also use the garden waste collection service but have no problem with your proposal to
increase the annual fee.
Any resources that you spend to support those in financial need have my full backing.
In summary I think that this a very sensible and practically astute budget.

NEGATIVE
I worry that these proposed increases in Council tax and the Green Waste charge may tip
more people on the lowest income into poverty when budgets are already due to be
stretched by energy price hikes n.i. contribution hikes etc etc.
I do not feel that my money will be spent in the areas of chorley that are close to where we
live. There are definitely other services that need improvement than the ones outlined in
these proposals. The roads are terrible and full of potholes and health services are really
unacceptable.
The garden waste increase is hardly fair either.
I am a single working parent of three children, and I barely feel that I get the help I need.
Why am I paying such high council tax, when I work so hard and the money does not get
spent in my area or on the services that we use. It is hardly fair!
6 years ago garden waste collection was free. although £2.50 might not seem much
£32.50 does. How many more will do like some of my neighbours and put it in a bin bag in
household refuge.
It is unfair that we pay council tax and management maintenance fees for example
Buckshaw village or Clayton le Woods ( Lovell new development). Council tax should be
reduced for us as we are paying twice

NEUTRAL
(No definable positive or negative viewpoint, or mixed)
I support all the decisions apart from the 9.2 million in the light industrial estate in
strawberry meadows. In Chorley we have vacant industrial units and it would be better to
utilise these and support local businesses with the proposed investment to become more
competitive and retain employment within the area
I think like any budget you have to ask do we really need that, or can the money be used
elsewhere? I feel that spending money in councils accommodation it’s not that urgent
really I’ve seen the accommodation and it’s truly good at this time, do we need another
GP office when the closing down or thinking of closing down the hospital could they not
use that building to use the GPs offices possibility that we are using buildings for other
people not building new buildings. Why not put the money into providing better
Accommodation for the elderly and the services to go with her to me we need to take care
and respect the elderly and give them the chance to have quality of life

Agenda Page 171

Agenda Item 9j

Great but would appreciate no council tax increase
I’d like to know what proportion of my council tax goes back into my local area - buckshaw
village.
It strikes me that paying both council tax and an estate fee to a management company is
essentially me paying twice for what others who don’t have an estate fee to pay are only
paying
once.
It would be nice to see my council tax going towards some of the public amenities on
buckshaw that more than just buckshaw residents use.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9k

Agenda Page 173

Appendix K

Report of

Meeting

Date

Deputy Chief Executive

Council

22 February
2022

ASSESSING THE IMPACT OF 2022/23 BUDGET PROPOSALS
PURPOSE OF REPORT
1.

To provide Members with an assessment of the impact of the budget proposals on
equality, health and sustainability through the completion of an Equality Impact
Assessment.

RECOMMENDATION(S)
2.

It is recommended that Members use the information provided in this report and the
completed Integrated Impact assessment attached to inform the budget process to
ensure that fair financial decisions are made.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF REPORT
3.

Under equality legislation in the Equality Act 2010, public authorities have legal duties to
pay ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination and promote equality of
opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not,
as well as to promote good race relations. The law requires that this duty to pay ‘due
regard’ be demonstrated in the decision making process, including when making
financial decisions.

4.

To meet this requirement in relation to the budget growth proposals 2022/23 work has
been undertaken to assess the impact of the proposals. This report presents the
findings and recommendations based on this work.

Confidential report
Please bold as appropriate

Yes

No

CORPORATE PRIORITIES
5.

This report relates to the following Strategic Objectives:

Involving residents in improving their
local area and equality of access for all
Clean, safe and healthy communities
Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit



A strong local economy





An ambitious council that does



Agenda Page 174

Agenda Item 9k

more to meet the needs of
residents and the local area
BACKGROUND
6.

Assessing the potential equality impact of proposed changes to policies, procedures
and practices is one of the key ways in which public authorities can show ‘due regard’
in terms of the Equality Act. This includes financial decisions, as set out in the
guidance Using the Equalities Duties to make fair financial decisions, as published by
the Equality and Human Rights Commission, September 2010.

7.

These assessments must be carried out at a formative stage in the development of a
policy, procedure or practice and can take any form appropriate as long as the legal
duties are met. The framework that has been used in this process is to undertake
integrated impact assessments - this includes an assessment of equality,
sustainability, health and reputation.

8.

An overall integrated impact assessment has been developed on the proposed
budget. This includes consideration of the proposals related to an increase council tax,
recurrent investment items, previously one off investment items, core funding grants
and the capital programme (specifically 2022/23).

RESULTS OF THE IMPACT ASSESSMENTS
9.

Actions include monitoring the take up of council tax financial assistance schemes and
promoting access to sources of financial support as needed.

10. In line with the Council’s Equality Scheme all projects should complete an Integrated
Impact Assessment to ensure that any potentially negative impacts are mitigated or
avoided. This assessment should be reviewed regularly to ensure any identified
actions are being completed.
IMPLICATIONS OF REPORT
11. This report has implications in the following areas and the relevant Directors’
comments are included:
Finance
Human Resources
Legal
No significant implications in this area

Customer Services
Equality and Diversity
Integrated Impact Assessment
required?
Policy and Governance

COMMENTS OF THE STATUTORY FINANCE OFFICER
12.

There are no comments.

COMMENTS OF THE MONITORING OFFICER
Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit





Agenda Page 175

13. There are no comments.

CHRIS SINNOTT
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Report Author
Sophie Tsang

Date
09/02/2022

Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit

Agenda Item 9k

Integrated Impact Assessment
Chorley Council Budget Proposals 2022/23

What does the service, policy, strategy or project do?

Makes proposals for the Council’s budget 2022/23

Who is it intended to benefit and how?

Chorley residents – by considering the impact of the budget
proposals

Officer responsible for completing the assessment

Sophie Tsang

Date of Assessment

Date of Review

09/02/2022

Agenda Page 176

Name of the service, policy, strategy or project being
assessed

09/02/2023

Agenda Item 9k

Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit

1

Equality Impact Assessment

Yes

Evidence

Further action
required

Consultation on the 2022/23 budget
response ran from the 24 January to
the 6 February 2022. The consultation
was publicised through a structured
digital campaign including 9,628 emails
delivered to residents signed up to
receive communications via the My
Account feature on the council website.
The emails received 5,481 unique
views (51.3%) and 637 link clicks
(8.3%. Awareness was also raised
through traditional media outlets and
local networks. The formal consultation
received 214 qualitative responses
through a one open question format,
via an online survey which provided
detailed feedback.

x

Agenda Page 177

1. Have consultations with relevant groups,
organisations or individuals indicated that this
particular activity will create problems which are
specific to them?

No

As well as completing the online
survey, residents were also invited to
share their views and comments using
social media. The Facebook post
reached a total of 24,368 views, and
received 20 responses.

P

x
1. Equality of opportunity amongst customers of
different ages (Age)
Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit

N

U

NI

Evidence

Further action
required

A number of the investment
proposals will have a positive impact
on different age groups. These
include:


Investment in Tatton Gardens
2

Agenda Item 9k

What potential impact does this activity make to:



Extra Care scheme will
support older people in the
area to access a local GP
surgery.
Grant funding of £200k to
make improvements in other
areas across the borough,
supporting young people,
health and well being and
local areas.

3. Equality of opportunity amongst customers of
different gender backgrounds (Gender
Reassignment)

x

No proposals should have a
differential effect on any residents
because of these characteristics.

4. Equality of opportunity amongst customers who are
pregnant or parents (Pregnancy and Maternity)

x

No proposals should have a
differential effect on any residents
because of these characteristics.

5. Equality of opportunity amongst customer groups of
different racial backgrounds (Race)

x

No proposals should have a
differential effect on any residents
because of these characteristics.

x

No proposals should have a
differential effect on any residents
because of these characteristics.

6. Equality of opportunity amongst customers of
different religions (Religion or Belief)

7. Equality of opportunity amongst customers that live
in different parts of Chorley (Rurality)

x

There are several investment
proposals which include elements
which will positively support residents
who live in rural areas of the borough
including:


Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit

Agenda Item 9k

No proposals should have a
differential effect on any residents
because of these characteristics.

Agenda Page 178

x

2. Equality of opportunity amongst with or without a
physical or mental disability (Disability)

Ongoing funding to maintain
services previously delivered
by LCC (bus services)
3

including a service which
serves rural areas
8. Equality of opportunity amongst male and female
customers (Sex)

x

No proposals should have a
differential effect on any residents
because of these characteristics.

9. Equality of opportunity amongst customers of
different sexual orientations (Sexual Orientation)

x

No proposals should have a
differential effect on any residents
because of these characteristics.

x

No proposals should have a
differential effect on any residents
because of these characteristics.

10. Equality of opportunity amongst customers who are
married or in a civil partnership (Marriage and civil
partnerships)

P

N

U

NI

Evidence

Further action
required

What potential impact does this activity make upon:
The proposed investment in the
following schemes will help to
promote healthier lifestyles for
Chorley residents:

x





Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit

Agenda Item 9k

1. Promoting healthy lifestyles for Chorley residents. For
the latest Health Observatory information please see the
data on this link
http://www.apho.org.uk/resource/item.aspx?RID=126958

Investment of £2m into the
leisure centres as a continued
commitment to improve them.
Whittle Health Hub - £3.5m of
investment to develop a new GP
surgery which will be a high
quality health facility for Whittlele-Woods.
Continued funding to support
vulnerable individuals through
funding for the social prescribing
team.

Agenda Page 179

Health Impact Assessment

4

Health Impact Assessment

P

N

U

NI

Evidence




Further action
required

Agenda Page 180

Improve local play and
community facilities across the
borough with an investment of
£2.7m and an additional £74k to
deliver improvements at
Milestone Meadow.
We will create £200k of grant
funding to make improvements
in other areas across the
Borough, supporting our young
people, health and wellbeing
and local areas.

The proposed investment in the
following schemes all support
residents to ‘start well’:
2. Enabling residents to Start Well (pre-birth – 19) Possible
issues to consider are;
 Promoting healthy pregnancy
 Reducing infant mortality
 Reducing childhood obesity
 Supporting children with long term conditions
 Supporting vulnerable families and children



x





Promoting healthy settings, healthy workforce and
economic development
Promoting mental wellbeing and healthy lifestyles

Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit

x

Agenda Item 9k

3. Enabling residents to Live well (16 -75 years) Possible
issues to consider are;

Continued support towards to
the Youth Zone will continue to
deliver high quality, diversionary
and wellbeing activities for
young people.
Improvements to local play
facilities across the borough
Provision of funding to support
vulnerable individuals through
the social prescribing team, with
over £100k of match funding
from the NHS.

The proposed investment in the
following schemes all support
residents to ‘live well’:


Investment into Whittle Health
Hub to develop a new GP
surgery which will be a high5

Health Impact Assessment



P

Reducing avoidable deaths
Improving outcomes for people with learning disabilities

N

U

NI

Evidence






4. Enabling residents to Age Well (over 65 years). Possible
issues to consider are;
 Promoting independence
 Reducing social isolation
 Managing long term conditions and dementia
Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit

Agenda Item 9k



quality health facility for Whittlele-Woods.
Investment in Tatton Gardens
Extra Care Scheme, with will
help deliver another extra care
scheme for the borough, a new
community centre and surgery
for the area.
Continued commitment to
improve our leisure centres.
Investment into Strawberry
Meadows to deliver light
industrial units for business use
to drive forward local economic
growth.
Investment to develop our
approach to apprenticeships,
graduate and training posts in
areas of high market demand –
building resilience and
improving quality in our service
provision and supporting people
into high quality employment.
Investment to deliver refreshed
and refocussed package of
support and grants for
businesses to support economic
development.

Agenda Page 181



Further action
required

The proposed investment will
support residents to ‘Age Well’:
x



Capital investment into the
Tatton Gardens Extra Care
Scheme, which will provide a
6

Health Impact Assessment



P

N

U

NI

Evidence

Reducing emergency admissions and direct admissions
to residential care settings
Supporting carers and families



Reputational Impact Assessment

P

N U

NI

Evidence

Further action
required

What potential impact does this activity make upon:
Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit

7

Agenda Item 9k



new community centre and GP
surgery for the area. These will
help promote independence,
reduce social isolation among
older residents, and increase
access to a local GP within the
area.
Investment into Whittle Health
Hub to develop a new GP
surgery for Whittle-le-Woods.
This will increase accessibility
for older residents within the
area, which will help with
enabling older residents to
access a local GP surgery.
Provision of grant funding to
volunteering provision for older
people. Provision of activities,
and volunteering opportunities
for older people, enabling them
to remain independently in their
own homes and to reduce social
isolation.
Continued funding for Meals on
Wheels service, provision of
subsidised meals on wheels
service for older residents.

Agenda Page 182



Further action
required

Reputational Impact Assessment

P

N U

1. Chorley Council’s reputation. Possible issues to consider
are;


Proving to local residents that we provide value for
money



Informing and engaging with local residents



Building trust and confidence in Chorley Council



Improving customer satisfaction with council services



Chorley Council’s role as a community leader

Sustainability Impact Assessment

x

The feedback from the consultation
period has shown some concerns
from residents regarding the
increases in Council Tax (12.8%)
and garden waste collection
(31.6%) as well as the cost of living
within the current economic climate
(19.6%). Positive feedback
considered the investments
reflective of priorities, and
appropriate for the current
economic climate.

Monitor take up of
financial assistance
schemes and promote
access to financial
support as needed.

Each of the proposed projects has a
link to one or more of the corporate
priorities as set out in the Corporate
Strategy and will therefore support
its delivery.

x

P

Further action
required

N

U

NI

Evidence

Further action
required

1. The effective protection of Chorley’s environment. Possible
issues to consider are;


Limiting waste generation & encouraging recycling



Limiting factors that contribute to climate change



Protection of and improving access to the natural
environment

Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit

x

Agenda Item 9k

What potential impact does this activity make upon:
A number of proposed schemes
will have a positive impact on
Chorley’s environment. These
include two corporate projects
dedicated to protecting Chorley’s
environment:


Agenda Page 183

2. Our ability to deliver the Corporate Strategy. Issues to
consider are;
 A council that consults and engages with residents
 An ambitious council that continually strives to improve

Evidence

NI

Improve play and open spaces
across the borough
8

Sustainability Impact Assessment

P

N

U

NI

Evidence

Further action
required

2. Prudent usage of natural resources. Possible issues to
consider are;


Limiting use of non-sustainable energy, water, minerals
and materials



Reducing the need to travel and encouraging walking,
cycling and low carbon modes of travel

x

No proposals should have a
differential effect on the prudent
usage of natural resources.

Several proposed schemes will
have a positive impact on social
progress amongst all of Chorley’s
communities. These include:

3. Social progress amongst all of Chorley’s communities.
Possible issues to consider are;


Opportunities for education and information



Provision of appropriate and sustainable housing



Reduced fear of crime and community safety



Access to cultural and leisure facilities



Encouraging engagement and supporting volunteering


x





Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit

Investment in improving
Astley Hall will provide
greater access to cultural
facilities
Continued commitment to
improve leisure centres.
Continued investment in the
support the delivery of
affordable housing.
Continued investment to
contribute to running of the
Youth Zone including
outreach work.
Additional investment to
provide third sector support
to residents.

Agenda Item 9k



Agenda Page 184



9

Sustainability Impact Assessment

P

N

U

NI

Evidence

Further action
required

Several proposed schemes will
have a positive impact on a vibrant
local economy. These include:




Supporting better quality jobs and developing the skills
of local residents



Supporting local business by procuring goods and
services locally



Strengthening links with public, private and third sector
partners

x



Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit

Agenda Item 9k



Agenda Page 185

4. A vibrant local economy in Chorley. Possible issues to
consider are;

Funding to refresh the Check
Out Chorley website, which will
encourage and promote a
range of events located in the
borough.
 Investment to develop our
approach to apprenticeships,
graduate and training posts in
areas of high market demand –
building resilience and
improving quality in our service
provision and supporting
people into high quality
employment.
 Investment to deliver refreshed
and refocussed package of
support and grants for business
to support economic
development.
Delivery of large-scale
development projects will also
have a positive effect on the local
economy:
Investment to deliver
industrial units in Strawberry
Meadows.
Tatton recreation ground
development
Investment to develop a
modern and high-quality
10

Sustainability Impact Assessment

P

N

U

NI

Evidence

Further action
required

health facility at Whittle
Health Hub

*this equality strand is covered by the Public Sector Equality Duty in respect of which the s.149 requires only that due regard be paid to the need
to eliminate discrimination, harassment or victimisation or other conduct which is prohibited by the Act.

Actions needed following Integrated Impact
Assessment
All projects must complete individual Impact
Assessments which should be reviewed as necessary
to ensure any actions are being monitored and
completed.

Start Date

End Date

Lead Officer

April 2022

April 2023

Senior Management Team

Agenda Page 186

Integrated Impact Assessment Action Plan
If any further actions were identified through the Integrated Impact Assessment then these should be listed in the table below. These should be
added to the relevant business/service plan to ensure that any actions are carried out.

Agenda Item 9k

Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit

11

Agenda Page 187

Agenda Item 11

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

This page is intentionally left blank

